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Overview

Guide to this report
This report presents the statutory compliance, performance and operational reporting for
the financial year ending 30 June 2014. It covers four principal sections:
Overview — outlines who we are and what we do, the industries and communities we
support and how we go about our business.
Agency performance — outlines what we have achieved along with details of how we
performed against targets for the year.
Significant issues — describes current and emerging issues and trends affecting the
agriculture and food sector and our operations.
Disclosures — details our financial situation and performance against our key performance
indicators (KPIs) along with reports on a range of staffing, governance and compliance
issues. It demonstrates how we ensure our operations are ethically, socially and
environmentally responsible.
Appendix — a statement by the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation (as required
under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945).
In this report, we refer to the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia as ‘the
department’ or ‘DAFWA’.
A list of acronyms used in this report is provided on the following page.

3

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

Acronyms
AEGIC

Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre

GRDC

Grains Research and Development Corporation

AQIS

Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service

GVAP

gross value of agricultural production

BAM Act

Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007

KPIs

key performance indicators

CAR

Central Agricultural Region

LCDC

Land Conservation District Committee

CRC

Cooperative Research Centre

MoU

memorandum of understanding

DA

Department of Agriculture (federal) — formerly Department of
Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

NAR

Northern Agricultural Region

DAFWA

Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia

NRM

natural resource management

DER

Department of Environment Regulation (WA)

OSH

occupational safety and health

DFES

Department of Fire and Emergency Services (WA)

PaDIS

Pest and Disease Information Service

DL

Department of Lands

PISC

Primary Industries Standing Committee
(disbanded December 2013)

DPW

Department of Parks and Wildlife (WA)

RBDC

Rural Business Development Corporation

DoP

Department of Planning (WA)

RD&E

research, development and extension

DoW

Department of Water (WA)

RSPCA

Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

EEO

equal employment opportunity

SAR

Southern Agricultural Region

FMD

foot-and-mouth disease

WA

Western Australia

FOI

freedom of information

WAMIA

Western Australian Meat Industry Authority

FPC

Forest Products Commission

WANDRRA

WA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements

FTE

full-time equivalent (staff hours)

WARMS

WA Rangeland Monitoring System

GM

genetically modified
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From the Director General

T

here is growing confidence in and
optimism about the future of Western
Australia’s agriculture and food sector.

Key industry players helped us devise an
aspirational target to double the real-term
value of sales from the sector by 2025.
Subsequently, we helped them form the
Agrifood Alliance of all of WA’s major
producer organisations in late 2013 to steer
their efforts.

More and more media is being dedicated
to agriculture, highlighting the potential for
the sector to become a bigger contributor
to the state’s economy.

We launched our Agrifood 2025+ Strategic
plan 2014–17 in June 2014, which outlines
how we will direct our efforts and resources
to help the sector achieve the 2025 goal.
The strategic plan aligns our direction with
Agriculture and Food Minister Ken Baston’s
priorities of growing markets, profitability,
productivity and people.

This enthusiasm continues to be driven
by growing populations, incomes and
increasing worldwide demand for quality
food and agriculture products, particularly
from our neighbouring Asian countries.
In August 2013, the government
announced a four-year Royalties for
Regions-funded initiative to deliver priority
projects — most to be led by DAFWA
beginning in 2014/15 — to seize the
opportunity created by rapidly growing,
diversifying export markets in our region
and, in turn, to improve the long-term
profitability of the agrifood sector.
Agribusiness has also been very active in
the sector during the year, with purchases
of WA’s biggest beef abattoir Harvey Beef
and dairy and fruit juice business Harvey
Fresh as well as a range of other joint
ventures, mergers and acquisitions.
Among all of these activities, DAFWA’s
focus in 2013/14 continued to be on
supporting the success of the sector,

delivering on the priorities of the
government and industry, so that the sector
is best positioned to capitalise on the
opportunities presented.

Agrifood 2025+: growing
agriculture
We further developed the Agrifood 2025+
initiative, which has built awareness of the
importance of agriculture within the broader
community and encouraged industries to
unify their efforts to significantly increase
the production and value of their products.
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We are now aligning our projects and
resources with these priorities and have
reported our highlights and achievements
against them in this annual report.
Growing markets — is about supporting
industries in building relationships with
markets that offer the highest returns and
best alignment with their strengths to
benefit all members of the value chain, from
consumers to investors.
We hosted the outstanding Northern
Australian Beef Industry Roundtable
and Producer Forum in February 2014,
attended by more than 200 local, national
and international delegates, including

Overview

Ministers and senior Indonesian officials.
The resulting goodwill, rapport and planning
will drive development of the northern beef
industry and its relationship with Indonesia.
Growing profitability — is about
supporting industries in building the
practices and structures they need to
operate profitably, including developing
sophisticated business models as part of a
finely tuned value chain.
Our 2014 Agribusiness Crop Update
Conference — which attracted a record 500
people — showcased the latest research,
technology and market development to help
business improve their productivity and
profitability.

Growing people — is about supporting
agrifood businesses, our department and
others in attracting the right people and
growing the skills and attributes needed for
the sector to thrive.

While we focus on the ‘growing’ priorities,
we also retain our commitment to building
WA’s outstanding biosecurity status and
sustainable management of the natural
resources utilised by agriculture.

In January 2014, we launched a new
website featuring a strong customer
focus and innovative tools and services
customised to allow users to easily access
information they require.

We released a report card of the state’s
agricultural area to guide future land
management, providing a unique insight
into the challenges for industries to remain
productive and sustainable.

Figure 1 Agrifood 2025+: Growing agriculture priorities

Growing productivity — is about
supporting producers and processors in
aligning their products with the evolving
needs of target markets, including delivering
the right products, with the right qualities, at
the right cost.
The development of our new dark burgundy
apple created industry enthusiasm for its
unique appearance and crisp sweetness. It
will join the DAFWA-bred Pink Lady in the
global fruit marketplace.

7
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Celebrating a record harvest
A major highlight of the year was the record
17 million tonne grain harvest in 2013, which
returned $5.3 billion to our state’s economy.
We congratulate grain businesses for their
innovation, hard work and resilience over
recent years in the face of a more variable
climate and more volatile global marketplace
— as well as our many staff and partners who
have contributed to this industry success.
We have supported growers’ success by
building partnerships with R&D organisations,
grower groups, and government and private
agencies to maximise our provision to
growers of the skills and tools needed to
make informed decisions and better manage
their crops and businesses.

Assisting those in need
While many parts of the sector did well during
2013/14, some areas continued to struggle.
We partnered with the Rural Business
Development Corporation to deliver the state
government’s $7.8 million package to support
farm businesses and rural communities in
the wheatbelt and with the Farm Business
Assessment 2014 scheme that allowed
businesses experiencing financial difficulties
to get an independent assessment of their
business.

We also supported the sector via initiatives
under the Intergovernmental Agreement on
Drought Reform. This included supporting
more than 270 agrifood businesses
through complementary capacity building
workshops, enabling improved decision
making and skills development for business
performance.

Developing our people and
department
I publicly acknowledge the high level of
skill and dedication our staff displayed in
supporting businesses, industry and each
other throughout the year.
Our department continued its focus on
developing people leaders and project
managers and on sharing information and
knowledge growth through the development
of our new website and rollout of an
electronic document management system.
To help staff communicate more effectively
wherever they work in WA, we invested in
a new video conferencing system. The new
system, linking offices across the state,
helps keep staff informed of our strategic
direction and latest priorities and enables
project teams and industry members to
efficiently share information and ideas.
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Getting results
At the end of the financial year, we again
surveyed producers, processors and agriconsultants to rate the impact we have
had on their profitability, sustainability and
ability to be innovative as part of our key
performance indicators.
With this being the third year that we have
run this survey, we see a clear increase in
the number of clients who acknowledge
our positive impact on their industries
and businesses in regard to each of these
aspects. On average, the proportion of
respondents who rated our impact at
moderate to high has risen from 48% in 2012
to 52% in 2013, and again to 56% this year.
We look forward to improving on these
results in the coming financial year and
reporting the progress we have made in our
2015 annual report.
DAFWA’s goal is to keep working with and
supporting industry to help grow the sector
as we head towards 2025 for the benefit of all
Western Australians.

Rob Delane
Director General

Overview

Growing agriculture by the numbers
g Partnered with local, state and federal governments to construct the $29
g Assisted the grains industry in achieving a record 17
g Rolled out the state government’s $7.8
g Provided $1.2
g Generated $1
g Seized 38

million saleyards at Katanning

million tonne harvest

million package to support farm businesses and rural communities in the wheatbelt

million in funding support for the Grower Group Alliance over four years

million worth of media coverage from the inaugural WA’s Signature Dish competition

786kg of quarantine risk material

g Inspected 12

401 livestock imported from interstate

g Engaged 900 students and 570 career seekers through our AgLinkEd initiative
g Hosted the inaugural WA–China Agribusiness Cooperation Conference, attended by about 300 Chinese and Australian business delegates
g Supported more than 270 agrifood businesses through capacity building workshops
g Delivered training to 227 Aboriginal people on 27 properties
g Increased our network of upgraded and new weather stations to 120 statewide
g Intercepted 66 plant pests and diseases
g Found and destroyed 59 European wasp nests
g Launched a new website, resulting in a 50% increase in users
9
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Operational structure
Enabling legislation

Minister’s profile

The Department of Agriculture and Food,
Western Australia was established in 1894
and operates under the Public Sector
Management Act 1994.

Ken Baston became the Minister for
Agriculture and Food, and joined Cabinet,
in March 2013. He was first elected
to the Legislative Council in 2005 as a
representative for the Mining and Pastoral
Region.

Responsible Minister
The Hon. Ken Baston MLC
Minister for Agriculture and Food

As a former pastoralist of 34 years, running
Ella Valla sheep station, north-west of
Carnarvon, Minister Baston has an intimate
knowledge of the agricultural sector. He
also has a long history of local community
service, with agricultural organisations and
the Shire of Carnarvon, including as deputy
president. His roles have included leading
the Gascoyne Branch of the Pastoralists and
Graziers Association and a district committee of WAFarmers, as well as serving on several
agricultural, pastoral and fishing steering committees and taskforce groups.
In his first year in Cabinet, Minister Baston has supported the implementation of the
$7.5 million assistance package to help farm businesses and rural communities cope with
difficult seasonal conditions.
Another highlight has been advocating for the state government’s $300 million investment
in agriculture from the Royalties for Regions initiative, to pursue export opportunities for WA
agriculture and food products.
Minister Baston has led several trade missions to Asia and the Middle East to build
relationships and support WA agribusinesses’ endeavours to capture emerging markets.
Minister Baston is determined to help grow — rather than maintain — WA’s agriculture and
food sector. His focus is on driving and supporting growth in four key areas — markets,
profitability, productivity and people — while safeguarding our biosecurity and natural
resources. His aim is to lay the foundations to double the sector’s value by 2025.
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Overview

Department profile
g

Our role
We work with industries, communities and governments to support the growth of WA’s agrifood sector. We focus on four key
growth areas: markets, profitability, productivity and people; and we foster growth in ways that sustain our land and water
resources and increase the benefit we all gain from the state’s relative freedom from pests, weeds and diseases.

g

Our vision
A progressive, innovative and profitable agrifood sector that benefits Western Australia.

g

Our purpose
To support the success of the agrifood sector to benefit Western Australia.

g

Our support for the agrifood sector
Western Australia’s agrifood sector comprises some 14 000 production, processing, marketing and related businesses.
DAFWA is part of the sector, driving government’s role in helping the sector to grow and prosper.
We provide innovative support to businesses to help them grow while nurturing the land and water resources entrusted to
them. Our work is becoming increasingly targeted, with a focus on aligning individual products with markets that best play to
WA’s strengths. The increased economic activity and regional resilience this generates will benefit all Western Australians.

g

Our support for the wider community
Our skills and resources allow us to minimise the impact of exotic pests and diseases that would otherwise threaten human
health and amenity; and our environmental capabilities enable us to manage a range of natural resource issues that affect the
state as a whole.

g

Our partners
We work closely with everyone in the agrifood sector, from suppliers of raw materials through to producers, processors,
marketers and consumers. We partner with scientists, innovators and regulators throughout the world to make the best use of
global advances in agriculture and food.
We also work with people regarding the sector from outside, including those considering a business, investment or career in
the sector, and those concerned about agricultural practices or food issues.

11
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Livestock Industry
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Livestock Industries
Innovation

Overview
Senior officers
Rob Delane, Director General: Rob was appointed Director General in November 2009. Rob was previously Deputy
Secretary with the Commonwealth Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry and has held a number of executive director
positions with DAFWA. Rob has a wide range of regional, national and international experience, and extensive knowledge and
understanding of WA agriculture and the diverse roles of the department. He was awarded a Public Service Medal in 2007 for
outstanding service to the sector.
Greg Paust, Deputy Director
General, Executive Director:
Greg has more than 10
years’ experience in senior
executive positions within
DAFWA and the Department
of Fisheries. Operationally,
he has 20 years’ experience in industry
development and natural resource
management roles in both sectors,
including two years as executive director
regional operations and development. Greg
is currently guiding the implementation of
DAFWA’s new information and financial
management systems.
Corporate Strategy and Operations: The
directorate is committed to supporting
our client/industry-focused directorates to
ensure DAFWA has the capacity to meet
the evolving needs of government, industry
and the community. With key functions
including the development of our people,
finances, strategy and governance — as
well as improving our business systems,
facilities and information capabilities — we
provide the resources needed for DAFWA to
achieve its mission.

John Ruprecht, Executive
Director: John has more
than 30 years’ experience in
natural resource management
spanning a range of senior
management and policy
positions. His expertise covers
water resource assessment, engineering
and remediation, urban development,
sustainable agriculture, and biosecurity.
Agricultural Resource Risk Management:
The directorate works with the sector
and community to identify and address
significant biosecurity and resource
management issues. We promote the
management of risks to our natural
resources and biosecurity. Our focus is on
coordinating policy, training, legislation and
emergency response capabilities; fostering
the stewardship of natural resources; and
promoting animal welfare and livestock
identification compliance.
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Peter Metcalfe, Executive
Director: Peter’s farming
background, together with
more than 27 years in various
roles in the department, has
provided him with a solid
understanding of the needs
and opportunities of our agrifood industries.
He is committed to ensuring the work
undertaken by our department continually
provides value to our clients and enables
vital industry transformation to capture the
emerging opportunities for the agrifood
sector.
Regional Operations and Development:
The directorate supports regionally located
facilities servicing the development needs
of the agrifood sector. The functions
include client-focused delivery of integrated
services and the leadership of emergency
incident management. Cross-sectorial
functions include industry profitability and
market and trade development — key
activities supporting industry and regional
economic development.
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Terry Hill, Executive Director:
Terry has extensive experience
in, and knowledge of, the
horticultural and irrigated
agriculture industry in WA
and Australia and has held a
number of senior positions
within DAFWA. He has fulfilled several
influential national roles, including board
positions. He has strong strategic and
delivery skills and enjoys working in
partnership with industry.

Mark Sweetingham,
A/Executive Director: Mark
has long been involved in the
Australian grains industry and
is internationally recognised
in crop protection, farming
systems, crop genetics and
plant biosecurity. Throughout his career,
Mark has been passionate about increasing
the value of the grains industry, in
partnership with industry, through research,
development and innovation activities.

Irrigated Agriculture and Diversification:
The directorate undertakes research,
development, extension and regulation
activities for the irrigated agriculture and
food industries. We have a strong focus on
driving agribusiness opportunities; reducing
barriers; encouraging and supporting local
food producers; identifying biosecurity
risks; and promoting biosecurity practices.

Grains Industry Development: The
directorate works with industry to boost
competitiveness across the grains value
chain. Our focus is on research and
industry development activities to improve
crop genetics, farm practices, crop
protection and business decision making;
and informing policy and infrastructure
investment. We partner in and work with
AEGIC to increase market competitiveness
and returns to growers.
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Kevin Chennell, Executive
Director: A veterinarian with
qualifications in education and
management, Kevin worked in
private practice and a range
of senior government and
industry roles before joining
our department in 2008. Kevin is passionate
about leading change and innovation, and
building relationships with industry.
Livestock Industries Development:
The directorate supports sustainable
economic development through biosecurity
surveillance and assurance; and industry
innovation, consultation, planning and
leadership. Our focus is on promoting
excellence, developing partnerships across
supply chains, developing appropriate
infrastructure, and increasing productivity
and international market penetration based
on government-to-government shared
visions.

Overview

Administered legislation
The Minister for Agriculture and Food is responsible for administering the following Acts:
Aerial Spraying Control Act 1966
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Taxing) Act 1995
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (WA) Act 1995
Agricultural Produce Commission Act 1988
Agriculture and Related Resources Protection Act 1976
Animal Welfare Act 2002
Biological Control Act 1986
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Rates and Charges Act 2007
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management (Repeal and Consequential
Provisions) Act 2007
Bulk Handling Act 1967
Exotic Diseases of Animals Act 1993
Gene Technology Act 2006

15

Genetically Modified Crops Free Areas Act 2003
Industrial Hemp Act 2004
Loans (Co-operative Companies) Act 2004
Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946
Ord River Dam Catchment Area (Straying Cattle) Act 1967
Perth Market Act 1926
Royal Agricultural Society Act 1926
Royal Agricultural Society Act Amendment Act 1929
Rural Business Development Corporation Act 2000
Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945
Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003
Veterinary Chemical Control and Animal Feeding Stuffs Act 1976
Veterinary Surgeons Act 1960
Western Australian Meat Industry Authority Act 1976
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Other key legislation impacting on activities
Our department complies with the following Acts in performing our functions:
Conservation and Land Management Act 1984
Contaminated Sites Act 2003
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Electronic Transactions Act 2011
Emergency Management Act 2005
Environmental Protection Act 1986
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Firearms Act 1973
Forest Products Act 2000
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Government Employees’ Housing Act 1964
Health Act 1911
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Land Administration Act 1997
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Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Occupiers Liability Act 1985
Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971
Poisons Act 1964
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004
State Records Act 2000
State Superannuation Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Transfer of Land Act 1893
Waterways Conservation Act 1976
Wildlife Conservation Act 1950
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
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Performance management framework
Outcome-based management
framework

Changes to our outcomebased management framework

Our department contributes to two
government goals — ‘Stronger focus on
the regions’ and ‘Social and environmental
responsibility’.

Our department adopted a new outcomebased management framework in April
2012; with changes to the government
goals we contribute to, the outcome we
seek to achieve, the services we deliver
and the KPIs by which we assess our
performance.
This is the second year that we are
reporting against this new framework in its
entirety.
The new framework more accurately
reflects our evolving role as an economic
development department and our vision as
set out in our Strategic plan 2014–17.

We seek to bring about one outcome:
‘A profitable, innovative and sustainable
agrifood sector that benefits Western
Australia’; and we do this by way of three
services. These are shown — along with
the indicators by which we assess our
performance — in Table 1 on page 18.
Both our effectiveness in achieving this
outcome and our efficiency in performing
the services are detailed in the Summary
of key performance indicators and the
Detailed information in support of key
performance indicators sections of this
report.
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Our three services relate the types of
change we seek to foster within the
agrifood sector — productivity uplift in
those industries still having potential to
grow; transformation of those that have
reached maturity; and mitigating the risks
that would otherwise diminish the sector’s
performance or the environmental qualities
of the state as a whole.
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Table 1 Outcomes-based management framework
Government goals

Desired outcome

Effectiveness indicators

Services

Efficiency indicators

Stronger focus on the
regions
Greater focus on service
delivery, infrastructure
investment and economic
development to improve
the overall quality of life in
remote and regional areas

A profitable,
innovative and
sustainable
agrifood sector
that benefits
Western Australia

1. Proportion of
co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives

1. Business and supply chain
development
Leadership and provision of specialist
expertise that further develops the
economic performance of the state’s
agrifood sector in the short-to-medium
term

1.1 Net service cost as a factor
of gross value of agricultural
production (GVAP)
1.2 Public and private sector coinvestment in DAFWA-led business
and supply chain initiatives as a
factor of the net cost of this service

2. Transformational development
Leadership and provision of specialist
expertise that aids in transforming the
long-term economic growth of the state’s
agrifood sector

2.1 Net service cost as a factor of
GVAP
2.2 Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
transformational development
initiatives as a factor of the net cost
of this service

3. Resource risk management
Leadership and provision of specialist
expertise for the assessment and
promotion of best practice for managing
risks to natural resources, biological
assets and product integrity such that
the state’s agrifood sector can grow
and its competitive advantages can be
maintained

3.1 Net service cost as a factor of
GVAP
3.2 Public and private sector
co-investment in DAFWA-led
resource risk management
initiatives as a factor of the net cost
of this service

2. Proportion of businesses
that consider DAFWA has
positively influenced the
profitability of the sector
3. Proportion of businesses
that consider DAFWA has
fostered innovation in the
sector

Social and environmental
responsibility
Ensuring that economic
activity is managed
in a socially and
environmentally
responsible manner for the
long-term benefit of the
state

4. Proportion of businesses
and key stakeholders that
consider DAFWA has
positively influenced the
sustainability of the sector
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Shared responsibilities with other agencies
We work with a range of national, state and local agencies to serve the agrifood industries, related communities and the state. Our major
shared responsibilities are outlined below.
Table 2 DAFWA’s shared responsibilities with other agencies
Area
Animal welfare

Collaborating agencies
RSPCA; Department of Agriculture (DA); Animal
Health Australia; state agency jurisdictions; local
government

Mechanisms
Animal welfare policies, standards and guidelines; promoting
livestock stewardship; inspectorial duties

Beef industry development

Queensland; Northern Territory; Office of Federal
Minister for Agriculture

Northern Beef Strategy; Indigenous participation; Indonesian
Strategy, Mosaic Agriculture Tenure Reform, logistics

European house borer

WA Building Commission; Department of Parks and
Wildlife (DPW); Forest Products Commission (FPC);
local government

European House Borer Program

Emergency animal disease
preparedness

DA; Animal Health Australia; state agency jurisdictions Framework for shared funding and action in emergency animal
disease outbreaks and planning

Fertiliser use

Department of Water (DoW); Department of Planning
(DoP); Swan River Trust

Fertiliser Action Plan

Land information

Landgate; DPW; DoW; Department of Fire and
Emergency Services (DFES)

Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP)

Land inventories

Department of Regional Development (DRD); DPW;
DoP; local governments

Kimberley and Nullarbor land inventories

Natural resource management

DPW; FPC; Department of Aboriginal Affairs; DoP;
DoW; Department of Fisheries

State Natural Resource Management Program

Regulation of the use of
genetically modified organisms

Australian Office of the Gene Technology Regulator;
Food Standards Australia New Zealand; Australian
Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority

Regulation of all aspects of the use of genetically modified
organisms

19
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Table 2 cont.
Area
Natural disaster relief and
recovery arrangements

Collaborating agencies
Department of Premier and Cabinet; WA Police; Main
Roads; Department for Child Protection and Family
Support; Department of Health; Department of Local
Government and Communities (relevant local shires);
Water Corporation; DPW, Department of Housing,
Small Business Development Corporation; Australian
Attorney General’s Department; DFES

Mechanisms
Coordination of natural disasters under the Western Australian
Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA)

Plant biosecurity incident
response national

DA; state/territory quarantine authorities; Plant Health
Australia; industry; community

Response to incursion of national and regional quarantine pests.
The state where the incursion occurs takes the lead; however,
incursion response involves liaison with all states, territories and DA

Import pest risk analysis and
subsequent import conditions

DA; state/territory quarantine authorities; industry;
community

Assessing and addressing national pest risks associated with the
importation of plant commodities and associated equipment

Export of plant-based
commodities and related
equipment

DA; state/territory quarantine authorities; industry;
community

Assessing and addressing regional pest risks associated with
exporting plant commodities and associated equipment to markets
in other states, territories and countries

National industry biosecurity plans DA; Animal Health Australia; Plant Health Australia;
state/territory quarantine authorities; industry
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Identification of key industry national pests and development of
industry biosecurity plans

Agency performance

Report on operations
Key achievements

Growing profitability

Our key achievements for 2013/14 are
reported under the four growth areas set out
in our Strategic plan 2014–17 — markets,
profitability, productivity and people — and
our commitment to biosecurity and natural
resource management.

•

We supplied data that ultimately
supported multinational giant
Parmalat’s decision to purchase WA
dairy and fruit juice business Harvey
Fresh, Andrew Forrest’s purchase of
WA’s biggest beef abattoir Harvey
Beef, and meat processor V&V Walsh’s
$200 million deal to supply meat
products to China.

•

We achieved a record attendance
of more than 500 people at our
2014 Agribusiness Crop Update
conference, the premier grains event
in WA showcasing the latest research,
technology and market development of
the grains industry.

•

We distributed the state government’s
$7.8 million support package for
drought-affected farm businesses and
rural communities in the wheatbelt,
assisting 239 farm families with
financial support payments and nine
businesses with exit payments (see
case study, p. 34).

•

We helped construct the $29 million
Katanning saleyards, officially opened
in May 2014, which will process up to
one million sheep annually.

Growing markets
•

•

•

We hosted the inaugural WA–China
Agribusiness Cooperation Conference,
attended by about 300 delegates,
including more than 150 from China,
to facilitate business partnerships and
future investment (see case study,
p. 50).
We brought together 100 WA food and
beverage companies at three global
trade exhibitions in China, Dubai and
Singapore to exhibit WA products, with
one horticultural company increasing
their market share by 33%.
We successfully ran the inaugural WA’s
Signature Dish, a consumer cooking
competition highlighting local regional
food that attracted extensive media
coverage for our Buy West Eat Best
campaign (see case study, p. 136).

Minister Ken Baston, Director General Rob
Delane and Chinese Consul General Dr
Huang Qinguo at the WA–China Agribusiness
Cooperation Conference

•

We facilitated reciprocal visits and
MoUs with China that initiated steps to
open significant new opportunities for
the state’s live cattle trade and sheep
meat exports (see case study, p. 146).

•

We organised the fourth Northern
Australian Beef Industry Roundtable
and Producer Forum in Broome to
assist the northern cattle industry in
building better trade relations with
Indonesia (see case study, p. 139).
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Growing productivity
•

We assisted the grains industry in
achieving a record 17 million tonne
harvest in 2013, which contributed
$5.3 billion to the state’s economy (see
case study, p. 24)

•

We — under commercial arrangements
with Fruit West — propagated 85 000
apple trees of a new dark burgundy
variety (ANABP 01) bred from the
Australian National Apple Breeding
Program, hopefully a rival to the
success of the Cripps Pink.

•

We replaced 45 old weather stations,
bringing the updated network to 120
stations statewide, providing realtime online weather data and enabling
farmers to make more informed
business decisions to increase
productivity.

•

We released two new commercial crop
varieties — Barlock lupin and the highyielding milling oat, Williams — both
with technological advances offering
improved access to export markets.

•

We supported the emergence of truffles
as a culinary tourism industry, with
110ha of truffle orchards and six tonnes
of truffles harvested in WA in 2013,
as the industry enters a new phase of
investment and growth.

•

We developed the Weed Seed Wizard
computer simulation tool that allows
growers to predict weed emergence,
determine the impact on crop yields
and decide on the most appropriate
management methods to help
landholders maximise yield.

•

We involved more than 270 agrifood
businesses, including Vietnamesespeaking and Aboriginal decision
makers, in capacity building workshops,
enabling improved business decision
making and skills development.

•

We partnered with the government of
East Java and WA business Influential
Women to deliver the Empowering
Women in Agriculture – Australia and
Indonesia Program, which organises
reciprocal visits of farming women
to improve business enterprises in
Indonesia.

Livestock Industries Executive Director
Kevin Chennell with a group of Indonesian
farming women. Credit: Sabine Albers
Photography

The new burgundy apple variety
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•

•

•

We delivered career information to 570
career seekers, tertiary engagement
programs, primary school awareness
events and professional development
to 70 teaching staff, to support
agriculture and food education in
schools through our AgLinkEd initiative.
We provided project management
support to the Manjimup SuperTown
agricultural expansion project,
implementing education and
agricultural strategies and helping
to set up the Southern Forests Food
Council, which promotes agricultural
products from the district and develops
new pathways to markets.
We committed $1.2 million to the
Grower Group Alliance over four years
to ensure grower groups’ access to
key stakeholders, information and skills
from across the grains supply chain.

Boosting biosecurity and sustaining
natural resources
•

We successfully participated in
Exercise Odysseus, part of a national
program to test government and
industry preparedness to respond to
foot-and-mouth disease, as well as
training WA veterinary officers overseas
to be able to meet the risk (see case
study, p. 43).

•

We recruited community interest in
weeds and pest animals through the
formation of Recognised Biosecurity
Groups, to become more effective
in the prevention and eradication of
invasive species.

•

We released the Report card on
sustainable natural resource use
in agriculture, which describes the
condition of the state’s agricultural
area to guide future land management
in the face of significant challenges
to productivity and sustainability (see
case study, p. 150).
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•

We led the discovery of a deep
palaeochannel, or ancient riverbed,
which yields good-quality water for
farmers in the Gillingarra area, about
115km north of Perth.

•

We signed a contract with the Moredun
Institute to begin producing the world’s
first vaccine against intestinal worms
in sheep, this one specifically for the
parasite Haemonchus contortous
(barber’s pole worm).

An airborne electro-magnetic image of the
palaeochannel
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Case study

Partnering for success yields record grain harvest

O

ur department’s innovative
collaboration with the WA grains
industry over the past decade has
helped to boost productivity.
This collaboration helped underpin the
record 17 million tonne grain harvest in
2013, which returned $5.3 billion to the
economy.

We have supported growers’ success
by focusing on risk management
strategies that have provided growers
and professional agronomists with the
knowledge and tools to make informed
decisions and implement advanced
practices to manage businesses and crops
effectively in good and bad seasons.

The fact is, grains production has become
increasingly challenging in recent years
due to a drying and more variable climate
and more volatile global marketplace. To
remain competitive, growers have had to
significantly change their operations.

This has required us to create new and
strengthen existing partnerships with
research organisations, grower groups,
and government and private agencies to
maximise what we can do and the value we
can deliver.

For example, our strong partnership with
the Grains Research and Development
Corporation has resulted in their investment
of almost $180 million in projects with our
department over the past decade.
These projects have produced improved
crop varieties, tactical fertiliser and lime
strategies and better pest, weed and
disease management.
We also have developed an extensive suite
of grains-specific online tools to assist
grower decision making, including MyCrop
(wheat and barley diagnostics), Flower
Power (predicts wheat flowering times
to reduce the risk of frost or heat stress),
PestFax Map (crop pests and diseases
map) and Weed Seed Wizard (weed
predictions).

A 20 million tonne grain harvest is
the industry’s next goal.

Brondwen MacLean (GRDC), Sam Densley (Seednet) and
Bevan Buirchell, Rob Delane and Mark Sweetingham
(DAFWA) launch a new lupin variety, highlighting the
benefits of DAFWA’s partnership approach
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Financial targets
Table 3 Financial targets 2012/13
2013/14
Target
$000
221 000

2013/14
Actual
$000
218 924

Variation (1)
$000
(2 076)

The 0.9% decrease in expenditure reflects lower than
expected salary costs and grants and subsidies, offset
by higher than expected supplies and services costs.
Overall actual expenditure for the period is consistent with
expectation.

Net cost of services
(details from Statement of comprehensive income)

166 174

160 352

(5 822)

The 3.5% decrease reflects changes to funding
arrangements by the Federal government, resulting in
a decline in expected Commonwealth sourced grant
income.

Total equity
(details from Statement of financial position)

301 356

308 365

7 009

The increase of 2.3% is reflective of the increase in
the department’s surplus for the period ending 30 June
2014, resulting in an overall increased cash position.
Further, the department’s total assets have increased to
$352 million.

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
(details from Statement of cash flows)

(5 066)

4 772

9 838

The variance to target is a result of lower than expected
expenditure on items such as non-current assets and
grants and subsidies to other parties, as well as higher
than expected cash receipts from user charges and fees
and capital appropriations.

Approved full-time equivalent (FTE) staff level

1 110

1 129

19

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(details from Statement of comprehensive income)

Explanation of variation

1. Further explanations are contained in note 37 of the financial statements
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Financial performance
Operating result
The operating surplus for the year was $1.7
million ($10.6 million deficit for 2012/13).
The result is driven by increases in income
from grants and subsidies from nongovernment sources, service appropriations
and funding from the Royalties for Regions
program, offset by increases in expenditure
for projects related to these funding
sources and the voluntary separation
scheme.

Equity: what we’re worth
Equity is net worth, which is calculated by
what we ‘own’ (total assets of $352 million)
less what we ‘owe’ (total liabilities of $44
million). At 30 June 2014, our equity was
$308 million.

Revenue: where the dollars
came from

Commonwealth grants
and contributions (1%)

Our operating revenues for 2014 totalled
$221 million. The increase of 16% ($30
million) over the previous year is largely the
result of increased grants and subsidies
from non-government sources, together
with increased service appropriations and
funding from Royalties for Regions.

Interest (0%)
Non-government
grants and subsidies (14%)
User charges and fees (5%)
Other revenue (8%)

While the state government remains our
major source of funding, other sources
are the Australian government, a range
of industry sources (including various
industry research and development
corporations) and fees for services
rendered.

Revenue from state
government (72%)

Figure 2 Total revenue and expenses 2009–14
300 000

Assets: what we own

Total actual revenue

250 000
Dollars (AUD)

At 30 June 2014, we had total assets of
$352 million – a 1% increase on 2012/13.
Property, plant and equipment account for
60% of our assets.

Figure 3 Sources of funding

Total actual expenses

200 000
150 000
100 000
50 000
0
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Expenses: how the dollars
were spent

Figure 5 Main areas of expenditure 2014
Employees (58%)

Our total operating expenses for 2014
were $219 million across our services.
The increase of 9% ($17.6 million) over
the previous year is largely the result of
the voluntary separation scheme offset by
reduced salary expenditure and grants and
subsidies.

Depreciation (6%)
Grants and subsidies (5%)
Supplies and services (28%)

Our main areas of expenditure were our
people, contracts and grants.
Other (3%)

Figure 4 Expenditure by service
Business and supply
chain development (46%)
Transformational
development (11%)

Resource risk mangement (43%)
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At 30 June 2014, we had total liabilities of
$43.8 million — a decrease of 20.9% over
the previous year. Payables and provisions
(largely associated with accrued salaries
and annual and long service leave liabilities)
are our main liabilities.

Leave liability
DAFWA undertook a major program
throughout 2013/14 to eliminate leave
outside of guidelines, with the combined
average for annual and long service leave
falling from 10.15 weeks to 9.5 weeks per
employee as at 30 June 2014. Employees
having excessive leave were required
to develop leave plans with their people
leaders and project managers that enabled
them to come within guidelines by the
end of the financial year while not unduly
impacting on DAFWA’s work program.

Figure 6 Leave liability 2009–14
11.5
Average weeks per employee

Liabilities: what we owe

11
10.5
10
9.5
9
8.5
8
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Key financial ratios
Financial ratios provide a useful snapshot of the department’s financial status and trends, and measure our performance in achieving
financial management objectives.
Table 4 Key financial ratios
Ratio and formula
Working capital
Current assets v. current liabilities

Measure description
2013/14
Our ability to meet current 1.64 times
commitments

2012/13
1.23 times

Interpretation of result
The ratio has increased in general terms, demonstrating the
department has a better ability to meet current commitments
as and when they fall due.

Government contribution
Income other than state government v.
income from state government

Our dependence on state
government revenue

36%

36%

The department’s reliance on the state government for
revenue remains fairly consistent.

Labour ratio
Labour expenses v. total expenses

Our commitment to staff

58%

59%

This ratio has remained consistent with prior period.

Net worth movement
Current year equity v. prior year equity

Growth in net assets

1.05 times

1.02 times

The net worth of the department has increased from prior
period, reflecting higher appropriations and grants and cash
inflows.

Current asset movement
Growth in current assets
Current year current assets v. prior year
current assets

105%

87%

The increase in the department’s current assets is
attributable to an increase in restricted cash held, offset by a
decrease in non-restricted cash and current receivables.

Current liabilities movement
Current year current liabilities v. prior
year current liabilities

78%

96%

This ratio has returned to a more normal level with an
overall reduction in payables.

Growth in current
liabilities
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Summary of key performance indicators
Our outcome statement and services reflect our role as an economic development department. Our effectiveness indicators help us assess
the extent that we are successful in achieving our outcome; and our efficiency indicators let us benchmark our expenditure against the
value of the sector. Indicators and results are outlined in Table 5, and detailed in the section titled Detailed information in support of key
performance indicators.
Table 5 Key effectiveness and efficiency indicator targets, results and variations
Outcome: A profitable, innovative and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits Western Australia
Key effectiveness indicators
Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has influenced profitability (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has fostered innovation (%)
Proportion of businesses that consider DAFWA has influenced sustainability (%)
Service 1 Business and supply chain development
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of gross value of agricultural production (GVAP) (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the
net cost of this service (%)
Service 2 Transformational development
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the
net cost of this service (%)
Service 3 Resource risk management
Key efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP (%)
Public and private sector co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this service as a factor of the
net cost of this service (%)
1.

2013/14 Target

30

Variation (1)

37.0
32.0
32.0
35.0

33.8
29.3
29.1
37.5

–3.2
–2.7
–2.9
+2.5

1.10
42.0

1.03
45.3

–0.07
+3.3

0.30
27.0

0.29
16.1

–0.01
–10.9

1.20
33.0

1.17
28.1

–0.03
–4.9

Variations between target and actual results are explained the ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.
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Supporting information
regarding our effectiveness
indicators
We assess our effectiveness primarily
on the extent to which business owners
and managers believe we have positively
impacted upon their industry over the past
12 months. These three KPIs are derived
from an annual survey of producers,
intermediaries (such as processors and
exporters) and agrifood consultants.
Respondents are asked to score our impact
on the profitability, sustainability and
innovativeness of their industries on a scale
of zero to 10, where zero represents a nil or
negative impact, five is moderate, and scores
of six or above are significant.
While there has been only minor changes in
the proportion of respondents scoring our
impact as significant (that is, six or above),
there has been a marked improvement in
those who consider our impact to be either
moderate (score 5) or significant (6+). These
changes are detailed on page 138, 140 and
142. We believe this improvement is real,
and this next section outlines some of the
services and initiatives we believe contributed
to that impact.

1. Supporting information regarding
our impact on profitability
Profitability can be taken to refer to the sum
of everything — marketing, production,
processing and business practice — that
collectively makes an enterprise ‘profitable’.
However, we think of it as being about
business aspects, rather than technical
aspects, of an enterprise. The following
commentary outlines some of the ways that
we have helped agribusinesses make better
‘business’ decisions.

Enabling better management decisions
DAFWA researchers developed and
extended a number of new decision-making
tools that enable grain growers to tailor
their cropping programs to their individual
conditions.
For instance, the online MyCrop diagnostic
tool we released last year — which enables
crop agronomy problems to be diagnosed
in the field — is now being widely used by
growers and consultants, with user reviews
currently averaging 4.5 stars out of five. We
also played a lead role in developing the
Weed Seed Wizard — a nationwide initiative
that lets growers input local soil, weather
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and weed information and, from that,
determine the potential impact of those
weeds on yield; and how best to minimise
that impact.
In terms of helping the industry to better
understand the underlying issues, we ran
workshops for growers on the interaction
between crop yield and soil constraints,
such as acidity, organic matter, nutrition and
water repellence. We also looked in detail
at the effects of different farming practices
on some 200 individual paddocks across
the state, workshopping the findings with
agronomic consultants and growers.

Improving production options
DAFWA continues to provide input into
early-stage breeding for those crops
where the major delivery is by WA-oriented
breeding companies — primarily wheat and
barley — and in all stages of the breeding
and development cycle for a range of
other crops. For instance, we released a
new lupin variety, Barlock, which offers
substantial yield, tolerance and adaptation
advantages, while our new high-yielding
milling oat variety, Williams, offers improved
disease resistance and marketability.
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Our achievements in early-stage breeding
are exemplified by the release of 11 new
acid-tolerant barley lines that were provided
to breeding companies during 2014.
We are also working on the role of ‘break
crops’ such as canola, lupins and field
peas in managing weeds and diseases;
and in replenishing soil structure and
fertility, with the aim of helping growers to
choose the best rotations for their particular
circumstances.
Advances in horticultural options were
exemplified by a recently realised dark
burgundy apple variety, officially known as
ANABP 01. A half-brother to our successful
SundownerTM variety, this highly distinctive
and productive variety is expected to start
appearing in the shops in 2016.
We continue to examine potential new
crops, such as the jujube — a nutritious
tree fruit that has long been a staple of
Chinese foods and medicines. Last year,
we led a project that addressed a number
of production, marketing and awareness
issues; and helped establish the WA Jujube
Growers Association Inc. We are now
working with the association to see how the
current crop of 10 000 trees planted in WA
can be expanded.

Building markets and investment
DAFWA established the InvestWest
Agribusiness Alliance in August 2013 as a
means of better attracting investment into
the WA agrifood sector (see case study,
p. 148). The alliance worked closely with
the Japanese Consulate-General to host a
successful networking event and seminar to
showcase WA agribusiness opportunities.
We also supported targeted investment
attraction, such as by hosting a Chinese
company keen to invest in sheep meat
production and processing in WA; by
helping our largest sheep meat processor
assess opportunities for supply chain
investments in China; and by helping
Parmalat determine their requirements for
increased milk supply in regard to their
decision to purchase the Harvey Fresh
business.

A sheep market in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.
Director General Rob Delane visited the
country twice in 2013/14 to help facilitate
work toward the restart of live sheep exports

Building supply chains

In a similar vein, we worked with the
Australian and Saudi Arabian governments
and key traders to determine how best to
develop animal welfare assurance systems
that will enable Saudi Arabian importers
to ensure appropriate animal welfare
standards for Australian livestock.

We are increasingly expanding our
involvement in the post farm-gate stages of
supply chains. For example, we organised
a major beef industry forum, hosted by
Minister Baston, in Broome in February
2014 that explored key issues around
building investment and markets for the
northern beef industry (see case study,
p. 139).

Locally, we partnered with federal,
state and local government agencies in
commissioning a major new saleyards
complex at Katanning. Opened by the
Premier in May 2014, the $29 million
facility will handle up to one million sheep
annually using best practice health and
safety, animal welfare and environmental
management standards.
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Building business skills and capability

Business preparedness

More than 270 agrifood businesses took
part in a range of our capacity building
workshops aimed at improving their
business decision making, performance and
skills. Workshops were tailored to meet the
specific needs of individual groups — such
as Vietnamese-speaking and Indigenous
producers — and a range of companion
products were provided to past participants
to reinforce key learnings and support
continuous improvement.

DAFWA continues to work with federal
and state governments in providing
assessment and assistance packages to
farm businesses experiencing financial
difficulties; and in helping producers better
prepare for conditions such as drought (see
case study, p. 34).

Our Indigenous Landholder Service worked
extensively with Indigenous landholders
who own and manage some 70 properties
— representing 5.5 million hectares —
across the state. Along with the Indigenous
Land Council, we delivered a range of
services on property management planning
and infrastructure development, as well
as provided specialist technical and land
management services and training.

Looking ahead, we signed up to the
national drought reform agreement that
commenced in July 2014. The agreement
facilitates farm household allowance,
management deposit and taxation
measures; a coordinated approach to
business training and social support
services; and a range of tools that help
farmers make better-informed decisions.

DAFWA continued to host the state’s
premier agribusiness development series,
with the two-day Agribusiness Crop Update
in Perth and 10 one-day events throughout
the grain belt. Covering issues cropping
inputs to marketing strategies, this series
presents all major technological and
business developments made over the past
year.
33
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Case study

Package supports those in need

W

hile the outlook for farming in WA is
positive, some farming communities
continued to do it tough in 2013/14.

This included those affected by an
unprecedented sequence of seasonal
events, including droughts and frosts.
As a result, the Western Australian
Government announced a $7.8 million farm
assistance package in April 2013 to support
struggling farm businesses and rural
communities across WA.
The package provided financial support
payments for eligible farmers; grants to
assist vulnerable farmers to transition off
farms; and a boost to community, social
support and rural counselling services.

As at 30 June 2014:
•

239 farm businesses had received
$25 000 in financial support payments

•

three farm businesses had received
$20 000 in farm exit support grants,
with a further six pending, waiting for
the sale of their farm

•

nine applicants had received funding
for social support and rural counselling

•

16 shires had received a total of more
than $180 000 for community support
grants.

The package was administered by the Rural
Business Development Corporation, with
our department taking responsibility for the
application and assessment processes,
including the timely payment of grant
applications.

A $10 000 community support payment boosted
community spirits in the Shire of Kulin
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In 2014/15 DAFWA will continue to support
the rollout of state and federal assistance
packages to support farm businesses in
need.

We are very fortunate to be able
to have this assistance. We are
grateful and it has come at a
perfect time for us.
— Financial support payment recipient
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2. Supporting information regarding
our impact on innovation
The success of all industries is linked to
innovativeness, which we consider to be
about ‘making changes that add value’.
We see our role in this regard as being a
catalyst for industry in stimulating its own
innovation and adaptive change, with a
focus on the areas of greatest opportunity
and risk.
This KPI is based on respondents’ views
of our impact on their capacity to make
such changes. Some of the capabilities and
deliverables by which we increased their
innovativeness are outlined below.

A more commercial approach to
research
The Australian Export Grains Innovation
Centre that we launched with the GRDC in
2012 is providing an innovative means of
enhancing the international competitiveness
of Australian grain. For instance, AEGIC
recently led an initiative to secure valuable

noodle wheat markets in Japan and Korea;
pinpointed the strengths and weaknesses
of Australian grains supply chains; and
examined how the benefits of price
premiums flow along those chains.
Akin to our role in establishing AEGIC and
InterGrain, we investigated the feasibility of
the DAFWA-led Australian National Apple
Breeding Program becoming a pome fruit
breeding company in partnership with
industry. The concept was found to be
viable, and an interim executive chair was
appointed to progress the concept ahead of
a final determination in mid-2014.

A more targeted approach to
supporting industry
DAFWA is increasingly working to establish
and support industry-based organisations
that enable industry to take a more decisive
and effective lead in developing the sector.
Our key achievement in this regard over
the past year stemmed from three highlevel industry workshops we held in 2012
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and 2013 that agreed to establish a peak
industry group to be ‘led by industry and
supported by government’. (It was these
workshops that first developed the concept
of doubling the value of sales from the
sector by 2025.) The resultant Agrifood
Alliance WA was established in October
2013 (see case study, p. 148). This is the
first time WA has had such a body.
At the regional level, DAFWA has stepped
up its support for the Grower Group
Alliance, providing $1.2 million in funding to
the non-profit grower-driven organisation
over four years. Connecting 39 grower
groups with research organisations
and agribusinesses across WA, it is an
innovative means of ensuring growers
can access the stakeholders, information
and skills they need to succeed. Similarly,
our Small Landholder Information Service
introduced a range of online tools to
provide information on livestock and land
management, biosecurity and business
skills to some 60 000 small landholders (see
case study, p. 38).
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And in terms of the next generation of
people coming into the industry, our
AgLinkEd education initiative delivered
career information, engagement and
awareness programs and professional
development to mature-age career seekers
as well as students and teachers at all
levels.

Greater R&D effectiveness
With public and private organisations all
needing to do more with less, we remain a
strong and active proponent of the National
Primary Industries Research, Development
and Extension Framework — which seeks
to better target research activities and
capabilities. In the past year, we audited the
human and physical infrastructure relevant
to grains RD&E and reviewed the progress
in implementing the grains industry’s
national RD&E strategy, leading to a refresh
of that strategy.
In the livestock area, we signed MoUs with
two South Korean universities to collaborate
in research and training relevant to the pork
industry, including exchanges of staff and
students between both countries.

Better analytical and diagnostic tools
Regional Operations and Development
Executive Director Peter Metcalfe (right)
and Development Officer Sue-Ellen Shaw
(left) engage WA College of Agriculture
Cunderdin students by the AgLinkEd
education trailer

In our efforts to develop varieties of redfleshed apples to meet demand from
emerging markets, our apple breeding
program identified a genetic marker for this
trait. Using this marker as a key element of
the selection strategy enabled the program
to reduce selection-stage costs by 50%.
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Similarly, our crop geneticists developed
a new DNA fingerprinting technology
for identifying desirable genes for lupin
breeding. The new LightScanner technology
is quicker, more cost effective and safer to
operate than previous methods. We also
released a new diagnostic tool (in the form
of gene-specific molecular markers) for
screening barley germplasm for acid soil
tolerance.
A previous DAFWA discovery of the genes
responsible for head-loss and strawbreak in susceptible malting barleys led
to the development over the past year of
a method for accurately measuring the
strength of barley straw. This method
has application both in breeding stronger
varieties and in developing management
regimes for varieties that are susceptible.
We also helped develop the world’s first
near-infrared calibration tool for assessing
the nutritional quality of soybean and canola
meal as pig feed, reducing feed costs and
improving pig performance.

Agency performance

New data streams
In 2013/14 DAFWA led or contributed
to the introduction of a number of new
data streams that will enable agrifood
businesses to make better informed and
more timely decisions.
The most significant of these data flows
originates from the network of 120 weather
stations we have established throughout
the South West Land Division. This data
is now available directly to the public
through DAFWA’s website as well as being
uploaded to the Bureau of Meteorology
and the vegetablesWA websites for use
in irrigation scheduling. Further data
feeds — such as to the commercial
YieldProphet® crop yield system — are
under development.
A prototype mobile phone application also
has been developed, improving mobile
access to weather data for growers and
regional communities.

A median rainfall forecast map produced from
the Statistical Seasonal Forecast webpage

In another example, a new mapping
facility in our Statistical Seasonal Forecast
webpage lets growers assess levels of soil
water storage as a key guide to potential
grain yield. This is being further developed
so maps are updated daily (rather than
monthly) and so growers can customise the
system to their own farms.
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Case study

Communicating online builds engagement

S

ocial media and online
communications proved a game
changer for our Small Landholder
Information Service (SLIS) in 2013/14.
A decision to begin communicating with
clients in cyberspace enabled the service
to better engage and build relationships,
developing a community of well-informed
and self-motivated landholders.
The SLIS, which provides WA’s 60 000 small
landholders with information on all aspects
of effectively managing their land, orchards
and livestock, has previously focused on a
one-way ‘telling and selling’ approach.

The overall aim is to develop a community
of small landholders who have the
knowledge and skills to sustainably manage
their properties and contribute to the state’s
economy.
The SLIS now plans to increase the
service’s online presence through the
development of useful applications,
webinars, regularly updated web
information and further social media.

— Shaadi Pepper, Brookton Telegraph

SLIS Development Officer
Jodie Whitfield displays the
service’s webpage on an iPad

While this had worked to a degree, it didn’t
provide much opportunity for landholders to
participate in the communications and build
a real community feel.
Entering the digital era, including being
active on social media sites Twitter
and Facebook and providing the latest
information via e-newsletters, online
community newsletters and DAFWA’s
website, has enabled the SLIS to
enthusiastically pursue increased client
engagement.
In the past year, the number of subscribers
to the service has grown by almost 250%.
Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

It is not often that I come across
information that is relevant,
well written and interesting to
reproduce in the newsletter and
I am very impressed with your
column.
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3. Supporting information regarding
our impact on sustainability
Western Australia supports a wide range
of agricultural industries. While DAFWA’s
primary goal is to grow the sector, this
only makes sense if it is done in a way that
safeguards the land and water resources on
which all agriculture depends — and which
are entrusted to the sector by all Western
Australians.

Land use assessment
A key part of our role is to ensure that
agricultural and pastoral lands are not used
in ways that exceed their capacity.
Our achievements in this regard over
the past year included the release of
the Report card on sustainable natural
resource use in agriculture as a valuable
land management resource for growers,
community groups and government
agencies (see case study, p.150).
We support products such as this
with targeted and tailored training and
information sessions. For instance, we held
a workshop in late 2013 to examine ways to
enhance sustainable land management —

involving targeted industry and community
organisations — and focused on the
agricultural report card. Participants agreed
to work together to develop a monitoring
and assessment system that provides the
information needed to make sound policy
decisions in regard to policy, funding and
management of natural resources.
Likewise, our updated pasture condition
guide for the Kimberley helps beef producers
better manage the 17 most common pasture
types found in the region. Importantly,
it also helps them identify early signs of
decline in range condition and any need for
management changes.

Monitoring and surveillance
One of WA’s greatest competitive
advantages is our relative freedom from
damaging pests and diseases compared
to the eastern states of Australia as well as
the rest of the world. We employ a range
of prevention, monitoring and surveillance
strategies to guard against new incursions
and manage those that occurred in the past.
One of our farthest flung efforts is in
controlling Siam weed in the Cocos
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Islands. Recognised as one of the world’s
worst tropical weeds, it threatens newly
established agricultural enterprises on
the island. Our work with local authorities
greatly reduces the risk of it being
transported back to the mainland.
Closer to home, we worked to close a
170km gap in the State Barrier Fence to
the east of Southern Cross. Known as
the Yilgarn Gap, this work forms part of a
five-year, $10 million project funded by the
Royalties for Regions program. The State
Barrier Fence — which now stretches from
Kalbarri to Ravensthorpe — complements
other measures, such as targeted dogging
and baiting, to protect farm businesses
from impacts of wild dogs and emus.
Industry is increasingly taking the lead
in monitoring for diseases that threaten
their markets but that are of little direct
significance to the community. For instance,
we secured agreement with the cattle
industry to undertake the surveillance of
Johne’s disease, tuberculosis and enzootic
leucosis in beef and dairy cattle, with
funding collected through their Industry
Funding Scheme.
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We also look for better ways to locate exotic
pests and diseases. For instance, we were
recently able to reduce the cost of pre- and
post-border testing for liver fluke in stock
entering WA, thanks to a cheaper and more
sensitive diagnostic test.

Pest and disease preparedness
Serious incursions do not happen every
day but when they do all parties need to
be able to respond quickly and in a highly
coordinated manner.
To this end, we helped develop an action
plan to minimise the state’s vulnerability
to foot-and-mouth disease; and enhance
our capacity to detect, contain, trace and
respond to an outbreak. We also joined with
industry and other agencies in Exercise
Odysseus, a nationwide ‘stock standstill’
exercise designed to test Australia’s ability to
halt all stock movements in the event of such
a disease threat (see case study, p. 43).
We partnered with the federal government
in providing veterinary officers with real-time
experience with foot-and-mouth disease in
overseas countries; and undertook audits of
animal collection points (such as saleyards),
feedstuff retailers and producers to ensure
compliance with livestock and chemicals
regulations.

Our Animal Health Laboratories are a key
element in the state’s ability to detect
and evaluate such threats. In 2013/14,
the laboratories completed more than
1000 disease outbreak investigations. The
laboratories also are essential to our ability
to export produce, verifying the health status
of 250 shipments over the same time.
We improved our collaboration with
producers and private veterinarians, working
together to conduct some 200 ‘exclusion’
tests to exclude the possible presence of
diseases such as avian influenza and Hendra
virus. Such investigations provide evidence
of WA’s freedom from such diseases, which
is essential to maintaining and improving
market access.
Similarly, our work in the National Arbovirus
Monitoring Program provides assurance
that the vast majority of WA is free from the
trade-sensitive bluetongue virus, greatly
enhancing our live cattle trade negotiations
with China and other bluetongue-sensitive
trading partners.

Access and capability
The state’s long-term prosperity depends in
large part on our land and water resources
being used appropriately. We play a key part
in defining and developing that balance.
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Over the past year, we established a major
production bore in the Bonaparte Plains area
to the north of Kununurra; and tested some
300 bores in the La Grange area south-west
of Broome as part of our program to evaluate
further development potential in the east and
west Kimberley respectively.
We supported the La Grange Agriculture
and Water Opportunities project with a
community engagement program. This
program used a combination of Facebook
and local workshops to ensure participants,
industry and the wider community were
aware of the project and its implications.
Further south, we helped farmers in the
Gillingarra area south of Moora to access a
newly discovered groundwater supply. Lying
in a deep palaeochannel, or ancient riverbed,
this high quality water offers considerable
potential for stock watering and pasture
irrigation.
In terms of land, our High Quality
Agricultural Land project aims to prevent
the loss of valuable agricultural resources
to less-beneficial land uses, with findings
being profiled at the major Tipping Point
Conference in May this year. The project
continues to make a significant contribution
to land use planning and related decision
making.

Agency performance

Similarly, the State Natural Resource
Management Program — which made a
further 129 grants to community groups
during 2013/14 — continues to build
community involvement and ownership of
natural resource issues at the local level.

Optimising policy settings
Sustainability is primarily a risk
management science and, as such, needs
sound policy and legislative settings to
ensure an appropriate balance in the needs
and wishes of all stakeholders. We are
increasingly looking to streamline legislation
and minimise its imposition on industry and
the community.

legislation between the various state and
federal jurisdictions. We also revised our
wild dog management strategy, which
provides DAFWA staff and others with clear
guidance. A related best practice manual
also is nearing completion.

Introduction of the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Act 2007 (BAM
Act) allowed the repeal of a number of
outdated and unwarranted Acts, and paved
the way to more progressive arrangements.
For instance, the Cattle Industry Funding
Scheme — set up under the BAM Act
— enabled industry to fund a helpdesk
to provide technical support to growers
needing to use the National Livestock
Information System. This significantly
improved the system’s ease of use and the
level of compliance. With industry support,
we also are in the final stages of legislating
(under the same Act) a management plan
for dealing with Newcastle disease in
poultry.
The Nyikina Mangala Aboriginal people
received a State NRM grant to help
determine sustainable wild harvest levels for
freshwater mangrove along the Fitzroy River

We are major contributors to a national
stock food registration initiative, helping
to develop a ‘control of use’ regulation
matrix that is seen as a key to harmonising
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Quarantine WA
Our Quarantine WA service continued
to protect WA’s agriculture, environment
and lifestyle in 2013/14 by conducting
inspections for quarantine risk material
at entry points for private travellers and
commercial clients arriving from interstate.
Our presence at road checkpoints at
Eucla and Kununurra; inspections of trains
coming from interstate; and inspection of
passengers and luggage at airports helped
prevent any exotic species incursions
during the year.
In 2013/14, there was a:
•

2% decrease in interstate flights into
WA (17 283)

•

11% increase in passengers on
interstate flights into Perth
(2 958 282)

•

10% decrease in interstate freight
containers (198 256)

•

1% decrease in imported plant lines
(141 137) that must be inspected

•

9% increase in imported interstate
livestock numbers (12 401) that must
be inspected

•

1% decrease in the number of
vehicles entering the state through
road checkpoints (121 596 vehicles).
Checkpoints currently operate 24 hours
a day seven days a week.

•

6% decrease in quarantine risk material
seized (38 786kg)

•

27% increase in significant intercepts
of plant pests and diseases (66).

In late 2013, Quarantine WA launched a
‘Bin it’ campaign to remind travellers by air,
rail, sea and road of their responsibilities
to declare or bin biosecurity risk materials,
such as fruit, vegetables and plants, at the
state border.
The campaign involved a range of
signage, posters and brochures in a dozen
languages at border entry points, including
airports and road checkpoints. The amnesty
bins in Perth domestic airport also have
been relocated to maximise visibility.
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Quarantine Inspector Louise Smith
and detector dog Jackson wait while a
passenger drops some fruit into an amnesty
bin at Perth Airport

Agency performance

Case study

Taking a stand to reduce disease impact

A

ustralia’s access to livestock-related
export markets depends on the
country being free of foot-and-mouth
disease (FMD) — a highly contagious virus
disease of cloven-hoofed animals.
A large outbreak of the disease in Australia
could cost industry up to $52 billion over 10
years.
To increase WA’s preparedness to quickly
respond to an outbreak of FMD, we joined
forces with industry and other government
agencies in early 2014 in a nationally
coordinated program, Exercise Odysseus.
The exercise was based around preparing
the state for a national livestock standstill,
a key tactic in reducing the spread and
eradication cost of FMD.
A national livestock standstill involves
halting the transport or movement of all
FMD-susceptible animals (sheep, cattle,
pigs, goats, deer, alpaca, llamas, camels
and buffalo) for at least three days following
FMD detection.
DAFWA held workshops at Katanning,
Muchea, Mt Barker and Bunbury with
livestock agents and abattoir and saleyard
operators to raise awareness of the need
for each sector to develop a standstill
management plan.

Participants at a
regional Exercise
Odysseus
workshop held at
the new Katanning
saleyards

Following the workshops, we led a state
discussion exercise with more than 60
participants from the livestock transport,
live export, producer, government, stock
agent, saleyard and abattoir sectors.
Outcomes included agreement between
DAFWA and industry to:
•

draft an integrated communications
plan

•

establish a working group to refine
stock-in-transit guidelines

•

cooperate during a standstill
43

•

undertake another scenario-based
workshop

•

examine mechanisms to support
industry recovery.

Information from these activities will be
used to inform federal planning for a
standstill.
DAFWA is planning further preparedness
activities in 2015, including setting up
control centres to manage a simulated
outbreak.
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Feature

Harnessing communications to grow agriculture

O

ur department has long recognised
the value of timely communications
in helping to grow our state’s
agrifood sector and support the success of
agribusiness.

We restructured our Corporate
Communications branch to address the
increasing uptake of digital media, allowing
us to provide more contemporary and
value-added communications.

What is new, however, is the scale and
urgency of the challenge in a business
world where industry and businesses
increasingly need the latest information
and tools at their fingertips to remain
competitive and be successful.

Our new electronic document management
system rolled out in 2013/14 makes records
instantly available, increasing our capacity
to respond to enquiries and to positively
influence the development of effective
agricultural policy.

DAFWA understands the importance of
emerging digital technologies and we are
committed to developing communications
that deliver value — not only in regards to
providing the latest and best information
to our clients and partners but in raising
awareness of, and advocating on behalf of,
the sector.

The inside story
Our stakeholders expect our services
to strengthen their capacity, promote
knowledge and improve their livelihoods. To
meet these demands, we have prioritised
communications to enable us to make our
department function more effectively and
efficiently.

Development Officer Kelly Ryan uploads a
photo to Twitter to inform the world of the
Merredin field day
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We also installed a new video conferencing
system that makes it possible to hold highlevel meetings with staff across the state,
reducing environmental impacts and costs.
Our intranet site is in the final stages of
redevelopment to ensure staff can access
the information they need to do their work
effectively.

Getting the message out
DAFWA’s media activities play a
pivotal role in informing the sector and
broader community of our key research,
development and services, and providing
biosecurity and quarantine advice to
help safeguard the state’s biosecurity
status and natural resources. In 2013/14
we issued 272 media statements and
responded to 911 enquiries from rural,
regional and metropolitan media outlets.
This contributed to generating coverage of
4124 items published in print and broadcast
media. In 2013 the team embraced twoway digital communication with industry
via social media using the @DAFWAmedia
Twitter account to raise awareness of media
statements among the broader agrifood
community.

Agency performance

We also connect virtually with stakeholders
through
ourperformance
new external website, with
Agency
more clients spending increased time on
the site, suggesting the new content is more
engaging and useful (see case study, p. 46).

However, while the growth of mobile internet
is ensuring that everything digital can be
accessed everywhere, we recognise clients
need access to traditional communication
channels and media as well as the
knowledge and skills to use them. Face-toface meetings — such as Crop Updates,
field days, mutual visits of specialists and
trade delegations, workshops and field trips
— bring communities and producers and
customers together, driving interaction and
engagement.

A few simple online tools have provided the
foundation for rapid response to market
opportunities and pressures. For example,
our staff used Google Earth to present an
audiovisual tour of the state’s south-west to
attract members of a Japanese corporation
to visit WA and discuss potential investment.
Two major projects — La Grange Agriculture
and Water Opportunities and our Small
Landholder Information Service (see case
study, p. 38) — use Facebook to keep
clients and industry updated and engaged.
By building a community of followers who
could track their projects, we felt we could
ensure a wide variety of perspectives, and
build trust and respect in the projects and
the people involved in delivering them.
A refresh of our department’s brand in
2013/14, including our new positioning
statement ‘Supporting your success’,
has also boosted the effectiveness of
our communications with a June 2014
client survey revealing 71% believed our
publications communicated ‘supportive’.

DAFWA’s La Grange Facebook page

We will continue to explore opportunities
to develop and manage communications
internally and externally to support the
success of agricultural development and
communities in WA.

A balanced approach
The internet has evolved into a fundamental
feature of the economy. Mobile devices
such as smart phones and tablets enable
us to share and receive information on
the go, such as the MyCrop app that can
diagnose production issues in wheat, barley
and canola with the tap of a screen. Email
and e-publications such as AgMemo and
AgTactics have become important elements
in a renewed agriculture extension service.
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Case study

Website launch supports agriculture success

W

e are committed to enabling our
agrifood sector clients, partners and
stakeholders to access information
they need to succeed.
With this in mind, we developed a new
DAFWA website with a strong customer
focus. The site was launched in January
2014.
Users can personalise their homepage by
changing displayed content to suit their
needs — be it daily weather updates,
popular articles or quick links.

months to June 2014 compared to the
same time in 2013.
The average time spent on the website also
improved with session times increasing
by 144% compared to 2013. Users are
spending an average of 3.57 minutes on
the new site at one time compared to 1.46
minutes previously. We concluded this
was due to the availability of more relevant
information and tools on the new site.

There also is a range of tools and services
designed to support the industry, which
includes seasonal and weather information,
crop diagnostic and WeedWatcher tools.
Recognising that having a good business
model is just as important as a good crop or
herd, we included a business improvement
section with a comprehensive toolbox
that guides clients through continuous
improvement, goal setting, problem solving
and performance measurement.
In February 2014 there had been a 50%
increase in users (58 881) and a 44%
increase in page views (240 357) compared
to the previous year. These figures
continued to increase in the remaining
Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014
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In February 2014 there had been a
50% increase in users (58 881) and
a 44% increase in page views (240
357) compared to the previous
year.

The technical team involved in developing
DAFWA’s new website

Significant issues impacting the agency

Current and emerging issues and trends
A number of new and ongoing issues
and forces directed DAFWA’s efforts to
support the success of WA’s agrifood
sector throughout 2013/14. These created
both opportunities and challenges for our
department and agrifood businesses alike.

Growing worldwide demand for
food
Increasing middle-class populations and
demand for safe, quality foods around the
world, especially in Asia and the Middle
East, are presenting the agrifood sector
with major growth opportunities through
increased exports and investment.
The state government — realising these
opportunities and the increasing importance
of agriculture to the state’s economy
— announced a four-year Royalties for
Regions-funded initiative as part of its
2013/14 Budget in August 2013.
The initiative incorporates 14 four-year
strategies to assist WA businesses to
capture the opportunities in Asia, the
Middle East and other markets that will
deliver transformative change and legacy
benefits for industry participants. DAFWA
has worked to develop business cases for
10 of the projects.

We launched a new strategic plan in June
2014 to align our priorities with those of
Agriculture and Food Minister Ken Baston,
and invest resources into areas that will
help industry to increase both the level of
production and unit value of its products to
help meet its target to double the value of
the sector by 2025.
Strengthening our ties with China will be
integral to securing new trade markets
and encouraging investment to boost
production. We hosted the WA–China
Agribusiness Cooperation Conference in
April 2014 (see case study, p. 50) and the
Director General and key staff made several
visits to China to promote WA’s agrifood
products and industries, build relationships
and create trade and investment
opportunities.
We established the InvestWest Agribusiness
Alliance in August 2013 to better promote,
attract, facilitate and exploit success from
international investment in the agrifood
sector. The Alliance now has more than 80
member organisations.

Changing climate and weather
patterns
The continuing trend of variable seasonal
conditions in the agricultural region is
presenting new and increased threats
to agricultural production, resource
management and business viability.
In 2013/14 DAFWA continued to provide
assistance to farm businesses that have
struggled with successive bad seasons
and directed resources to improve risk
management, including developing systems
and tools that enable producers to better
understand and adapt to such threats.
We helped roll out the state government’s
$7.8 million package to support farm
businesses and rural communities in the
wheatbelt (see case study, p. 34) and,
through the RBDC, administered the
Farm Business Assessment 2014 scheme
to assist struggling farm businesses in
wheatbelt shires and other areas with up
to $10 000 to undertake an independent
assessment of their business.

We also initiated the formation of the
industry-led Agrifood Alliance WA in late
2013 (see case study, p. 148) to help unify
industries to grow the sector as a whole.
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We also increased our network of automatic
weather stations to 120 across WA,
providing farm businesses and regional
communities with greater access to
online weather data as well as seasonal
forecasting using our online Statistical
Seasonal Forecast system, allowing them
to make more informed decisions regarding
their crops and businesses.

Tightening finances and
resources
Our ability to effectively support the
success of the agrifood sector is being
challenged by the current economic
climate, which has resulted in reduced
funding and staff numbers. We farewelled
71 employees in late 2013 as part of a
voluntary severance program, contributing
to our staffing levels having reduced by
more than 25% over the past five years.
As a result, we have found new ways to
work smarter with the resources we have,
creating new partnerships and adopting
new approaches to strengthen our client
and industry focus, governance and
delivery of biosecurity and other statutory
functions.
National ‘streamlining’ also has affected
DAFWA through changes in December
2013 to the Standing Council on Primary
Industries (SCoPI) and subsidiary
collaboration arrangements.

DAFWA Research Officer Ben Biddulph
checks one of DAFWA’s automatic weather
stations

Budget pressures and policy shifts have
driven R&D enterprises to partner more
closely and put greater focus on critical
industry needs. DAFWA will continue to
work with partners in WA, across Australia
and internationally to get the best value
for our research dollars. We will continue
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our lead roles under the National Primary
Industries Research Development and
Extension Framework to optimise the
impact of innovations on WA agrifood
businesses.

Competitive markets
The persistent high value of the Australian
dollar during the year, continuing
competition from low-cost producing
countries and ongoing advances in agrifood
supply chain efficiency means our sector
needs to continue focusing on the quality
of our products to keep attracting premium
prices in overseas markets.
We prepared a commercialisation plan for a
new apple variety bred from the Australian
National Apple Breeding Program, which
is expected to reinvigorate the WA apple
industry. Eighty-five thousand apple trees of
the new variety are to be propagated under
commercial arrangements with Fruit West
Co-op.
We commercially released two significant
new grain crop varieties. Barlock lupin
offers a substantial yield gain over current
varieties and better disease resistance
while Williams, a new high-yielding milling
oat variety developed specifically for WA
growers, offers disease resistance and
improved access to export food markets.

Significant issues impacting the agency

AEGIC, established by DAFWA and
the GRDC, continued to enhance the
international competitiveness of Australian
grain, including by supporting the trade and
use of Australian grain in premium noodles
for Japan and Korea.

Threat from pests, weeds and
diseases
The profitability and sustainability of the
agrifood sector relies heavily on maintaining
our state’s enviable biosecurity status and
product integrity, which sees WA being
recognised as having one of the lowest
exotic pest, weed and disease burdens in
the world.
However, our state is becoming more
exposed as levels of trade, travel and
urbanisation increase. As a result,
DAFWA continued to build our biosecurity
capabilities and help landholders and
businesses take greater ownership of those
risks that threaten their current and future
profitability.

We engaged recognised experts to
help us build relationships with regional
communities as part of the formation of
Recognised Biosecurity Groups under the
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management
Act 2007. The groups give landholders the
responsibility for raising funds (matched
by the state government) to undertake
biosecurity measures relevant to their
region. By having an effective partnership
with these groups, landholders and
production businesses, we can be more
effective in the prevention and eradication
of invasive species.
Our Quarantine WA operations continued
to effectively protect the state from exotic
pest, weed and disease incursions through
a vigilant inspection service at road
checkpoints, airports, train stations and
ports throughout WA.
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A quarantine officer inspects a truck at a
road checkpoint
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Case study

Conference strengthens ties with China

W

estern Australia is well placed to
benefit from the growing demand
for food from Asia — and DAFWA is
committed to helping agrifood businesses
tap into the Chinese market, as well as
encouraging investment by China in WA
agriculture.
This commitment was highlighted by our
staff spending six months planning and
preparing for the Western Australia–China
Agribusiness Cooperation Conference held
in April 2014.
Hosted by DAFWA in partnership with
government agencies, industry and
international representative and diplomatic
bodies, the conference attracted about 300
attendees, including more than 150 Chinese
delegates.

After the conference, DAFWA hosted
nine site visits over two days for Chinese
delegates to get a more comprehensive
look at industry areas, including dairy, beef,
sheep, grains, wine, fisheries and gourmet
foods.

DAFWA staff contributed to the success of
the conference by translating all material
and presentations into Mandarin, providing
translators, organising and transporting 212
people to site visits, coordinating media and
producing investment brochures.

There has since been interest from Chinese
companies in livestock, dairy and fodder.

Under the joint efforts made by both sides, our win-win cooperation will
definitely realise more and more benefits for the people of Zhejiang and WA.
— George Lu, Deputy Director General, Department of Foreign Affairs of the People’s Government
of Zhejiang Province
Shackleton farmer
Sean Powell gives
an overview of
grain production in
WA to conference
delegates as part of
the site visits

The conference provided WA and Chinese
business, industry and government leaders
with an opportunity to share knowledge,
facilitate networking and identify key trade
and investment opportunities.
The conference also resulted in WA and
Chinese companies signing an MoU to
advance work towards exporting live cattle
to China (see case study, p. 146).
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Disclosures and legal compliance

Financial statements
Certification of financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2014
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food have
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial
year ended 30 June 2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority (Director General)
Agriculture and Food WA
19 September 2014

Joe Murgia
Chief Finance Officer
Agriculture and Food WA
19 September 2014
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Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information, including Administered transactions and balances.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit
was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating
to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Department of Agriculture and Food at 30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
Matter of Significance
The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA) was established by the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 (the BAM Act) as
a body corporate that is governed by the Minister for Agriculture and Food. Although WAAA has financial transactions and assets and liabilities the
BAM Act does not require it to report these separately. However, for financial accountability purposes, the BAM Act requires WAAA’s activities to
be regarded as services under the control of the Department. Consequently, the Department has included WAAA’s income, expenses, assets and
liabilities in its financial statements as though they relate to the Department. The Department does not separately account for these transactions or
separately disclose them in its financial statements. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food during the year ended 30 June 2014.
Controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture and Food are those policies and procedures established by the Director General to ensure that
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance
with legislative provisions.
Director General’s Responsibility for Controls
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment
of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Agriculture
and Food based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of
relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified audit opinion.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion
During the eleven month period following the implementation of the Department of Agriculture and Food’s new financial management information
system on 1 August 2013 there were inadequate controls to ensure the integrity of financial data. Audit tests of the system identified system reporting
deficiencies, lack of reconciliations and that users had inappropriate system access capabilities. After year end, these control deficiencies were
resolved and reconciliations completed.
Further, during the 2013-14 financial year, the Department of Agriculture and Food used restricted cash funds to meet operational needs. Controls
over these restricted funds, which include specific purpose grants money, were inadequate to ensure that they were used for their approved purpose.
Qualified Opinion
In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraphs, the controls exercised by the
Department of Agriculture and Food are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year ended 30 June 2014.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome
achievement and service provision.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to ensure that the key
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the
Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014.
Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance
Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the year
ended 30 June 2014 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial
statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators
are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key
performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
22 September 2014
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2014
Cost of services
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services

2014

Note
6
7
8
9
10
15

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-government sources
Interest revenue
Gain on dilution of investment in joint venture entity
Other revenue
Total revenue

11
12
13
14

Total income other than income from State Government
Income from State Government
Service appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total Income from State Government

16

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

117,804
59,859
9,134
4,951
134
9,184
183
201,249

9,601
2,202
29,373
625
16,771
58,572

11,099
1,532
19,740
636
1,384
15,745
50,136

160,352

151,113

146,044
1,197
14,860
162,101

135,515
1,278
3,710
140,503

4,757
43
4,800

7,780
123
7,903

1,749

Other comprehensive income
Items not subsequently reclassified to net cost of services
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity
Total other comprehensive income

31

Total comprehensive income for the period

See also the 'Schedule of income and expenses by service'.
* Restatement of prior year - refer to note 50 Prior period adjustments
The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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$000

126,102
61,741
12,693
5,131
125
11,861
1,271
218,924

58,572

Net cost of services
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$000

2013
Restated*

6,549

50,136

(10,610)

(2,707)
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014

2014

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total current assets

Note
17
18
19

2,911
55,329
755
3,972
10,605
210,711
3,050
287,333

2,559
51,739
712
58
10,900
218,834
3,283
288,085

2,352
48,399
590
808
9,545
212,008
3,344
277,046

29
30

7,333
32,074
39,407

14,650
35,359
50,009

17,596
34,387
51,983

30

4,381
4,381

5,335
5,335

6,264
6,264

Total assets

352,153

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets

Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus
Total equity

31

See also the 'Schedule of assets and liabilities by service'.
* Restatement of prior year - refer to note 50 Prior period adjustments
The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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*Restated
$000
13,751
38,799
1,663
215
1,272
9,789
4,300
674
70,463

18
22
23
24
25
26
28

(750)
48,782
1,332
311
1,679
7,047
4,700
1,719
64,820

*Restated
$000

2012

7,863
35,749
1,576
207
1,264
9,355
4,500
1,143
61,657

20
21
22
23

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Investment accounted for using equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

$000

2013

349,742

347,509

43,788

55,344

58,247

308,365

294,398

289,262

69,674
224,107
14,584
308,365

62,256
219,350
12,792
294,398

54,413
211,570
23,279
289,262
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2014
Note
Balance at 1 July 2012
Correction of prior period errors
Restated balance at 1 July 2012
(Deficit)
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Transfer of net assets from other agency
Total
Balance as at 30 June 2013

Contributed
equity
$000

31

Balance at 1 July 2013
Surplus
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Total
Balance as at 30 June 2014
The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Reserves
$000

Accumulated
surplus/(deficit)
$000

Total equity
$000

52,753
1,660
54,413
-

216,285
(4,715)
211,570
7,780
7,780

24,967
(1,688)
23,279
(10,610)
123
(10,487)

294,005
(4,743)
289,262
(10,610)
7,903
(2,707)

8,543
(700)
7,843
62,256

219,350

12,792

8,543
(700)
7,843
294,398

62,256
-

219,350
4,757
4,757

12,792
1,749
43
1,792

294,398
1,749
4,800
6,549

7,418
7,418
69,674

224,107

14,584

7,418
7,418
308,365

Disclosures and legal compliance

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2014
Note

Cash flows from State Government
Service appropriation
Capital contributions
Holding account drawdown
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government
Utilised as follows:
Cash flows from operating activities
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments
Grants and subsidies

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

32

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments
Investment in joint venture
Purchase of non-current assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period

32

2014
$000

2013
$000

137,754
7,418
4,500
14,860
164,532

127,675
8,543
4,300
3,710
144,228

(130,917)
(67,806)
(6,497)
(606)
402
(11,861)

(117,568)
(60,280)
(8,001)
(228)
(9,184)

12,006
31,575
132
3,136
3,499
14,471
(152,466)

11,482
21,272
671
3,216
4,498
15,165
(138,957)

(2,590)
(4,979)

(14,127)

275
(7,294)

126
(14,001)

4,772
46,171
50,943

(8,730)
54,901
46,171

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Schedule of income and expenses by service for the year ended 30 June 2014
Business & supply
chain development
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000

Transformational
development
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000

Resource risk
management
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000

Total
2014

Cost of services
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity
method
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total cost of services

60,012
26,604
5,743

62,115
30,851
6,229

12,604
7,023
1,197

11,156
6,435
1,463

53,486
28,114
5,753

44,533
22,573
1,442

126,102
61,741
12,693

117,804
59,859
9,134

3,477
67
4,678
575
101,156

2,619
14
4,458
152
106,438

1,403
11
774
120
23,132

505
(3)
1,008
20,564

251
47
6,409
576
94,636

1,827
123
3,718
31
74,247

5,131
125
11,861
1,271
218,924

4,951
134
9,184
183
201,249

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-government sources
Interest revenue
Gain on dilution of investment in joint venture entity
Other revenue
Total revenue

2,991
1,599
21,324
271
8,670
34,855

4,968
1,080
13,911
172
732
7,224
28,087

340
149
1,987
112
1,903
4,491

388
81
1,045
285
141
3,991
5,931

6,270
454
6,062
242
6,198
19,226

5,743
371
4,784
179
511
4,530
16,118

9,601
2,202
29,373
625
16,771
58,572

11,099
1,532
19,740
636
1,384
15,745
50,136

34,855

28,087

4,491

5,931

19,226

16,118

58,572

50,136

66,301

78,351

18,641

14,633

75,410

58,129

160,352

151,113

65,253
540
3,222
69,015
2,714

67,838
676
992
69,506
(8,845)

13,776
114
1,485
15,375
(3,266)

12,101
131
891
13,123
(1,510)

67,015
544
10,153
77,711
2,301

55,576
471
1,827
57,874
(255)

146,044
1,197
14,860
162,101
1,749

135,515
1,278
3,710
140,503
(10,610)

Total income other than income from State
Government
Net cost of services
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
Surplus/(deficit) for the period

* Restatement of prior year - refer to note 50 Prior period adjustments
The Schedule of income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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$000

2013
Restated*
$000
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Schedule of assets and liabilities by service as at 30 June 2014
Business & supply
chain development
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000
Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Transformational
development
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000

Resource risk
management
2014
2013
Restated*
$000
$000

Total
2014

2013
Restated*
$000
$000

26,802
118,804
145,606

31,976
149,403
181,379

7,535
33,403
40,938

5,966
27,876
33,842

30,483
135,126
165,609

23,715
110,807
134,522

64,820
287,333
352,153

61,657
288,085
349,742

16,294
1,812
18,106

25,935
2,766
28,702

4,581
509
5,090

4,839
517
5,355

18,532
2,060
20,592

19,235
2,052
21,287

39,407
4,381
43,788

50,009
5,335
55,344

127,500

210,080

35,848

39,197

145,017

155,809

308,365

294,398

* Restatement of prior year - refer to note 50 Prior period adjustments
The Schedule of assets and liabilities by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations and income estimates

for the year ended 30 June 2014

Estimate

Delivery of Services
Item 97 Net amount appropriated to deliver services

2014
$000
135,620

2014
$000
144,480

Amount authorised by Other Statutes
– Agricultural and Related Resources Protection Act 1976
– Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
– Salaries & Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

1,204
360
137,184

Actual

Actual

$000
8,860

2014
$000
144,480

*Restated
2013
$000
134,007

1,204
360
146,044

8,860

1,204
360
146,044

1,173
335
135,515

31
25
10,529

6,518

7,418

(900)

7,418

8,543

(1,125)

38,597
38,597

14,683
14,683

23,914
23,914

14,683
14,683

45,823
45,823

(31,140)
(31,140)

182,299

168,145

31,874

168,145

189,881

(21,736)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

92,820
26,520
101,660
221,000
54,826
166,174
(28,990)
137,184

101,156
23,132
94,636
218,924
58,572
160,352
(14,308)
146,044

(8,336)
3,388
7,024
2,076
(3,746)
5,822
(14,682)
(8,860)

101,156
23,132
94,636
218,924
58,572
160,352
(14,308)
146,044

105,333
20,340
73,443
199,117
48,752
150,365
(14,850)
135,515

(4,177)
2,792
21,193
19,807
9,820
9,987
542
10,529

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Adjustment for other funding sources
Capital Appropriations

18,692
(12,174)
6,518

6,674
744
7,418

12,018
(12,918)
(900)

6,674
744
7,418

11,972
(3,429)
8,543

(5,298)
4,173
(1,125)

38,597
38,597

26,938
(12,255)
14,683

11,659
12,255
23,914

26,938
(12,255)
14,683

30,646
15,177
45,823

(3,708)
(27,432)
(31,140)

Capital
Item 156 Capital appropriations
Administered Transactions
Item 39 Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and Transfer Payments
Administered capital appropriations
Total administered transactions
Grand total
Details of Expenses by Service
Business and Supply Chain Development
Transformational Development
Resources Risk Management
Total Cost of Services
Less Total Income
Net Cost of Services
Adjustments(1)

Detail of income estimates
Less income disclosed as Administered Income (refer note 48)
Adjustments(1)
(1)

Actual

Variance

Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation
* Restatement of prior year - refer to note 50 Prior period adjustments
Note 37 ’Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actual results for 2014 and 2013
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Variance
$000
10,473
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Index of notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
Subject
General
General
General
General
General
General
Income
Income
Income
Income
Income
Income
Income
Income
Assets
Assets
Assets
Assets
Assets/Liability
Assets/Liability
Assets
Assets/Liability
Assets
Assets
Assets
Liability
Liability
Liability
Liability
Expense
Expense
Revenue/Asset
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
Expense
Expense
Expense

Policy
note
1
2
2(a)
2(b)
2(c)
2(d)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(e)
2(f)
2(g)
2(h)
2(i)
2(j)
2(k)
2(l)
2(m)
2(n)
2(o)
2(p)
2(q)
2(r)
2(s)
2(s)
2(s)
2(t)
2(u)
2(v)
2(w)
Note 3
2(y)
3
4
Note 4
5
5

Disclosure
Title of policy note
note
Australian Accounting Standards
Summary of significant accounting policies
General statement
Basis of preparation
Reporting entity
Contributed Equity
Income
Revenue recognition
Sale of goods
Interest
Service appropriations
Net appropriation determination
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Gains
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Intangible assets
Impairment of assets
Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Leases
Financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
Accrued salaries
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Inventories and biological assets
Receivables
Payables
Amounts due to the Treasurer
Provisions
Provisions - employee benefits
Provisions - other
Superannuation expense
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Joint ventures
Comparative figures
Memorandum of understanding
Goods and services tax
Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
Future Impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
6
Employee benefits expense
7
Supplies and services
8
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Subject
Expense
Expense
Income
Income
Income
Income
Income/Expense
Income
Income
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Asset
Liability
Equity
Cash Flow
Expense
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
General
External
External
External
External
General
General

63

Policy
note

Disclosure
note
9
10
2(e)
11
12
13
2(e)
14
2(e), 2(i)
15
2(e)
16
2(l)
17
2(l)
18
2(o)
19
2(o)
20
2(p)
21
2(n)
22
23
2(i)
24
25
2(f)
26
27
2(g)
28
2(q)
29
2(s)
30
2(d)
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
2(c)
40
2(v)
41
42
2(v)
43
2(k)
44
2(k)
44(a)
2(k)
44(b)
2(k)
44(c)
45
46
47
2(e)
48
2(x)
49
50

Title of policy note
Other expenses
Grants and subsidies
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-government sources
Other revenue
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Income from State Government
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Inventories
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Other assets
Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Investment accounted for using equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Fair value measurements
Intangible assets
Payables
Provisions
Equity
Notes to the statement of cash flows
Resources provided free of charge
Commitments
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Events occurring after the end of the balance sheet date
Explanatory statement
Remuneration of senior officers
Remuneration of auditors
Related bodies
Affiliated bodies
Structured entities
Jointly controlled assets
Financial instruments
Financial risk management objectives and policies
Categories of financial instruments
Financial instrument disclosures
Supplementary financial information
Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement
Special purpose accounts
Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
Disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by service
Prior period adjustments
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
1

Australian Accounting Standards
General
The financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia (the Department) for the year ended
30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual
reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act (2006) and the Treasurer's Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except
for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all
periods presented unless otherwise stated.
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The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($'000).
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the
process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the
financial statements.
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department and bodies listed at note 40 ‘Related bodies’.
Mission
The Department’s mission is to work with our partners to develop the WA agriculture and food sector; and to effectively
manage risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies.
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. It provides some services on a fee-for-service
basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. The financial statements encompass all funds through
which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions.
Services
The Department provides the following services:
Service 1: Business and supply chain development
•
Service 2: Transformational development
•
Service 3: Resource risk management
•
The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of government which are not controlled by, nor
integral to, the function of the Department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in the principal
financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are
presented at note 48 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’ and note 49 ‘Disclosure of administered
assets and liabilities by service’.
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(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the
government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners according to
Treasurer’s Instruction 955 Contribution by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited
directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non discretionary and non reciprocal. See note 31 ‘Equity’.
(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the
appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the
Department’s bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
See note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ for further information.
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Net appropriation determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the
Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2013-14 Budget Statements, the Department retained
$66.8m in 2014 ($83.2m in 2013) from the following:
proceeds from fees and charges;
•
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;
•
one-off revenues with a sale of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real property;
•
revenues from services provided though the establishment of memorandum of understandings; and
•
other Departmental revenue.
•
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually
when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control over
the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank
account.
Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of noncurrent assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of comprehensive income (other than where they
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
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Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their
fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings, and
historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment and infrastructure. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and
equipment and infrastructure are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market
buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent
market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount.
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This
normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the
depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land is
determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar appropriate utility (high restricted use land) or market
value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).
When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at
the end of the reporting period.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to
assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does
not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
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Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of land and buildings, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the
asset revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as
described in note 26 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for
each class of depreciable asset are:
Asset category
Buildings
Computer and communications equipment
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Plant and machinery
Vehicles and buses
Infrastructure
Other equipment

Life (years)
20 to 40 and/or estimated useful life
3 to 5
10
5 to 10
5 to 20
5 to 10
20 to 40
10

Land is not depreciated.
(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more
are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to profit or loss in the Statement of comprehensive income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful
life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite
useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences
Development costs
Software(a)
Website costs

up to 10 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years

(a)

Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.
Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the
future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000.
Other development costs are expensed as incurred.
Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the
year of acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an
asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning
phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building
or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured,
are capitalised.
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(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss
is recognised. As the Department is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the
end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by
reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
(i) Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Non-current assets held for distribution to owners are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of financial position. Assets classified as held for
distribution to owner are not depreciated or amortised.
All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the government. The Department of Lands (DoL) is the only agency
with the power to sell Crown land. The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DoL when the
land becomes available for sale.
(j) Leases
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived
from the leased properties.
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(k) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has three categories of financial instrument:
Loans and receivables
•
Available for sale financial instruments
•
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
•
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial assets
•
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Available for sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or
the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with the exception of
available for sale financial assets which are measured at fair value with fair value movements recognised in other
comprehensive income.
•

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
(m) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 29 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year.
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its value.
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The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding
requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
See also note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 22 ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.
(o) Inventories and biological assets
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is based on the first in first out
basis. Biological assets comprising livestock and field crops are valued at fair value less estimated point of sale costs and
costs necessary to get them to market. A gain or loss on valuation is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.
See note 19 ‘Biological assets’.
Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net
realisable value. See note 20 ‘Inventories’.
(p) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off
against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective
evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due
for settlement within 30 days. See also note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments' and note 21 ‘Receivables’.
(q) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30
days. See also note 44 ‘Financial instruments' and note 29 ‘Payables’.
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(r) Amounts due to the Treasury
The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Initial recognition and measurement, and
subsequent measurement, is at the amount repayable. Although there is no interest charged, the amount repayable is
equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12 months with the effect of discounting not being
material.

(s) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
See also note 30 ‘Provisions’.
(i)

Provisions - Employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting
period.
Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is
therefore considered to be 'other long-term employee benefits'. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary component such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service.
Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the
entitlement that will accrue in the future.
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued.
This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be
used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non vesting, an
expense is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income for this leave as it is taken.
Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to public service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund
an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set
aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.
Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
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Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to public service employees who have entered into an agreement to selffund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for
employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. This liability
is measured on the same basis as annual leave.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement and
implementation dates.
Eligible employees contribute to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed
to new members since 1995.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of the GSS became noncontributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on
or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund.
The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act (1992) . Contributions to these
accumulation schemes extinguish the Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who
are not members of the GSS.
The pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to the GSS is a defined benefit scheme. These benefits are
wholly unfunded and the liabilities for future payments are provided at the end of the reporting period. The liabilities
under the GSS are calculated annually by actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the end of the reporting period
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.
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The GSS, the WSS, and the GESB, where the current service superannuation charge is paid by the Department to
the GESB, are defined contribution schemes. The liabilities for current service superannuation charges under the
GWS, the WSS, and the GESB are extinguished by the concurrent payment of employer contributions to the GESB.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However,
from an agency perspective, apart from the pre-transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan under AASB 119.

(ii)

Provisions - Other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits
expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See notes 9 ‘Other expenses’ and 30
‘Provisions’.

(t) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income in profit or loss for defined contribution
plans, including the concurrent payment of employer contributions to the GSS scheme, as and when the contributions fall
due.
For defined benefits plans (being the pre-transfer component of the GSS), changes in the defined benefit obligation are
recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income either in profit or loss, or, other comprehensive income as follows:
Profit or loss:

- current service cost
- past service cost
- interest cost

Other comprehensive income:
- actuarial gains and losses
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(u) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets and/or
the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and the Department would otherwise pay for. A corresponding
expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of financial position.
Assets or service received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State
Government in the Statement of comprehensive income.
(v) Joint ventures
The Department has interests in a number of joint ventures. A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control.
Jointly controlled assets involve the joint control and ownership of assets. The assets are used to obtain benefits for the
venturers who take a share of the output from the assets and bear an agreed share of expenses incurred. Each venturer has
control over its share of the future economic benefits through its share in the jointly controlled assets (refer to note 43).
Jointly controlled entities involve the establishment of an entity in which each joint venturer has an interest. The entity
operates in the same way as any other entity, except that a contractual arrangement between the venturers establishes joint
control over the economic activity of the entity. The Department has adopted the equity method of accounting for jointly
controlled entities (refer to note 25).

(w) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial
year.
(x) Memorandum of understanding
During the year, the Department had a memorandum of understanding with the Agricultural Produce Commission and the
Rural Business Development Corporation. The objective of these arrangements is to establish the types and standards of
services to be provided, the basis for determining the level and the costs of services and responsibilities of the parties to the
memorandum.
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(y) Goods and services tax
In accordance with the grouping provisions, the right to receive GST and the obligation to pay GST rests with the Department
in regard to all GST transactions incurred by members of the group. As a result, separate GST transactions are not
recognised within the individual members' financial statements as they are all brought to account in the Department’s financial
statements.
3

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of the Department’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
prospectively.
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
Note 25, 42, 43 - Classification of joint ventures

4

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
and are detailed in the following notes:
Note 35 - Contaminated sites
Note 27 - Land and buildings measured at fair value
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Measurement of fair values
A number of the Department’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities.
Landgate provides valuation services for the Department's land and buildings. The Department provides the remaining useful
life and depreciated book value to Landgate to assist them in their calculation of Level 3 fair value. When measuring the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Department uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised
into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
•
Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
•
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
•
Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the
lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.
The Department recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.
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Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard:
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted on the Department.
AASB 13

Fair value measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and
requires additional disclosures for assets and liabilities measured at fair value. There is
no financial impact.

AASB 119

Employee benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the
recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.
The Department assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual leave
is a short term or other long-term employee benefit. The Department continues to
discount the annual leave liability and therefore the amendment has no impact on the
financial statements.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1,
2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 188, 119, 120, 121,
128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Into
2,4,12,13,14,17,19, 131 & 132]

This amendment replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in
September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 and
1049]
This amendment requires the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive
income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss. There
is no financial impact.
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Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued):

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 and 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011.
AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 and 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no
financial impact.
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not applied early any
of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where
applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
Int 21

Levies
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a
government levy imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact for the
Department at reporting date.
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5

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

AASB 9

Financial instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2017

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2017. The
impact of this standard is yet to be assessed.
AASB 10

Consolidated financial statements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities,
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB
2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and
Other Amendments. The impact of the adoption of the new Standard is yet to be
assessed.
AASB 11

Joint arrangements
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint
Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that
exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the
arrangement.

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB
2012-10. The impact of the adoption of the new standard is yet to be assessed.
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5

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

AASB 12

Disclosure of interests in other entities
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB
127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in
Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. Mandatory application was
deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

AASB 128

Investments in associates and joint ventures
This Standard, issued in August 2011 supersedes AASB 128 Investments in
Associates, introducing a number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of
changed ownership interest.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2014

Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The
impact of adoption of the new Standard is yet to be assessed.
AASB 1031

Materiality
This Standard is an interim standard cross-referencing definitions of 'materiality' in other
standards and will remain operative until references to AASB 1031 are removed from
other standards. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1055

Budgetary reporting
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the financial statements of notfor-profit entities within the General Government Sector. The Department will be
required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major
variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1,
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 and 1038
and Int 10 and 12]
[modified by AASB 2010-7]
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5

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136,
137, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 and 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation
and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121,
124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 and 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 and 17]
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issue of AASB 10,
AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate financial statements and AASB 128 Investments in
associates and joint ventures. Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit
entities by ASB 2012-10. The Department is yet to analyse the impact of the suite of
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies
identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of
'currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off' and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. The Department does not
routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle on a net
basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014
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5

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial
assets
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial
impact.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10,
12 and 1049]
The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining
whether a not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not a
key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its
own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework,
Materiality and Financial Instruments
This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the
deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017
(Part C). The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact
of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

1 Jul 2014
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6

Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries(a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans(b)
Long service leave
Annual leave
Other related expenses
(a)

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component,
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component

(b)

Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme
(contributions paid)

Employment on-costs expenses are included at note 9 'Other expenses'.
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 30 ‘Provisions’.

7

Supplies and services
Professional services(a)
Travel
Communications
Consumables
Lease, rent and hire costs
Consultancies expense
Utilities, rates and charges
Insurance(b)
Licences, fees and registration
Advertising
General administration costs

2014
$000
103,107
10,541

2013
$000
95,483
10,405

2014

2013

3,429
3,148
5,877
126,102

$000
25,679
3,545
2,585
14,004
4,553
1,609
2,836
1,928
1,690
573
2,739
61,741

*Restated (see note 50)
(a) Includes audit fee, see also note 39 'Remuneration of auditors'
(b) Includes workers' compensation insurance.

87

3,563
2,645
5,708
117,804

Restated*
$000
21,330
3,819
1,920
12,808
6,174
3,548
3,238
2,679
964
412
2,967
59,859
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8

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Buildings
Computer and communications equipment
Furniture fixtures and fittings
Office equipment
Plant and machinery
Infrastructure
Vehicles and buses
Other equipment
Total depreciation
Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation expense

9

Other expenses
Doubtful debts expense
Employment on-costs
Return of unused grants
Miscellaneous other

4,754
757
2
68
1,806
50
615
36
8,088

1,338
1,338

1,046
1,046

12,693

9,134

11,731
130
11,861

88

2013
$000

5,688
1,845
2
189
2,256
268
1,107
11,355

872
(2,333)
55
1,531
125

10 Grants and subsidies
Recurrent
Grant payments
Donations and sponsorships
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2014
$000

(223)
142
85
130
134

8,729
455
9,184
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11 User charges and fees
User charges and fees
Memorandum of understanding - services provided
Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
12 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants
13 Grants and subsidies from non-government sources
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1
Rural industry research funds
Meat and Livestock Australia
Grains Research and Development Corporation
Rural Industry Research and Development Corporation
Australian Wool Innovation Pty Ltd
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research
CRC research grants
Commercial grants
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Horticulture industry
Other grants and subsidies
Total grants and subsidies from non-government sources
14 Other revenue
Levies, rates and licences
Return of grant allocations
Royalties
Rents and leases
Recoups of operating expenses
Other

89

2014
$000
8,374

2013
$000
10,698

620
607
9,601

145
256
11,099

2,202

1,532

1,324
16,403
737
369
82
2,064
6,094

773
6,213
123
220
202
2,005
9,146

2,229
71
29,373

1,049
9
19,740

5,698
118
355
1,680
8,920
16,771

4,231
2,769
1,547
1,583
1,874
3,741
15,745
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15 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Infrastructure
Vehicles and transportation equipment
Plant and equipment

2014
$000

Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Land
Buildings
Office equipment
Vehicles and transportation equipment
IT equipment
Plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss)
16 Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a)
The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other State
Government agencies during the period:
Resources received free of charge(b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Landgate
State Solicitor's Office
Department of Finance
Department of Water
Department of Health
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57
88
132
277

2013
$000

83
51
134

420
876
2
5
245
1,548

41
57
8
9
202
317

(1,271)

(183)

146,044

135,515

574
298
319
1
5
1,197

665
285
308
20
1,278

Disclosures and legal compliance

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
16 Income from State Government (continued)
Royalties for Regions funds:(c)
Regional community services fund
Regional men's health initiative
State barrier fence and wild dog management
Rangeland reform program
State barrier fence
Regional workers incentives allowance payments
Royal Show
Regional infrastructure and headwork fund
Carbon farming
Gascoyne foodbowl
Stormwater reuse
Water efficiency
Water opportunities - Cockatoo sands
Water opportunities - La Grange
Pilbarra hinterland agricultural development initiative
Total income from State Government

2014
$000

2013
$000
541
465
560
800

476
25
150
391
617
-

738
6,000
945
1,040
600
1,021
2,150
14,860

386
209
500
956
3,710

162,101

140,503

(a)

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).
The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during
the year.

(b)

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets and/or services that can be
reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of
contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

(c)

This is a sub-fund within the over-arching 'Royalties for Regions funds'. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA
regional areas.
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17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash advances
Cash at bank
Cash and cash equivalents

2014
$000

55
(805)
(750)

18 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Royalties for Regions funds(a)

Special purpose accounts(b)
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1 (Non-interest bearing)
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Non-interest bearing)
Declared Pest Account
Land Conservation Districts Fund
Plant Research and Development
Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
Total current
(a)
(b)

Royalties for Regions funds: to hold and distribute funds for projects and programs in WA regional areas.
Receipts and disbursements are disclosed in note 47 in accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 1103(15).

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account(c)
Total non-current
(c)

Funds held in the suspense account are to be used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th
pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents
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2013
$000

64
7,799
7,863

7,527

3,848

14,153
4,220
2,131
419
33
7,456
5,664
5,771
1,408
48,782

7,983
2,812
2,072
537
171
7,004
6,058
4,258
1,006
35,749

2,911
2,911

2,559
2,559

51,693

38,308
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19 Biological assets
Livestock
Field crops

2014
$000

848
484
1,332

20 Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale
Raw materials and stores
Finished goods
Total current
21 Receivables
Current
Receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
GST receivable
Interest receivable
Total current receivables
Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period
Doubtful debt expense
Amounts written off during the period
Balance at end of period

2013
$000

926
650
1,576

1,671
8
1,679

1,220
44
1,264

5,777
(969)
607
986
646
7,047

8,667
(105)
122
518
153
9,355

105
872
(8)
969

358
(223)
(30)
105

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit
enhancements as security for receivables.

See also note 2(p) 'Receivables' and note 44 'Financial instruments'.
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22 Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
Current
Non-current
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that
it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. See note 2(n)
'Amounts receivable for services (holding account)'.

2014
$000
4,700
55,329
60,029

2013
$000
4,500
51,739
56,239

The reconciliation at the beginning and end of the current year and previous year is
set out below.
Opening balance of holding account
Non-cash appropriation
Departmental drawdown
Closing balance of holding account
23 Other assets
Current
Prepayments
Lease rentals
Goods and services
Registrations
Total current assets
Available for sale financial assets
Listed shares
Unlisted shares
Total non-current assets

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

94

56,239
8,290
(4,500)
60,029

52,699
7,840
(4,300)
56,239

255
1,383
81
1,719

372
680
91
1,143

510
245
755

467
245
712
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24 Non-current assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Land and buildings
Opening balance
Assets reclassified as held for distribution to owners
Total assets classified as held for distribution to owners
Less assets distributed
Closing balance

2014
$000
58
3,928
3,986
(14)
3,972
2014

25 Investment accounted for using equity method
Investment in joint venture entity at initial cost of investment
Share of profit/(loss) using the equity method
Recognition of gain on dilution

$000
18,807
(13,126)
4,924
10,605

*Restated (see note 50)

2013
$000
808
808
(750)
58
2013
Restated*
$000
13,971
(7,995)
4,924
10,900

The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA), a body corporate established under the Biosecurity and Agriculture
Management Act ( 2007), is a joint investor in:
InterGrain Pty Ltd
InterGrain Pty Ltd was incorporated on 26 October 2007 and is resident in Australia. The principal activity of the joint venture
is to commercialise the research from wheat and barley breeding.
As at 30 June 2014, WAAA holds a 48.67% (2013: 48.67%) equity interest in InterGrain Pty Ltd. The Department regards
the investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd as a joint venture entity, due to the contractually agreed sharing of control over an
economic activity and the financial and operating decisions relating to the activity requiring the unanimous consent of the
shareholders.
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25 Investment accounted for using equity method (continued)
Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre Ltd (Limited by Guarantee) (AEGIC)
AEGIC was incorporated on 24 October 2012. The primary aim of the joint venture is to lead the establishment and operation
of a centre of science, technology and innovation to facilitate the competitiveness of the Australian grains industry with a
particular focus on export markets.
The Department has no obligations with respect to liabilities incurred by InterGrain Pty Ltd and the Australian Export Grains
Innovation Centre (AEGIC).
Summary financials of equity accounted investees
Summary financials from the management accounts for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage
ownership by the Department:
$000
Intergrain
Current assets
Non current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Revenue
Expenses
Income/(loss)
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2014

$000
AEGIC

$000
Intergrain

2013

$000
AEGIC

11,511
3,115
14,626

11,464
106
11,570

15,778
5,004
20,782

7,391
1
7,392

3,211
24
3,235

519
519

3,948
3,948

1,208
1,208

11,391

11,051

16,834

6,184

8,332
(13,716)
(5,384)

1,309
(6,330)
(5,021)

9,582
(15,247)
(5,665)

187
(4,573)
(4,386)
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26 Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value

2014

2013
Restated*
$000

$000

Buildings
At fair value
Computer and communications equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furniture fixtures and fittings
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Office equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Plant and machinery
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Vehicles and buses
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

97

125,629

127,970

62,799

69,667

9,108
(5,522)
3,586

5,698
(4,058)
1,640

91
(88)
3

91
(86)
5

959
(753)
206

1,000
(633)
367

33,765
(25,032)
8,733

32,839
(23,425)
9,414

10,716
(9,872)
844

10,969
(9,073)
1,896
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26 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Infrastructure
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

2013
Restated*
$000

$000
8,985
(552)
8,433

Other equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

14
14

Capital works in progress
Buildings
Other
Total property, plant and equipment
* Restated (see note 50)
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2014
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1,032
(285)
748
357
(183)
174

263
201
464

4,154
2,799
6,953

210,711

218,834
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26 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2014

Carrying amount at start of period
Additions

Disposals
Transfers(a)
Revaluations increments/(decrements)

Depreciation

Write-off of assets

Carrying amount at end of period

Land

Computer and
communications
equipment

Buildings

$000

127,970

-

(422)

$000

$000

69,667

761

Furniture
fixtures and
fittings

1,640

(875)

5

3,619

-

(5,688)

125,629

62,799

3,345

Plant and
machinery

367

33

-

(2)

-

(3)

(1,845)

(2)

(189)

3,586

3

206

-

-

$000

-

-

(4,411)

-

$000

172

(3,331)
1,412

Office
equipment

-

-

-

-

-

$000

Vehicles and
buses

9,414

1,660

$000

Infrastructure

1,896

$000

748

60

(244)

-

159

Other equipment

Capital works in
progress

174

6,953

$000

-

14

-

-

$000

1,174

-

Total
$000

218,834

3,874

(1,543)

-

7,953

(174)

(7,663)

(3,851)

(2,256)

(1,107)

(268)

-

-

(11,355)

8,733

844

8,433

464

210,711

-

-

-

(5)

-

-

-

-

-

-

14

4,757

(5)

(a) The balance in transfers consists of transfers to assets held for distribution (note 24).
State Barrier Fencing has been reclassified from buildings to Infrastructure.

2013
Carrying amount at start of period as
previously reported
Prior period adjustments
Restated balance*
Additions

Disposals
Transfers(b)
Revaluations increments/(decrements)

Depreciation

Reclassification to profit or loss

Write-off of assets

Carrying amount at end of period

Land

Computer and
communications
equipment

Buildings

$000

$000

Furniture
fixtures and
fittings

$000

$000

121,410

71,072

1,242

121,410

71,336

1,242

-

-

-

-

60

264

-

234

7

327

9,317

2,241

798

208

-

(2)

(169)

(7)

-

-

(4,754)

(756)

-

(42)

(8)

127,970

69,667

$000

798

-

73

$000

2,223

-

-

$000

9,311

182

-

$000

Infrastructure Other equipment

327

-

873

1,179

Vehicles and
buses

7

28

6,500

Plant and
machinery

$000

1,084

-

1,002

Office
equipment

-

166
-

-

-

6

2,099
43

-

18

277
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(56)

(33)

-

-

-

1,640

5

367

9,414

-

1,896

-

748

-

(1,688)

(36)

(37)

212,008

-

(50)

-

5,122

4,464

(615)

$000

214,887

2

(1,806)

Total

8,263

(3,141)

(68)

(29)

$000

(26)

(1)

(104)

Capital works in
progress

-

(2,879)
9,182

(178)

(590)

7,679

(8,086)

-

(945)

(1,042)

174

6,953

218,834

-

(139)

(b) The balance in transfers consists of the following component:
An amount of $590,000 was removed from Capital works in progress and included in intangible assets (note 28).
* Restated (see note 50)
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27 Fair value measurements
Non-current assets held for sale (note 24)
Land (note 26)
Buildings (note 26)

Level 1
-

Level 2
435
5,854
4,631
10,920

Level 3
3,537
119,775
58,168
181,480

Fair Value at
end of period
3,972
125,629
62,799
192,400

Transfers into and transfers out of the fair value hierarchy level are recognised at the end of the financial reporting period.
Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 and Level 3 fair values
Level 2 fair values of land and buildings are derived using the market approach. Land with public use restrictions have been
categorised as Level 3 due to adjustments by Level 3 inputs to the market approach. Level 3 fair values of buildings are
derived using the cost approach.
The following methods are used to determine the fair value measurements:
Level 2 valuation inputs
Level 2 valuation inputs were used to determine the fair value of market type land and building assets.
Fair values have been derived from sales prices of comparable land and properties after adjusting for differences in key
attributes such as property size, assuming open and liquid market transactions and that land is in a vacant and marketable
condition. Adjustments are made for comparable utility. The most significant inputs into this valuation approach are price per
square metre.
The fair value of held for sale assets has been determined by reference to market evidence of sale prices of comparable
assets.
Level 3 valuation inputs
Level 3 valuation inputs were used to determine the fair value of non-market or current use type land and building assets.
Assets were valued at the Level 3 valuation input hierarchy where there was no observable market evidence of sales prices
for comparable sites or where significant Level 3 inputs were used on a recurring basis.
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings, including those held for sale, are valued at replacement cost and is
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the
depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated
depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, obsolescence
and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. While unit rates based on square metres could be supported from market
evidence, other inputs (such as estimates of residual value, useful life, pattern of consumption and asset condition) required
extensive professional judgement and impacted significantly on the determination of fair value, and have therefore been
classified as having been valued using Level 3 valuation inputs.
Fair value for restricted use land is based on a market approach, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable land
that is unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land) or
comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
The following table presents the changes in the fair value of assets measured using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) for recurring fair value measurements:
Held for sale
Land
Buildings
2014
$000
$000
$000
Fair value at start of period
33
121,745
64,948
Additions
833
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other
Comprehensive income
12
1,360
3,152
Transfers (from/(to) Level 2)
(27)
Other transfers
3,501
(2,987)
(4,383)
Disposals
(9)
(343)
(876)
Depreciation expense
(5,479)
Fair value at end of period
3,537
119,775
58,168
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)
Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement. There were no significant interrelationships between the unobservable inputs.

Description
Land

Buildings

Fair value as
at 30 June
2014
$000
$119,775

$58,168

Range of
unobservable
inputs
(weighted
Valuation
Unobservable
technique(s)
inputs
average)
Market approach Historical cost per $0 - $337 per m2
square metre
($144 per m2)
2
floor area (m )
Depreciated
replacement
cost

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair
value
Higher value of
similar land
increases
estimated fair
value

Consumed
2.5% - 5% per
Greater
year
consumption of
economic benefit/
obsolescence of (2.82% per year) economic benefit
asset
or increased
obsolescence
lowers fair value
Historical cost per $19 - $23,167 per Higher historical
square metre
m2
cost per m2
2
2
increases fair
floor area (m )
($2,555 per m )
value
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)
Valuation processes
Fair value assessments are undertaken by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and are
determined by professionally qualified valuers. An annual assessment is undertaken of land and building assets in the
Government Property Register. Every four years a principle valuation calculation is performed by physical inspection or
verification of the asset. In other years, fair values are determined by indexing the previous year’s fair value amount by a
factor which represents the analysis of the movement in valuation inputs from year to year. The changes in Level 2 and Level
3 fair values of land and buildings are then analysed by the Department at the end of each reporting period and discussed.
The main Level 3 inputs used are derived and evaluated as follows:
Selection of land with restricted utility
Because of the restricted nature and unique characteristics of some land, there is no observable market evidence of sales
prices. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility and
adjustments made to the price per square metre. Relevant comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
Historical cost per square metre floor area
The cost of constructing specialised buildings are obtained from the actual construction costs per square metre of other
similar or reference buildings, historical building costs, quantity surveyors and standard rates from construction guides.
Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of assets
This represents the difference between a buildings replacement cost and its current condition. This is estimated by the
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
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28 Intangible assets
Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation

2014
$000

2013
Restated*
$000

4,824
(3,158)
1,666

3,129
(1,820)
1,309

1,384
3,050

1,974
3,283

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

1,309
1,695
(1,338)
1,666

2,321
35
(1,046)
1,309

Capital works in progress
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Adjustment
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Transfer to computer software
Carrying amount at end of period

1,974
1,105
(1,695)
1,384

1,024
2,790
(2,395)
555
1,974

Capital works in progress
At cost
Total intangible sssets

* Restated (see note 50)
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2014
$000

29 Payables
Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries
Other payables
Total current

See also note 2(q) 'Payables' and note 44 'Financial instruments'.
* Restated (see note 50)

30 Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a)
Long service leave(b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)
Other provisions
Total current provisions
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b)

105

2013
Restated*
$000

1,215
1,474
2,764
1,880
7,333

7,088
4,395
2,607
560
14,650

13,200
14,903
28,103

12,174
16,942
29,116

3,571
400
32,074

5,843
400
35,359

3,848
3,848

4,341
4,341
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30 Provisions (continued)
Non-current (continued)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(c)
Other provisions
Total non-current provisions

2014
$000

533
4,381

2013
Restated*
$000
594
400
5,335

* Restated (see note 50)
(a)

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

(b)

2013
$000

7,716
5,484
13,200

7,171
5,003
12,174

5,211
13,540
18,751

16,942
4,341
21,283

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months of the end of the reporting period

(c)

2014
$000

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of
employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the
unwinding of the discount, is disclosed in note 9 'Other expenses'.
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30 Provisions (continued)

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than
employee benefits are set out below:
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions recognised
Carrying amount at the end of period

2014
$000

6,437
(2,333)
4,104

31 Equity

2014

The Western Australia Government holds the equity interest in the Department on
behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of
the Department. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation(a)
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
WA Police
Balance at end of period

(b)

$000

2013
$000

6,295
142
6,437
2013
Restated*
$000

62,256

54,413

7,418

8,543

69,674

(700)
62,256

* Restated (see note 50)
(a)

Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net
assets between State Government agencies have been designated as contributions by
owners in Treasurer's Instruction 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned
Public Sector Entities'.
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31 Equity (continued)
(b)

Treasurer's Instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to government to
be accounted for as distribution to owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038.

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the
revaluation of land and buildings, as described in accounting policy note 2(f)
'Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure'.
Balance at start of period
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land
Buildings
Balance at end of period
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period
Result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Balance at end of period
Total equity at end of period
* Restated (see note 50)
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2014
$000

2013
Restated*
$000

219,350
4,757
1,412
3,345
224,107

211,570
7,780
6,601
1,179
219,350

12,792
1,749
43
14,584

23,279
(10,610)
123
12,792

308,365

294,398
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32 Notes to the statement of cash flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of cash flows is
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: current (note 18)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents: non-current (note 18)

(750)
48,782
2,911
50,943

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in)
operating activities
Net cost of services
Non cash items
Net (gain)/loss on sale of assets (note 15 'Net gain/(loss) on disposal of noncurrent assets')
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 'Depreciation and amortisation
expense')
Doubtful debt expense (note 9 'Other expenses')
Resources received free of charge (note 16 'Income from State Government')
Other non-cash items
Share of net (profit)/loss in joint venture using equity method

109

2014
$000

(160,352)

2013
$000

7,863
35,749
2,559
46,171

(151,113)

1,271

183

12,693
872
1,196
(14)
2,831

9,134
(223)
1,278
4,951
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32 Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued)
(Increase)/decrease in assets
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables(a)
Available for sale financial assets
Other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Payables(a)
Provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b)
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c)
Net cash used in operating activities
(a)

note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b)

This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

(c)
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2014
$000

2013
$000

244
(104)
(415)
1,738
(576)

87
8
8
107
(122)
(469)

(6,652)
(4,239)
(491)
(468)
(152,466)

(2,214)
43
(287)
(327)
(138,957)
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33 Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of
charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Department.
Agricultural Produce Commission
Rural Business Development Corporation
Department of Environmental Regulation
Forest Products Commission
34 Commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Non-cancellable lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the expenditure
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as
follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
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2014
$000

2013
$000

65
80
44
8
197

63
278
44
385

618
618

823
823

1,755
1,794
44
3,593

2,212
1,944
44
4,200
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34 Commitments (continued)
The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five year terms, with rents payable monthly in advance. Contingent
rental provisions within the lease agreements require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI
or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the leases at the end of their five year terms for an additional term of five years.
A contractual arrangements exists between State Fleet and the Department for the lease of vehicles based on both a vehicle
kilometre specification and vehicle lease terms. Lease payments are made on a monthly basis. The Department is
responsible for registration, insurance and servicing of leased vehicles in line with manufacturer's recommendations, as well
as the cost of refurbishment on return. State Fleet carries the residual risk on the sale of the vehicle.
35 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements.
Litigation in progress
The Department has three pending litigation claims that may affect the financial position to the value of $1.25m pertaining to
cases relating to alleged quarantine destruction orders, incorrect advice given to eradicate plant pests and defamation. These
are currently with the State Solicitor's Office. It is uncertain when the cases will be finalised. RiskCover is providing full
indemnity in the event that the Department is found to be liable.
Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act (2003) (the Act), the Department is required to report known and suspected contaminated
sites to the Department of Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, after specific site investigations,
reports are submitted to DER to classify these sites. DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health and
the environment. Where a risk is identified, the Department may have a liability in respect of further investigation or actual
remediation of the site. A number of suspected contaminated sites are being retained and managed. The Department is not
in a position to provide specific amounts that may be required to investigate or remediate individual sites or suggest a
timetable for how long issues at individual sites will remain outstanding.
Two sites, Depot facility at Jerramungup and Kulin airstrip, have been classified as contaminated with the chemical
fenitrothion.
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36 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
There were no events that occurred after the end of the reporting period that would materially affect the financial statements
or disclosures.
37 Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statement
titled ‘Summary of consolidated account appropriations and income estimates’ are shown below. Significant variations are
considered to be those greater than 10% or $4 million.
Significant variance between estimate and actual for 2014

2014
Estimate
$000
137,184

2014
Actual
$000
146,044

Variance
$000
8,860

6,518

7,418

900

3. Business and supply chain development
Share of equity accounted losses in relation to Intergrain and
AEGIC were not included in the estimate (refer note 25). This is
also impacted by the voluntary separation scheme.

92,820

101,156

8,336

4. Transformational development
Due to delays in the implementation of the Royalties for Regions
Gascoyne foodbowl initiative.

26,520

23,132

(3,388)

5. Resources risk management
Due to delays in the implementation of the Royalties for Regions
Gascoyne foodbowl initiative related to Resources risk
management.

101,660

94,636

(7,024)

1. Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Additional funds were provided for the voluntary separation
scheme.
2. Capital appropriations
The actuals include the recognition of the state barrier fence
Royalties for Regions funds as capital.
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37 Explanatory statement (continued)

2014
Estimate
$000

2014
Actual
$000

Variance
$000

6. Purchase of non-current physical assets
Of the estimated purchases, approximately $10 million did not
meet the definition of a non-current asset in terms of the
Australian Accounting Standards and was therefore expensed.

18,692

6,674

(12,018)

7. Administered income
The Caring for our Country program reduced as a result of
changes to the funding arrangements by Federal government.
This was partially offset by a return of $11 million grant monies
from Water Corporation.

38,597

14,683

(23,914)

Significant variance between 2014 and 2013 actuals

2014
Actual
$000

8. Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Additional funding was provided for the voluntary separation
scheme resulted in the actual appropriations being greater than
prior year.

2013
Actual
$000

Variance
$000

144,480

134,007

9. Capital appropriations
Reduced capital appropriation as a result of completed works
relating to new crops for new climate environment facilities in
Merredin and Katanning.

7,418

8,543

(1,125)

10. Administered expenditure
The Caring for our Country spend was reduced as a result of
changes to the funding arrangements by Federal government.

14,683

45,823

(31,140)

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

114

10,473

Disclosures and legal compliance

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
37 Explanatory statement (continued)

2014
Actual
$000
101,156

2013
Actual
$000
105,333

12. Transformational development
The voluntary separation scheme resulted in the actual exceeding
last year, and a change in the allocation basis of the loss in joint
venture.

23,132

20,340

2,792

13. Resource risk management
The increased cost is as a result of reallocation from Business
and supply chain development to reflect revised business focus,
payment of voluntary separation scheme and the start up of
further Royalties for Regions programs.

94,636

73,443

21,193

14. Total income
Additional Grain Research Development Corporation funding was
received in 2013/14.

58,572

48,752

9,820

15. Purchase of non-current physical assets
Expenditure in the current year did not meet the definition of noncurrent assets in terms of the Australian Accounting Standards
and was therefore expensed resulting in a lower reported figure.

6,674

11,972

(5,298)

26,938

30,646

(3,708)

11. Business and supply chain development
Costs have been reallocated to Resource risk management in the
current financial year as a result of revised business focus.

16. Administered income
The Caring for our Country program reduced as a result of
changes to the funding arrangements by Federal government.
This was partially offset by a return of $11 million grant monies
from Water Corporation.
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Variance
$000
(4,177)
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38 Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non
monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following
bands are:
$
0 - 190,000
190,001 - 200,000
200,001 - 210,000
210,001 - 220,000
220,001 - 230,000
240,001 - 250,000
340,001 - 350,000
360,001 - 370,000

Base remuneration and superannuation
Annual leave and long service leave accruals
Other benefits
Total remuneration of senior officers

2014
3
1
1
1

2013
1
2
1
1
1
-

2014
$000

2013
$000

1,346
41
28
1,415

1,274
31
43
1,348

343

307

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the
Department in respect of senior officers.
There are no senior officers who are presently members of the Government Pension
Scheme.
39 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators
The expense is included in note 7 'Supplies and services'.
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40 Related bodies
The following Industry funding schemes are deemed to be Related bodies by the Treasurer:
•
The Cattle Industry funding scheme
•
The Grains, Seeds and Hay Industry funding scheme
•
The Sheep and Goat Industry funding scheme
The funds of the three schemes are reported as Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 18) and movements in Special
purpose accounts (note 47).
The transactions and results of these related bodies have been included in the financial statements.

41 Affiliated bodies
The Department had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.
42 Structured entities
(a)

Major Cooperative research agreements
Name of Operation
Cooperative Research Centre for Sheep
Cooperative Research Centre for Future Farm Industries (ceased operations on 30 June 2014)
Cooperative Research Centre for Pork
Plant Biosecurity Cooperative Research Centre
Invasive Animals Cooperative Research Centre
Cooperative Research Centre for Remote Economic Participation
The Department had no assets employed in the Cooperative Research Centres during the financial year.

(b)

Other arrangements
The Department has collaborative arrangements with other parties to perform research and share in the outputs (i.e.
intellectual property) in proportion to each participant's research input, initial intellectual property or cash contributions.
These collaborative arrangements also share the characteristics of joint venture operations. The principal activities of
these joint venture operations are scientific research and development, extension and technology transfer with the
ultimate aim of sharing in the output. The numbers of this type of arrangement make it impractical to list separately.
The Department's contributions to these arrangements are included in the Department's operating statements.

117

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

Disclosures and legal compliance

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

43 Jointly controlled assets
The Department has shared ownership of Crown land and buildings with the Department of Environmental Regulation. The
following amounts represent the fair value of the assets employed in the joint ownership:
2014
2013
Non-current assets
$000
$000
Land
7,277
5,937
Building
1,253
69
8,530
6,006
The Department's share of these assets has been included in property, plant and equipment.
The shared ownership of Crown land and buildings with the Department of Environmental Regulation relates to the following
sites:
(a)

Ravensthorpe was established as a purpose built co-located facility. Both parties meet all costs equally with
regards to proposed future developments. The Department is responsible for all costs associated with the disposal
of the site should it be deemed surplus to their requirements.

(b)

Forrestfield was established in 1993 to protect fauna and flora located on the site and the Department has been
responsible for all costs in regards to maintaining the site and any proposed future developments.

44 Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
Treasurer's Advances, receivables, payables and listed and unlisted investments. The Department has limited
exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks
identified below.
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44 Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in note 21
'Receivables'.
Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding accounts). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting
period there was no significant concentration of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence, such as observable data in
client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 44(c) 'Financial instrument
disclosures'.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Department
is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Department has appropriate
procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Department's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does trade in foreign
currency but values are not considered material. The Department is not materially exposed to other price risks (for
example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity
analysis at note 44(c), the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of
restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and there are no
borrowings.
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44 Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables(a)
Available for sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
(a)

(c)

2014
$000

2013
$000

(750)
51,693
6,061
755

7,863
38,308
8,837
712

7,333

14,650

The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following details the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.
The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of
financial assets as shown below. Disclosed below is the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired
and impaired financial assets. It is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets
it holds.
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44 Financial instruments (continued)
At 30 June 2014, the ageing of trade and other receivables that are not
impaired was as follows:
Neither past due nor impaired
Up to 1 month past due
1-3 months past due
3-12 months past due
1-5 years past due
More than 5 years past due

2014
$000
3,404
346
502
982
543
5,777

2013
$000
6,538
427
355
1,266
146
8,732

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
All the Department's financial instruments are non-interest bearing with the exception of restricted cash and cash
equivalents of $32,498,000 (2013: $25,694,000) which earns interest at a variable rate. The maturity date of all
financial instruments is 30 days.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Department is exposed to interest rate risk on its restricted cash and cash equivalents of $32,498,000 (2013:
$25,694,000). A 1% change in interest rates at reporting period end would result in an increase/decrease in profit or
loss and equity of $324,980 (2013: $256,940) depending upon whether interest rates increased/decreased. It is
assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or
fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated
in the applicable notes.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
45 Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
Non-current assets
During the financial year $6,000 (2013: $1,608,000) was written off the
Department's asset register under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
Irrecoverable amounts and inventory
During the financial year $8,000 (2013: $30,000) was written off in bad
debts under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
Biological assets
During the financial year $6,000 (2013: $60,000) was written off the
Department's ledger under the authority of:
The accountable authority
The Minister
(b)

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public moneys and public and other property through theft or
default
Amounts recovered - insurance

46 Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement
The provision of services to the Indian Ocean territories are recouped from the
Commonwealth government.
Opening balance
Receipts
Payments
Closing balance
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2014
$000

2013
$000

6
6

141
141

8
8

30
30

6
6

60
60

4

18

(4)
-

(8)
10

82
136
(145)
73

133
117
(168)
82
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
47 Special purpose accounts
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1 (non-interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of agricultural research projects.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2014
$000

2013
$000

7,983
30,692
(24,522)
14,153

10,459
22,587
(25,063)
7,983

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from industry and other
organisations in support of agricultural research projects.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2,812
3,901
(2,493)
4,220

3,180
3,399
(3,767)
2,812

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (non-interest bearing)
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct Commonwealth
funded activities.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period

2,072
1,785
(1,726)
2,131

2,178
2,070
(2,176)
2,072

7,004
783
(331)
7,456

6,070
2,132
(1,198)
7,004

Plant Research and Development
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds to conduct plant research
and development in Western Australia.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
123
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
47 Special purpose accounts (continued)
Cattle Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the cattle industry to
enable industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to serious
pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and
which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
Declared Pest Account
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds collected to carry out
measures to control declared pests on and in relation to areas for which the rates
were collected.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
Land Conservation Districts Fund
The purpose of the fund is to promote soil conservation through research and
implementation of soil and conservation measures and practices.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
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2014
$000

2013
$000

6,058
367
(761)
5,664

6,115
357
(414)
6,058

537
2,455
(2,573)
419

393
6,735
(6,591)
537

171
44
(182)
33

106
233
(168)
171
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
47 Special purpose accounts (continued)
Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the grain, seeds and
hay industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate
responses to serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the
industry sector and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at
the national level.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme
The purpose of the fund is to receive and disperse funds from the sheep and goats
industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses
to serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry
sector and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the
national level.
Balance at start of period
Receipts
Payments
Balance at end of period
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2014
$000

2013
$000

4,258
4,773
(3,260)
5,771

4,067
3,333
(3,142)
4,258

1,006
888
(486)
1,408

560
859
(413)
1,006
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
48 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service

Cost of services
Expenses
Grants, subsidies & transfer payment
Interest payments
Other expenses
Total administered expenses
Income
Service appropriation
Grants & contributions
User charges and fees
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total administered income

WAMIA*
2014
2013
$000
$000

Cooperative loans
2014
2013
$000
$000

2,400
2,400

2,500
1,550
4,050

366
366

356

-

-

88
366
454

* Western Australian Meat Industry Authority
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Commonwealth grants
2014
2013
$000
$000
30,825
-

356

943
943

75
356
431

11,163
11,163

State NRM program
2014
2013
$000
$000

2014
$000

Total

2013
$000

30,825

10,144
830
10,974

10,139
453
10,592

13,487
366
830
14,683

43,464
356
2,003
45,823

24,564
507
25,071

15,000
321
15,321

5,000
144
5,144

15,000
88
366
11,484
26,938

5,000
24,564
75
863
144
30,646
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
49 Disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by service
WAMIA*
2014
2013
$000
$000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total administered current assets

Cooperative loans
2014
2013
$000
$000

Commonwealth grants
2014
2013
$000
$000

50
200
250

2,318
2,318

687
687

599
599

11,870
11,870

-

-

4,094
4,094

6,788
6,788

-

61
61

-

250

2,318

4,781

7,387

11,870

1,496

2,331

Current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Total administered current liabilities

-

-

433
433

5,082
5,082

-

-

-

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Total administered non-current liabilities

-

-

3,661
3,661

1,706
1,706

-

-

Total administered liabilities

-

-

4,094

6,788

-

-

Non-current assets
Loan
Interest receivable
Total administered non-current assets
Total administered assets

1,589
(154)
1,435

State NRM program
2014
2013
$000
$000
1,939
392
2,331

2014
$000

(1,528)
247
(1,281)

Total

2013
$000

14,546
592
15,138

2,978
93
3,071

4,094
4,094

6,788
61
6,849

19,232

9,920

36
36

433
433

36
5,082
5,118

-

-

3,661
3,661

1,706
1,706

-

36

4,094

6,824

(1,281)

* Western Australian Meat Industry Authority
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustments

As previously
reported
$000

Statement of financial position
Total current assets

61,657

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment(b)
Intangible assets(c)
Investment accounted for using equity method(a)
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables(e)
Provisions(a)
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions(a)
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total net assets
Equity
Contributed equity(d)
Asset revaluation reserve

Post-acquisition reserves(a)
(a), (b), (c), (d), (e)
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Total equity
Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014
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2013
Adjustments

Restated

$000

$000
-

61,657

223,310
4,863
11,285
55,068
294,526
356,183

(4,476)
(1,580)
(385)
(6,441)
(6,441)

218,834
3,283
10,900
55,068
288,085
349,742

15,447
34,959
50,406

(797)
400
(397)

14,650
35,359
50,009

4,935
4,935
55,341
300,842

400
400
3
(6,444)

5,335
5,335
55,344
294,398

60,205
219,350
5,668
15,619
300,842

2,051
(5,668)
(2,827)
(6,444)

62,256
219,350
12,792
294,398
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustments (continued)

As previously
reported
$000

Statement of financial position
Total current assets

70,463

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment(b)
Intangible assets(c)
Investment accounted for using equity method(a)
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

2012
Adjustments

Restated

$000

$000
-

70,463

214,887
4,805
9,545
52,149
281,386
351,849

(2,879)
(1,461)
(4,340)
(4,340)

212,008
3,344
9,545
52,149
277,046
347,509

18,393
33,987
52,380

(797)
400
(397)

17,596
34,387
51,983

Non-current liabilities
Provisions(a)
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total net assets

5,464
5,464
57,844
294,005

800
800
403
(4,743)

6,264
6,264
58,247
289,262

Equity
Contributed equity(d)
Asset revaluation reserve
Post-acquisition reserves(a)
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)(a), (b), (c), (d), (e)
Total equity

52,753
211,570
4,715
24,967
294,005

1,660
(4,715)
(1,688)
(4,743)

54,413
211,570
23,279
289,262

Current liabilities
Payables(e)
Provisions(a)
Total current liabilities
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustments (continued)

As previously
reported
$000

Statement of comprehensive income

2013
Adjustments

Restated

$000

$000

Expenses
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method (a)
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Supplies and services(b), (c)
Other cost of services
Total cost of services

4,535
9,134
58,143
127,305
199,117

416
1,716
2,132

4,951
9,134
59,859
127,305
201,249

Income
Revenue
Gain on dilution of investment in joint venture entity(a)
Other revenue
Total revenue
Total income other than income from State Government

48,752
48,752
48,752

1,384
1,384
1,384

1,384
48,752
50,136
50,136

Net cost of services

150,365

748

151,113

Total income from State Government(d)

140,894

(391)

140,503

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

(9,471)

Post acquisition reserve(a)
Other comprehensive income
Total other comprehensive income

953
7,903
8,856

Total comprehensive income for the period
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(1,139)
(953)
(953)
(2,092)

(10,610)
7,903
7,903
(2,707)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustments (continued)

(a) Investment accounted for using equity method
Intergrain
The investment in Intergrain is accounted for as a jointly controlled entity using the equity method of accounting. Over time,
with additional shareholder investment in Intergrain, the Department's share of Intergrain has diluted. The gain/loss on
dilution should be recognised in profit or loss and equity accounted investees.
The investment in Intergrain has been revalued to the Department's share of net assets at each financial year end which was
recognised as a post acquisition reserve. Equity accounted investments are recognised as the investment in the entity plus
post acquisition share of profit or loss and any gain/loss on dilution. Therefore, the revaluation to net asset value is reversed.
A $2 million in-kind contribution in exchange for shares was made in 2010. This investment should have been recognised
with a corresponding liability, but is instead being recognised over the period of the agreement. An adjustment has been
made to recognise this.
AEGIC
The investment in AEGIC is accounted for as a jointly controlled entity using the equity method of accounting. AEGIC has
accounted for the members' contributions in profit or loss for the year which should be eliminated when determining the
Department's share of profit/loss for the year. Therefore, the impairment of AEGIC for the 2013 financial year is reversed and
the share of losses is recognised accordingly.
Equity accounted investee
Balance as previously reported
Adjustment to accumulated surplus
Gain on dilution of percentage interest in Intergrain
Recognition of in-kind contribution
Adjustment to share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investee
Reversal of revaluation to net asset value through post acquisition reserve
Restated balance
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2013
$000
11,285
5,283
4,923
800
(440)
(5,668)
10,900

2012
$000
9,545
4,715
3,539
1,200
(24)
(4,715)
9,545
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustments (continued)
(b) Property, plant and equipment
Expenditure on certain projects had been carried as capital works in progress in the Statement of financial position over
previous years. On performing a detailed analysis of these projects, it was determined that certain items were required to be
expensed as they do not meet the definition of an asset in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards. These
amounts have been adjusted between property, plant and equipment and accumulated surplus for prior periods.
2013
$000
223,310

Balance as previously reported
Previously capitalised amounts expensed
Prior to 2013
2013
Transfer to intangible assets
Restated balance

(2,879)
(1,042)
(555)
218,834

2012
$000
214,887
(2,879)
212,008

(c) Intangible assets
Expenditure on certain projects had been carried as capital works in progress in the Statement of financial position over
previous years. On performing a detailed analysis of these projects, it was determined that certain items were required to be
expensed as they do not meet the definition of an asset in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards. These
amounts have been adjusted between intangible assets and accumulated surplus for prior periods.
2013
2012
$000
$000
Balance as previously reported
4,863
4,805
Previously capitalised amounts expensed
Prior to 2013
(1,461)
(1,461)
2013
(674)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
555
Restated balance
3,283
3,344
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
50 Prior period adjustment (continued)

(d) Royalties for Regions re State Barrier Fencing reclassified to capital contribution
Royalties for Regions capital contributions for the State barrier fencing were originally treated as revenue contributions. As
these are designated capital contributions, these amounts have been reclassified to equity as capital appropriations.
2013
$000

Reclassified from profit or loss to Capital contribution
Prior to 2013
2013
Restated balance

(1,660)
(391)
(2,051)

2012
$000
(1,660)
(1,660)

(e) Reversal of duplicate accrual
An accrual of $797,000 was duplicated in 2011/12. This amount has been reversed against opening retained earnings and
accruals.
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Additional key performance indicator information
Certification of key performance indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Agriculture and
Food’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Agriculture
and Food for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority
19 September 2014
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Detailed information in support
of key performance indicators

cooperative research centres (CRCs) that
we lead in order to fulfil our own objectives.

DAFWA introduced new key performance
indicators (KPIs) in 2012 and we reported
on these for the first time in our 2012 annual
report. As such, there is only two years of
trend data about performance.

The KPI includes co-investment through
entities created as a means of building
collaboration — such as AEGIC — but
excludes that from entities established to
ensure the successful commercialisation
of activities no longer requiring direct
government support — such as InterGrain
Pty Ltd.

Assessing our effectiveness
1. Proportion of co-investment in
DAFWA-led initiatives
This KPI helps us assess and understand
our effectiveness in encouraging industry
and others to invest along with us — both
in cash and in kind — in developing and
promoting WA’s agrifood sector.
Initiatives considered under this KPI include
all work undertaken or commissioned
by us and funded in part by the Western
Australian Government, excluding those in
which we play a purely administrative role.
We gain co-investment mainly through
the Commonwealth’s rural research and
development corporations, with this
funding originating through a mix of federal
government and levy-based industry
sources. We also include elements of
joint programs, including those within

This distinction is made on the basis
that while DAFWA can continue to exert
significant influence on AEGIC’s activities
to ensure they reflect DAFWA’s strategic
intent, it is not able to similarly direct
the activities of the commercially based
InterGrain. As such, InterGrain is not
considered here to represent a ‘DAFWA-led
initiative’.
Table 6 shows that, across the department,
our expenditure of co-invested funds

was lower than both our 2013/14 target
(37.0%) and our actual expenditures for
2012/13 and 2011/12 (39.3% and 36.5%
respectively).
This result is at odds with the fact that we
actually attracted more co-investment this
year — as evidenced by the revenue figures
presented in the Statement of income. In
effect, we attracted the co-investment we
were seeking, but were unable to expend
it within the year. This is a consequence of
a whole-of-government need to postpone
new appointments during the latter part
of the financial year — which is the period
when most new co-investment projects
would normally commence. These funds
will be carried forward and applied in the
2014/15 year.
As such, while we did not meet this KPI,
we believe we remain on track in our efforts
to encourage industry and others to invest
along with us.

Table 6 Proportion of co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives

Co-investment in DAFWA-led initiatives
(% NCoS*)

2011/12
Actual
(%)
36.5

2012/13
Actual
(%)
39.3

2013/14
Target
(%)
37.0

2013/14
Actual
(%)
33.8

Variation
(%)
–3.2

Source: DAFWA; *NCoS: net cost of service
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Case study

Competition promotes our state on a plate

A

lthough the lamb cutlets got the
judges’ vote, it was WA’s quality
produce that was the real winner of
the inaugural WA’s Signature Dish consumer
cooking competition.

The four regional winners were each
mentored by a leading chef in their region in
the lead-up to the grand finale, which took
place on WA Day in June at the WA Cultural
Centre.

The winning dish — by Rhiannon Birch,
representing the Perth and Surrounds
region — was Dorper lamb cutlets with a
lupin-based crust, accompanied by a sweet
potato salad with Moroccan flavours.

The competition, run by DAFWA through
our Buy West Eat Best program, highlighted
the many types of top-quality produce
across the state.

The finalists cooked their dishes on stage
before a live audience before serving
them to the three judges — restaurateur
Guillaume Brahimi, Crown Casino executive
chef Ralf Vogt and restaurant critic and
columnist for The West Australian Rob
Broadfield.

DAFWA plans to run WA’s Signature Dish
again in 2015 and aims to have more
regions represented, more contestants
and more followers to benefit WA agrifood
producers.

Media monitoring showed that the
campaign, held from March to June 2014,
stimulated more than $1 million worth of
media exposure. It also developed a strong
social media community of more than
10 000 foodie followers; increased Buy
West Eat Best membership and provided
marketing and commercial opportunities for
program members.
The Buy West Eat Best food-labelling
program proudly supports the WA food
industry by identifying WA produce and
aims to increase the value and consumption
of WA food.
DAFWA combined with four regional
organisations and Celebrate WA to host
cook-off events from late April. The
competition was open to amateurs who
love food and cooking.

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

136

WA’s Signature Dish
competition regional judge,
chef Don Hancey, with
DAFWA Communications
Officer Amelia De Groot
(left) and Buy West Eat Best
Business Development
Manager Nicole Dearden at
the launch of the competition
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2. Proportion of businesses that
consider DAFWA has influenced
profitability
This KPI is based on respondents’ views
of our impact on the profitability of their
industry over the previous 12 months.
It helps us assess and understand our
effectiveness in fostering the profitability of
the sector as a whole.
The result is derived from a survey question
that asked respondents to score our impact
from zero to 10, with zero representing no
impact. Given our outcome of a ‘profitable,
innovative and sustainable agrifood sector
that benefits Western Australia’, we believe
this is the most telling question we can
ask of industry: did we make you more
profitable?
A score of six and above is considered a
significant positive impact — and is the
formal benchmark for assessment — while
a score of five is considered moderate.

To the extent possible, the survey focused
on larger producers, as per the following
threshold criteria (Table 7). No productionscale criteria were applied to horticultural
producers due to the diversity of production
systems involved, nor were they applied
to intermediaries (primarily processors,
marketers and exporters) or consultants.
Table 7 Threshold stocking and
production levels for producers
considered in the 2014 survey
Principal product type Threshold
Sheep
>2000 head
Grain

>500 tonnes harvested

Dairy

>250 head

Beef – agricultural

>500 head

Beef – pastoral

>2500 head

Producer respondents were drawn
primarily from the state’s major agricultural
industries — grains, sheep, beef, dairy and
horticulture.
The survey was undertaken in June
2014 and captured the views of 400
respondents made up of 318 producers,
53 intermediaries and 29 agricultural
consultants.
This year’s survey indicated that, across all
respondents, 29.3% considered we had
made a significant impact on the profitability
of their industry over the past year (Table 8).
This overall result was identical to last year
and, like last year, below our target of 32%.

Table 8 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the profitability of their industry –
actuals versus target

The survey was independently designed,
executed and analysed by Painted Dog
Research.
Impact scored at 6 or above
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2011/12
Actual
(%)

2012/13
Actual
(%)

2013/14
Target
(%)

2013/14
Actual
(%)

Variation
(%)

30.2

29.3

32.0

29.3

–2.7
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This is the third year that we have run
this survey, and there are no significant
differences or clear trends in regard to this
or the two other KPIs measured through
the survey. However, if the scoring criteria
are adjusted to include all ratings of five
and above (rather than six and above), then
there is a clear and statistically significant
trend over the three years (Table 8a).

Survey respondents were advised that
a score of five represented a ’moderate’
impact. Given this, a score of five and
above can be expressed as being a
‘moderate to significant’ positive impact.
Table 9 shows that producers scored our
impact similarly to the past two years (30%
and 31% respectively), and consultants

Table 8a Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the profitability of their industry –
by year and scoring threshold

6 and above

2011/12
(%)
30.2

2012/13
(%)
29.3

2013/14
(%)
29.3

5 and above

46.9

51.0

54.9

Scoring

Table 9 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the profitability of their industry, by
respondent group
Respondent group
Significant impacts
(scoring 6 or above)

Score (6 and above)
2011/12
(%)
30

2012/13
(%)
31

2013/14
(%)
30

Intermediaries

32

23

19

Consultants

29

27

41

Producers
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scored us markedly higher (41% versus
29% and 27%). Conversely, intermediaries
scored us lower (19% versus 23%).
It is likely that the decline in scores
recorded for the intermediaries group is
a result of the growing number of smallscale processors and traders now captured
in our mailing lists, many of which would
have a casual or secondary involvement
in agriculture and food. Many of these
organisations are either only peripherally
involved in agriculture or food, or are
involved in ways with which we have little
direct involvement.
We do not expect to be able to record
consistently high scores in such tough
KPIs as it is unlikely any organisation can
generate significant and readily observable
changes every year for every industry.
While we are looking to increase these
scores over time, we do not expect to
exceed results of around 50%. A score
of 50% would mean that one in every
two respondents can see a significant
improvement — due to our efforts — in any
one year.
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Case study

Beefing up business

B

uilding better trade relations with
Indonesia is a key strategy of the
northern cattle industry.

Live cattle and boxed beef exports from
WA to Indonesia were worth more than
$91 million in 2013, down from a record of
almost $200 million in 2009.
To help rebuild exports, we hosted the
Fourth Northern Australian Beef Industry
Roundtable and Producer Forum in Broome
in February 2014.
The event, themed ‘Investment in –
Markets out’, focused on the northern beef
industries’ relationship with Indonesia.
The forum was attended by more than
220 industry people as well as Agriculture
and Food Minister Ken Baston (WA) and
his Queensland and Northern Territory
counterparts plus federal Agriculture
Minister Barnaby Joyce. Also in attendance
was a delegation of Indonesian officials
led by Deputy Chairman Pak Himawan
Hariyoga of the Indonesian Investment
Coordinating Board.
Having these dignitaries together
demonstrated their strong support for the
northern beef industry, providing confidence
that a broad and bold political collaborative
reform environment was building.

Agriculture ministers and speakers at the Northern Beef Forum: Gavin Kruger National Australia
Bank, Rob Delane DAFWA, Minister John McVeigh (QLD), Minister Baston (WA), federal Minister
Barnaby Joyce, Minister Westra van Holthe (NT), Pak Himawan Hariyoga BKPM, Pak Syarief
Syamsuri, Republic of Indonesia Perth, John Ackerman Meat & Livestock Australia, Rebecca
Mohr Australian Indonesian Business Council and Kevin Chennell DAFWA

The following day’s roundtable brought
together senior government and industry
leaders to discuss strategic directions
for the beef industry and work through
priorities for joint industry and government
action over the next six months.
The agreed priorities were to:
•

•

further China market development and
investment attraction

•

increase industry/government
collaboration for research and
development.

The events attracted valuable national media
coverage.

increase market development and
diversification
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3. Proportion of businesses that
consider DAFWA has fostered
innovation
We consider innovation to be about ‘making
changes that add value’. This KPI is based
on respondents’ views of our impact over
the past 12 months on their future ability to
make changes that add value. It helps us
assess and understand our effectiveness in
ensuring that they have the skills, tools and
information needed to be innovative.
The result is derived from the same survey,
with respondents asked to score our impact
from zero to 10, with scores of six and
above representing a significant impact.
Overall, 29% of respondents scored
our impact on their innovativeness as
significant (i.e. six or above). This is lower
than our 2012/13 result and 2013/14 target,
though the differences are not statistically
significant (Table 10).
There was minimal variation with the scores
reported last year by the producer and
consultant groups, but a marked (9%)
decrease in the score by the intermediaries
group (Table 11).

The reason for this decrease is currently
unclear; and our department is investigating
the change.
As with the profitability question, there was
a clear trend when the scoring was adjusted

to include moderate impacts (i.e. scores of
five and above), ranging from 48% in 2012
to 54% in 2014 (Table 11a).

Table 10 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on their ability to make changes that
add value

Impact scored at 6 or above

2011/12
Actual
(%)
30.3

2012/13
Actual
(%)
30.0

2013/14
Target
(%)
32.0

2013/14
Actual
(%)
29.1

Variation
(%)
–2.9

Table 11 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on their ability to make changes that
add value – by respondent group
Score (6 and above)
Respondent group

2011/12
(%)
31

2012/13
(%)
31

2013/14
(%)
31

Intermediaries

23

28

19

Consultants

37

27

27

Producers

Table 11a Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on their ability to make changes that
add value – by year and scoring threshold

6 and above

2011/12
(%)
30.3

2012/13
(%)
30.0

2013/14
(%)
29.1

5 and above

47.9

50.1

54.2

Scoring
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Case study

Perseverance on pH pays off

E

xtensive research by DAFWA has
resulted in farm businesses significantly
increasing their use of lime to
better manage soil acidity and boost the
sustainability and profitability of agricultural
land in the south-west.
Agricultural lime sales have risen from
800 000 tonnes in 2011 to 1.6 million tonnes
this year. Growers also have increased
adoption of subsurface soil sampling to
determine soil pH (acidity) profiles.

enabled mapping of the severity and extent
of soil acidity. The map was published in the
Report card on sustainable natural resource
use in agriculture (see case study, p. 150)
Lime use has now increased to 60% of the
estimated annual use required to remove
soil acidity as a constraint to agricultural
production over the next 10 years.

Kellerberrin grower Kit Leake and Joel
Andrew from Precision SoilTech carry out
project soil sampling to 30cm to determine
pH levels

Soil acidification is a natural process
accelerated by agriculture. Acidic soils
affect the availability of important nutrients
for plant growth and decrease root growth,
which leads to reduced yields.
DAFWA quantified the benefits of
neutralising soil acidity with the application
of agricultural lime through research between
1993 and 2005. Two more recent projects
between 2006 and 2013 concentrated on
raising growers’ awareness of soil pH levels
on their farms and the importance of suitable
management practices.
As part of the projects, more than 600
growers carried out subsurface soil
sampling. Their results, combined with
additional commercial sampling data in
collaboration with Precision SoilTech,
141
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4. Proportion of businesses that
consider DAFWA has influenced
sustainability

32% (Table 12). As in previous years, results
were higher than those attained for the
profitability or innovation questions.

This KPI, which is based on respondents’
views of our impact on the sustainability of
their industry over the previous 12 months,
helps us to assess and understand our
effectiveness in fostering the sustainability of
the sector as a whole.

All three respondent groups scored us
higher than they did last year, the most
pronounced change being a 10% increase
in the score returned by the consultant
group (Table 13).

As with the previous survey questions,
respondents were asked to score our impact
from zero to 10, with scores of six and above
being considered a ‘significant’ impact.
The overall result of 38% was higher than
both the target (35%) and last year’s result of

The increased score reported for
consultants may be caused by an
increasing focus on sustainability issues
due to a changing and more variable
climate, and the growing risks that stem
from increasing travel and transport to and
from WA.

Table 12 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s impact on the sustainability of their industry
– actuals versus target

Impact scored at 6 or above

2011/12
Actual
(%)
33.7

2012/13
Actual
(%)
32.1

2013/14
Target
(%)
35.0

2013/14
Actual
(%)
37.5

Variation
(%)

Table 13 Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s
impact on the sustainability of their
industry, by respondent group
Respondent
group
Producers
Intermediaries

36

28

31

Consultants

26

34

44

Again, a clear and statistically significant
improvement was observed when the
scoring criteria were adjusted to include
‘moderate’ impacts (that is, scores of five
and above). Sixty per cent of respondents
scored our impact as ‘moderate to
significant’ (Table 13a). Average scores have
risen from 50% in 2012 to 60% in 2014.
Table 13a Respondent ratings of DAFWA’s
impact on the sustainability of their
industry – by year and scoring threshold

+2.5
6 and above

2011/12
(%)
33.7

2012/13
(%)
32.1

2013/14
(%)
37.5

5 and above

50.3

55.4

60.5

Scoring
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Score (6 and above)
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
(%)
(%)
(%)
33
33
38
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Case study

DAFWA ‘on call’ to protect agriculture

O

ur Pest and Disease Information
Service (PaDIS) has continued to
prove its worth, with increasing
numbers of community members phoning
the service to report suspicious plants,
insect pests and animals.
The service received 7680 calls in 2013/14
— a 7% increase on last year. Of these,
2250 were referred on for identification and
diagnostic investigation.

Since January 2014, we have received
a high number of calls reporting exotic
weeds, including water hyacinth, Noogoora
burr, saffron thistle and the highly invasive
plant, wheel cactus.
As a result, many of these weeds have
either been removed or are being monitored
to ensure they do not spread.

Discoveries of citrus gall and olive lace
bug have been made, and a number of
European wasp nests destroyed, thanks to
calls to PaDIS.
Detections of birds exotic to WA also were
received through the service.

PaDIS staff Erica Andersson, Greg Pratt, Liz
Edwards, Sabrina Tschirren and Cathy Webb

The statistics show the community is being
vigilant and reporting anything unusual to
our department for investigation.
PaDIS has operated since 2003 and
become the first point of call for identifying
many exotic pests, weeds and animals that
could pose a threat to the agrifood sector,
community or natural environment.
It is currently staffed by five technical
officers with extensive knowledge in areas
such as horticulture, weeds, insects and
environmental management.

The service received 7680 calls in
2013/14 — a 7% increase on last
year. Of these, 2250 were referred
on for identification and diagnostic
investigation.
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Services
We seek to increase productivity through
our business and supply chain development
service; mitigate risks through our
resource risk management service; and
help mature industries rejuvenate through
transformational development. Our three
new services recognise the need to support
each of these activities.
This is only the third year our work has been
reported under these three services. As
such, there is limited trend data.

Efficiency indicators
The efficiency with which we undertake
each of our three services is estimated by
the same two indicators: net service cost of
each service as a factor of the gross value
of agricultural production (GVAP); and the
extent of co-investment we attract to each
service. We first reported our performance
against these KPIs in our 2012 report.

1. Net service cost as a factor of
GVAP
This indicator compares our investment in
each Service area with the GVAP for WA
as calculated by the Australian Bureau of
Statistics.
The GVAP figure used in these KPIs of
$6416 million represents the average of the
past five years of published GVAP values;
this being used to minimise the annual
variability that results from seasonal and
other influences.
GVAP understates the overall economic
activity of the sector, as it does not
include activity that happens past the farm
gate. However, it is the most consistent,
independent and broadly based benchmark
relevant to the sector.
The net cost of service represents funding
provided to the department by the state
government, for the 2013/14 year, less
revenue returned to government by DAFWA
through fees, charges and sales.
A reduction in this KPI represents a more
efficient service in that a smaller investment
by government is linked to increased
economic activity for the state.

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

144

2. Co-investment in DAFWA-led
initiatives related to net cost of
service
Co-investment is used here as an indicator
of our efficiency in leveraging the Western
Australian Government’s investment by
persuading other parties — across other
governments, industry and the broader
community — to invest in the same
strategic goals we seek to achieve.
An increase in this KPI represents a more
efficient service.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Service 1 Business and supply chain
development

Efficiency indicators

This Service is about providing leadership
and specialist expertise that further develop
the state’s existing and emerging agrifood
industries in the short-to-medium term. It
supports businesses in increasing the yield,
quality and marketability of their existing
and emerging products; and in managing
the associated business risks.

Table 14 shows that the net cost of this
service represented 1.03% of the gross
value of WA’s agricultural production.
This is a slightly ‘better’ result than our
target figure of 1.1% — a lower value
representing a more efficient service. It is
also markedly lower than the result reported
in 2013 (1.22%).
We expect this indicator to continue
trending down over coming years,
reflecting our growing focus on fostering
transformative — rather than incremental —
growth. Our target for the 2014/15 year is
1% and, given this result, we would expect
to again exceed the target.
We consider the department has met this
performance indicator.

Our focus in this Service is on addressing
the more immediate issues that face
industry, with an emphasis on growing
and improving the performance of existing
agrifood businesses.
The Service contributes to the government’s
goal of achieving ‘a stronger focus on the
regions’ and our outcome of ‘a profitable,
innovative and sustainable agrifood sector
that benefits Western Australia’.
We expect our involvement in the Service
to decline over time as we focus more on
Service 2 (transformational development) to
help industry make the threshold changes
that will be needed if the industry is to
achieve its goal of doubling its real value of
sales by 2025.

Net service cost as a factor of GVAP

Public and private sector coinvestment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this service as a factor of
the net cost of this service
Table 14 shows we expended coinvestment in this Service equivalent to
45.3% of the net funding provided by the
state. This was slightly above our target for
2013/14 and our result for 2012/13.
Co-investment in this Service was not
affected in the same way that our other two
Services were. This is because — with our
increasing focus on those other two — this
Service had fewer new co-investments
during 2013/14 and, as such, was less
affected by constraints on the appointment
of new staff.
We consider the department met this
performance indicator.

Table 14 Business and supply chain development efficiency indicators
Key indicators of
efficiency
Net cost of service
(% of GVAP)
Co-investment in this
service (% of NCoS*)

2011/12
Actual
(%)
1.12

2012/13
Actual
(%)
1.22

2013/14
Target
(%)
1.10

2013/14
Actual
(%)
1.03

46.1

42.6

42.0

45.3

Variation
(%)
–0.07
+3.3

Source: DAFWA, ABS. * NCoS: net cost of services
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Case study

Signing up to increase exports to China

A

DAFWA focus this year was on
meeting the increasing Chinese
demand for red meat that has rapidly
outpaced local production.

jointly study establishing a live cattle trade.
The study found this trade was desirable
and achievable if protocols could be agreed
and commercial requirements met.

Many Chinese consumers prefer imported
over locally produced meat due to food
safety concerns.

A second round of MoUs signed in Perth
at the WA–China Agribusiness Cooperation
Conference in April 2014 (see case study,
p. 50) between Zhejiang businesses and
WA livestock exporters demonstrated
commitment to work together to resolve
animal health and welfare protocols. These
must be formally agreed between the
Chinese and Australian governments before
any trial of live animal shipments goes
ahead.

While Australia was the largest exporter of
both beef and sheep meat to China in 2013,
there is still potential to increase exports
of live cattle and frozen red meat into this
enormous and rapidly growing market.
However, there are no protocols in place
between Australia and China to enable
live exports of feeder cattle or sheep for
slaughter.
During the year, DAFWA worked with our
industry sectors, the Chinese government
and private Chinese firms to prepare the
way for the establishment of live shipping
protocols for feeder cattle between
Australia and China. We also facilitated local
and foreign investment into the WA industry
to build confidence to increase production
and develop new and improved supply
chains into China for frozen products.
In October 2013, WA signed an MoU with
our sister state of Zhejiang Province to

We are now scoping beef opportunities
in Hainan, Heilongjiang and Guangdong
provinces.

Australian beef (shin-shank) imported and prepared
for a hotpot style meal in China
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Service 2 Transformational
development
All industries, regardless of their sector,
are continually faced with reinventing
themselves to remain competitive and
attractive to customers and investors.
Such ‘transformation’ typically involves a
fundamental change to their mix of products,
markets or business model. A number of
Western Australian agrifood industries are
currently facing such challenges.
This Service aims to support these industries
by providing leadership and specialist
expertise that helps them ensure their longterm economic viability and growth. This is
central to the sector’s ability to grow.
The Service is closely linked to our
commitment to helping the sector be
more innovative and lies at the heart of
the Agrifood 2025+ goal of doubling the
real value of sales from the sector by
2025. It was developed in response to the
government’s vision of an agrifood sector
that is able to adapt to a changing world and
flourish into the 21st century.
It contributes to the government’s goal of
achieving ‘a stronger focus on the regions’
and our outcome of ‘a profitable, innovative
and sustainable agrifood sector that benefits
WA’.

Table 15 Transformational development efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency
Net cost of service (% of GVAP)
Co-investment in this service (% of NCoS*)

2011/12
Actual
(%)
0.30

2012/13
Actual
(%)
0.23

2013/14
Target
(%)
0.30

2013/14
Actual
(%)
0.29

19.5

23.4

27.0

16.1

Variation
(%)
–0.01
–10.9

Sources: DAFWA, ABS. *NCoS: net cost of service

Efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
The result for this indicator of 0.29%
means that — over the past year — we
spent around 29 cents in helping the
sector transform its products, markets and
business models for every $100 the sector
generates ‘at the farm gate’.
The result is in line with our target figure
of 0.30%. We expect expenditure on
this service to increase in future years
— especially in 2014/15 as we begin
implementing the government’s initiative
on agriculture and food, the majority of
which is focused on transformational
development.
We consider the department met this KPI.

Public and private sector co-investment
in DAFWA-led initiatives related to this
service as a factor of the net cost of this
service
Co-investment expenditure related to
this Service was markedly reduced from
our target of 27%. As outlined above,
this is a temporary anomaly rather than a
real reduction in our ability to attract coinvestment in this Service, the KPI reflecting
reduced expenditure rather than reduced
attraction.
This reduction was a result of necessary
delays to the appointment of new staff meant
to be funded through co-investments; and a
redirection of effort relevant to this Service
towards preparing for the government’s
forthcoming initiative on agriculture and food.
While we did not meet this KPI during
2013/14, we believe we are on track to
continue growing co-investment in this
Service.

147

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

Disclosures and legal compliance

Case study

DAFWA initiates alliances to grow sector

D

AFWA was actively involved in creating
two significant alliances in 2013/14 to
help our agrifood sector capitalise on
growing food demand from Asia and the
world.
Recognising our sector needs to attract more
investment to enable businesses to boost
production, we provided the leadership to
form the InvestWest Agribusiness Alliance
(IWAA) in August 2013.
Later in 2013, industry came together to
establish the Agrifood Alliance Western
Australia (AAWA) to create a united, focused
and well-coordinated sector to overcome
challenges and take advantage of the
demand.

The alliance shares investment knowledge,
provides information exchange and promotes
WA overseas to facilitate investment. The
aim of streamlining support for investment
opportunities is supported by an experienced
investment facilitator.

It was established to help steer the
effort needed to grow the sector and to
collaborate across traditional industry
boundaries. It also provides a single voice
to represent the sector to the community
and government.

The AAWA on the other hand is an
independent industry-driven coalition of
13 of WA’s peak agrifood organisations,
including WAFarmers, the Pastoralists
and Graziers Association, Grain Industry
Association of WA, vegetablesWA and
Western Dairy. The AAWA recently
appointed an independent chair, with our
department providing executive support.

The AAWA’s priority is to address common
issues across the sector such as reducing
red tape and providing access to skilled
labour.

The DAFWA-led IWAA is a non-profit
network of 80 companies, peak industry
organisations, government agencies and
higher learning institutions aimed at fostering
relationships to coordinate investment in WA.
InvestWest’s Verghese Jacob and DAFWA Senior Research Officer
Dr Steve Gherardi (third and fourth from left) take Chinese business
representatives on a tour of Bencubbin farmer Rob Grylls’ (holding
seedlings) farm to explore investment opportunities in WA’s sheep
supply chain
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We strongly support the alliance.
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Service 3 Resource risk management
It is essential that industry has access to,
understands and applies practices that
maintain or improve the health of the state’s
natural resources — land, soil, native
vegetation, biodiversity and water. This
service ensures that industry has these
characteristics, enabling it to grow while
responsibly managing these resources.
WA’s agricultural and pastoral landholders
manage around 40% of the state’s land mass
using diverse production systems spread
over a range of environmental conditions.
Our resource risk management service is
central to minimising the risks that agriculture
might present to the land and water on which
they depend; and the risks that damaging
pests, weeds and diseases represent to
agriculture and WA’s broader community and
environment.

Table 16 Resource risk management efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency
Net cost of service (% of GVAP)

2011/12
Actual
(%)
1.17

2012/13
Actual
(%)
0.90

2013/14
Target
(%)
1.20

2013/14
Actual
(%)
1.17

29.4

38.8

33.0

28.1

Co-investment in this service (% of NCoS*)

Variation
(%)
–0.03
–4.9

Source: DAFWA, ABS. *NCoS: net cost of service

Efficiency indicators
Net service cost as a factor of GVAP
The cost to government of this service in
2013/14 represented 1.17% of the GVAP
from the state (Table 16). This is slightly
lower than our 2013/14 target (1.2%),
representing a more efficient service than
we had expected.
We consider the department met this
performance indicator.

This Service relates in equal part to the
element of our outcome statement that
speaks of a ‘sustainable agrifood sector’ that
benefits Western Australia.
The service has a major focus on building
partnerships with (and the capability of)
industry and communities so they can more
effectively safeguard their own natural and
economic resources.
149

Public and private sector coinvestment in DAFWA-led initiatives
related to this service as a factor of the
net cost of this service
As with Service 2, co-investment
expenditure related to this Service was less
than our target of 33.0%. The reduction
(4.9%) was not as marked as that seen in
Service 2 (10.9%).
This is a result of there being fewer new
co-investments in this Service — which
is reflected in our 2013/14 target being
less than our 2012/13 actual (33.3%
versus 38.8%). As such, this Service
was less affected by constraints on new
appointments.
As with Service 2, we did not meet this KPI
during 2013/14 but believe we are on track
to continue growing co-investment in this
Service.
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Case study

Report card gets ‘A’ for sustainability

D

AFWA is helping growers,
governments, community groups and
our own staff make better decisions in
regards to managing WA’s agricultural land.
In September 2013, we released a
comprehensive report card on the condition
of the state’s agricultural area to guide
future land management.
The Report card on sustainable natural
resource use in agriculture summarises the
current status and trend of 10 key indicators
of land condition, including soil acidity,
water repellence, wind erosion and nutrient
status.
It was completed over about 12 months
with input from many staff, drawing on
existing data from our department and
industry to provide a detailed analysis on
the status of agricultural land, backed by
robust scientific evidence.
Agriculture Resource Risk Management
Executive Director John Ruprecht said the
document provided a unique insight into the
challenges for the south-west agricultural
region to remain productive, sustainable
and profitable.
Our department will use the report card
to prioritise investments in sustainable

land management as well as to develop
responsible farming systems that optimise
production potential and protect natural
resources.
We hope to release a similar report card on
sustainable land use in the pastoral regions
by late 2014.
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Principal Research Officer Noel
Schoknecht and Executive Director John
Ruprecht with the report card
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Ministerial directives

Other financial disclosures

No Ministerial directives were received
during the financial year.

Pricing policies of services
provided
Our department charges on a full or partial
cost recovery basis for some goods and
services, with fees and charges determined
in accordance with costing and pricing
government services published by the
Department of Treasury. The 2013/14 list
of fees and charges were implemented on
1 July 2013, as published in the Gazette.

Services may be exempted from charges;
in particular, services that are deemed
essential for a competent analysis of a
problem by an officer; where the service
relates to an outbreak of a suspected
exotic disease; where the service involves
approved research or surveillance; or where
the service meets other conditions that may
be declared by the Director General from
time to time.

Capital works
Table 17 Capital works projects
Year of
completion

Approved
budget
($000)

Total cost
(estimated)
($000)

Cost
variation
($000)

Explanation
of variation

Capital works projects
incomplete
DAFWA headquarters
redevelopment,
including AEGIC

2020

302

233 989

In planning
phase

2014

4500

33 300

Program
completed

Capital projects
completed
Capital Equipment
Replacement Program
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Property rationalisation program

Employment and industrial relations

Our department’s Strategic Asset Plan
identifies surplus DAFWA properties in
the metropolitan and regional areas of the
state. These surplus properties continue to
be sold through the government’s disposal
process.

Table 18 Staff profile and work classification profile (FTE)
Staff profile (FTE)
Full-time permanent
Full-time contract
Part-time permanent

2013
903

2014
856

97

98

112

119

New metropolitan headquarters project

Part-time contract

36

48

Work progressed towards the
redevelopment of our South Perth
headquarters. The project currently has a
2020 completion date. We are working on
key transitional activities in readiness for the
construction phase.

On secondment in from other agencies

10

3

On secondment out to other agencies

6

6

1166

1129

Total
Figure 7 FTE levels at 30 June 2009–14
1800

Core research and business capital
equipment aligned to our business needs
are purchased through an annual rolling
program.

1350
No. of FTEs

Capital equipment replacement
program

900

450

0
2009
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Employee development

planning, including the development of tools
used in the identification of mission critical
positions for succession planning, endorsed
by Executive in June 2014.

DAFWA continues to focus on building a
highly professional and agile workforce
able to adapt to changing technology,
knowledge and environments.

Corporate support reform

Key activities for 2013/14:
•

•

We held a series of focus groups
as part of an employee feedback
process, to progress actions relating
to our Employee Engagement
Survey conducted in March 2013.
Factors leading to engagement
and disengagement were reported
together with improvement actions
suggested by participants. In addition,
90-day challenge action plans are
being developed at organisational,
directorate and local levels to address
employee engagement opportunities
for improvement.
We supported our MyPlan employee
performance and development process
by delivering a new development
course for people leaders and
employees as part of a 70/20/10
framework approach. This framework,
supported by the public sector, seeks
a balance between on-the-job training
(70%), mentoring (20%) and structured
training (10%).

Staff meet for a MyPlan session

•

We reviewed and upgraded our online
corporate induction program to better
prepare and assist new employees to
integrate into our department.

Seventy-one staff ceased with our
department in 2013/14 through a
public sector-wide voluntary severance
program. The decisions to recommend
the severances were based on the
financial position of our department and
an identification of where effort should be
ceased or reduced.
The departure of these staff was effectively
managed, including staff and union
communications, the passing on of
corporate knowledge and the maintenance
of key client relationships.
Following this, work has now been
completed on workforce and succession
153

The MyTime electronic timesheet with an
online approval process was launched
on 4 October 2013. MyTime has been
embraced by staff and feedback from all
stakeholder groups has been overwhelmingly
positive. MyTime has been instrumental in
providing governance in respect to meeting
legislative requirements and providing staff
with clarity of flexible working and overtime
arrangements leading to a greater focus on
staff safety and work–life balance.

Workplace reform
Consistent with government policy on labour
relations, our department has an Agency
Specific Agreement (ASA) that covers
industrial matters. This agreement includes
entitlements that provide our department
and staff with mutually beneficial conditions
of employment and cost-effective work
practices. A process of continuous review
of conditions of employment and work
practices occurs in consultation with staff,
managers and relevant unions. The parties
have agreed to continue current ASA
arrangements.

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

Disclosures and legal compliance

Learning and development

Table 19 Mandatory staff training course completion rates

We continue to strive to develop and
maintain a highly skilled, professional and
equitable workforce through continuous
learning, including essential training for
employees in cultural awareness, equal
employment opportunities, occupational
safety and health, driver safety, driver
development and basic first aid.

Essential training

Key activities during 2013/14 were:
•

continuous improvement of our
learning and development services
through the further integration of online
processes

•

the introduction of an Advanced
Performance Management course for
people leaders

•

•

•

a redesign of our front-line
management course to align with a
Certificate IV in Government
the integration of the 70/20/10
framework for employee development
as supported by the public sector
through policy amendments and
creation of new courses and supporting
documentation
harnessing online technologies to
ensure remote and regional staff can
access essential training.

Actual^

Target*

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making

97%

100%

Recordkeeping Awareness Training

99%

100%

Cultural Awareness

95%

100%

EEO Awareness Training – General Staff

96%

100%

Driver Training (permanent staff only)

98%

99%

OSH Training (permanent staff only)

96%

95%

^ Actual as at 30 June 2014
* Excludes staff in DAFWA for less than six months, trainees, cadets and board members

Staff sustainability project

•

This project is designed to attract, engage
and retain a talented and committed
workforce that meets our business needs.
Our Quality of Life initiative promotes a
working environment that is supportive of
employees in nine areas, including family,
health, personal growth and community.

provision of seminars and information
on superannuation and retirement
planning to assist a positive transition
to retirement

•

continued support of the Bank Your
Blood program where staff donate
blood to the Australian Red Cross

•

provision of a personal financial
management program intended to
improve personal cash flow and
money management, financial planning
strategies and preparing for retirement

•

promotion of salary packaging options.

Key achievements for 2013/14 were:
•

continued support for at-work flu
vaccinations used by more than 200
staff
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Governance disclosures
Contracts with senior officers

Audit Committee

At 30 June 2014, other than normal
contracts of employment of service, no
senior officers, or firms of which senior
officers are members, or entities in which
senior officers have substantial interests,
had any interests in existing or proposed
contracts with the department and senior
officers.

Our department’s Audit Committee advises
the Director General and the Executive
on the application and promotion of good
governance throughout the organisation.
The committee’s role is to review and
provide advice on governance processes
with a focus on control, risk management,
follow-up of audit recommendations and
oversight of internal audit functions.

The committee meets quarterly with
regular attendees, including a senior officer
from the Office of the Auditor General,
the department’s Executive Director of
Corporate Strategy and Operations, and the
Director of Finance.
Only three Audit Committee meetings were
held this year.

Shares held by the department
Our department does not hold shares in any
subsidiary body as defined by section 60 of
the Financial Management Act 2006.

Table 20 Audit Committee members and meetings attended
Meetings attended
2013/14
3

Member
Rob Delane, Director General DAFWA
Keith Van Dongen, an independent member and Executive Director, Corporate
Services, Department of Fisheries

3

Alain St Flour, an independent member and Executive Director, Finance, North
Metropolitan Health Service

2

Andrew Harvey, an independent member and Deputy Inspector, Office of the
Inspector of Custodial Services

2
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Enterprise risk management

Finance Committee

Our department is committed to effective
risk management to support our operational
objectives. Our risk management
framework, which is subject to continuous
review, includes:

The Finance Committee was established
in December 2009 and meets monthly.
The committee members are the Director
General, the Chief Finance Officer and all
Executive Directors. The committee’s role is
to:

•

a risk management policy and
procedure manual to ensure
compliance with international risk
management standard ISO31000,
Treasurer’s Instruction 825 and the
Public Sector Commissioner’s Good
Governance Guide and Circulars

•

integration of risk management with
strategic planning

•

the development and implementation
of a risk module within the project
management system

•

a strategic risk management register.

•

determine options to address funding
pressures within our department

•

provide advice with respect to making
significant financial decisions

•

understand the status of program,
tactic and priority resource
investments, highlighting resourcing
issues

•

determine the disbursement of the
financial and FTE (people) resources.

Our department’s Audit Committee
regularly monitors the completeness and
effectiveness of the risk management
framework.
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Other legal requirements
Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes
Compliance issues that arose during 2013/14 regarding public sector standards (i.e. breach
claims):
Table 21 Compliance issues/breach claims
Applications carried over
New applications received
Total applications
Breach claims lodged
Recruitment, selection and appointment
Transfer
Grievance resolution
Outcome of claims handled
Withdrawn in agency
Resolved in agency
Still pending in agency
Referred to Public Sector Commission
Total applications completed
* The Public Sector Commission rejected this claim.
Compliance issues that arose during
2013/14 regarding public sector standards
(i.e. discipline):
a)

Six matters were dealt with in
accordance with the breach of
discipline process pursuant to the
Public Sector Management Act 1994.
They related to:

2012/13
1
3
4

2013/14
0
1
1

3
0
1

1
0
0

0
0
0
4
4

0
0
0
1*
1

b) Four of the above matters relating
to the possible misconduct of
departmental officers were reported to
the Corruption and Crime Commission.
c)

• inappropriate and unprofessional
language towards a colleague (one)
• dereliction of duty (one)
• falsified medical certificates (one)
• fraudulent travel claims,
unauthorised use of departmental
resources for private purposes,
unauthorised private employment
and conflict of interest (one)

Significant action taken to monitor and
ensure compliance included:
• ongoing review and updating
of internal policies to ensure
consistency with changes to
legislative instruments that regulate
public sector employment
• updating the Contact Officer and
Grievance Officer network and
training officers bi-annually
• continued rollout of the Accountable
and Ethical Decision Making training
program across the organisation
• providing a written reminder
to staff not compliant with our
mandatory training requirements
informing them that training is to
be completed within a specified
timeframe.

• conflict of interest (two).
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Ethics and integrity
Our department promotes ethical behaviour
and integrity. All new employees are
required to complete an online induction
course that contains modules on ethics,
integrity and the requirements of the Public
Interest Disclosure Act 2003.
Our online training course in Accountable
and Ethical Decision Making has had
excellent uptake since its commencement
in 2010, with more than 98% of employees
having completed or partially completed
the course. Our department requires
all employees to complete the Equal
Employment Opportunity (EEO) awareness
course, which also covers aspects of ethics
and integrity.

Freedom of information
A description of the types of information
and documents our department holds
and how to access information under the
Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act)
is contained in our Information Statement,
available on our department’s website.

The number of FOI applications received
by our department in 2013/14 significantly
increased from the previous year. Most
applications received relate to regulatory
matters under a number of statutes
administered by our department.
Table 22 Freedom of information
applications 2013/14
FOI
Applications carried over

2013/14
2

New applications received

25

Total applications

27

Application outcome

The department recognises that appropriate
attention to the concerns of clients is an
essential component of successful clientfocused service delivery. Our Complaints
Management policy helps to ensure
complaints are handled fairly and efficiently.
Customers are encouraged to lodge their
concerns via the Customer complaint and
feedback form on our website. The total
is an acceptable level for the department
given the large number of regulatory
statutes we administer on behalf of the
government.
Table 23 Complaints received 2013/14

Applications transferred in full

0

Applications withdrawn

3

Total applications completed
Applications outstanding at 30 June

25
2

Application types
Personal information requests
Non-personal information requests
Request to amend personal information

Our department conducted a number of
FOI training sessions facilitated by the State
Solicitor’s Office in 2013/14. Senior officers
undertook this training to further develop
their knowledge and understanding of our
department’s responsibilities under the Act.
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2
22
1

Types of complaints received
Regulatory

2013/14
1

Information accuracy and timeliness

3

Negligence/misconduct

6

Financial

0

Total

10

Disclosures and legal compliance

Recordkeeping plans

Expenditure on advertising

Our department reviewed our
Recordkeeping Plan during 2013/14 and
completed the update form required by the
State Records Commission.

In accordance with section 175ZE of the
Electoral Act 1907, the department incurred
the following expenditure on advertising,
market research, polling, direct mail and
media advertising.

The plan will be reviewed in full and
rewritten during the 2014/15 financial year
to reflect the changes to the business and
recordkeeping practices. The department’s
Functional Retention and Disposal Schedule
RD2011014 (also required under the State
Records Act 2000) has been approved by
the State Records Commission.
Work that began in 2011 to implement a
department-wide electronic document
management system is now complete, with
the system, using Objective software, being
rolled out to all staff for the management of
their corporate records over the past year.
This system allows for efficient information
sharing between staff and appropriate
security of corporate records.
As prescribed in the plan, the department
started an online recordkeeping awareness
and induction course in 2004. All new
department staff are required to undertake
this training as part of their induction.

Total expenditure for 2013/14 was
$432 381. This included $202 185 as part
of the department’s Buy West Eat Best
voluntary labelling and marketing campaign
to promote Western Australian produce.
Table 24 Expenditure on advertising,
market research, polling, direct mail and
media advertising 2013/14
Advertising agencies
Adcorp Australia
Vivid Group Pty Ltd
Hype Communications
Celebrate WA
Market research organisations
NA
Polling organisation
NA
Direct mail organisations
Quickmail
Campaign Monitor
Email Media
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$270 370
$66 579
$1 606
$10 500
$191 685
Nil
NA
Nil
NA
$3 108
$459
$699
$1 950

Media advertising organisations
State Law Publisher
4L Design
Halls Creek Herald
Agricultural Publisher
Albany Advertiser
Collie Mail
Community Newspaper
CreateSend
CSIRO Publishing Internet
Dingo Promotions
Face Booth
Kondinin Information Services
LinkLetters
Magicorp Pvt Limited
Optimum Media Decision
Rural Press Regional Media
Southern Cross Austereo
Vale Display Solutions

$158 904
$7 632
$21 978
$315
$4 416
$691
$314
$64
$609
$841
$4 202
$4 090
$8 000
$1 693
$1 054
$99 212
$358
$900
$290

WA Newspapers

$1 026

West Print Management

$1 219
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Department’s annual estimates
Government agencies are required to
submit for Ministerial approval annual
estimates for any special purpose accounts
that are not reflected in the budget
statements.
All special purpose accounts held by
the Department of Agriculture and Food,
Western Australia are detailed in our
department’s budget statements and
financial statements. The level of grants and
contributions from both federal government
and non-government sources for the next
financial year (2014/15) is estimated at
$25.9 million. For details of sources of
special purpose funding, see Note 47 on
page 123 of the financial statements.

Equal employment opportunity
and Disability Access and
Inclusion Plan

Our key achievements in relation to this
plan are outlined below:
•

In 2013/14 our department continued
to provide opportunities to promote and
encourage diversity within our workforce.
Specific initiatives commenced in 2013/14
included:
•

In accordance with the WA
Government Website Accessibility
Policy, our department has embraced
the challenge of complying with the
World Wide Web Consortium’s Web
Content Accessibility Guidelines
(WCAG) 2.0.

our two-year graduate development
program, targeting youth to ensure
graduates are given the best
opportunity to assimilate and excel in
both our department and the public
sector

•

development of a series of banners to
promote our department’s commitment
to all five recognised diversity groups.

•

assessment of opportunities for
women and younger staff to attend a
number of public sector and private
industry learning and development
opportunities, specific to their
demographics.

Our Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
(DAIP) provides strategies for the inclusion
of clients and staff with disability through
improved access to information, services
and facilities.

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

160

Website enhancement to assist people
with disability who may use assistive
technologies.

In doing so, our department has made
significant progress towards improving
the website user experience for people
of all abilities. An external audit has
found that our department’s website
has so far achieved 64% compliance
with the accessibility guidelines.
•

Disability Awareness Week
1–7 December
Our department showed its
commitment to raising awareness of
people with disability in the workplace
and the community with a display in the
main reception area of its South Perth
headquarters. A Count Me In morning
tea also was held for staff at South
Perth with guest speaker, Count Me In
ambassador Griff Morris.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Reconciliation Action Plan
Our Reconciliation Action Plan 2012–14 (RAP) provides key strategies for our vision of reconciliation and for recognising and respecting the
role of traditional landowners in agricultural and pastoral industries.
Table 25 Reconciliation Action Plan key activities and achievements 2013/14
Outcome
Relationships — our department recognises the
importance of having strong relationships with
traditional owners, and the role these relationships
play in our shared objectives of managing and using
the state’s natural resources for the benefit of all
Western Australians

Key achievements
We reviewed our RAP working group comprising Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and other
Australians. The group meets to plan, monitor outcomes and champion strategies in line with the RAP.
We held corporate celebrations marking NAIDOC Week, including a flag-raising ceremony at South Perth
and other celebrations in a number of regional locations.
We continued the ‘Diversity Speaks’ forum, with a staff ‘bush foods’ experience hosted by Urban
Indigenous.
We participated in the National Reconciliation Week street banner program with street banners on display
in St Georges Terrace and the Hay and Murray street malls.

Respect — our department respects the Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people and their cultures
and knowledge. This empowers our relationships and
helps facilitate our objective of ensuring the long-term
sustainability of natural resources

We continued to practise and raise awareness of our department’s ‘Welcome to Country’,
‘Acknowledgement to Country’ and cultural protocols policy, which recognise the traditional landowners at
significant department events.
We continued to support and partner with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and formed
formal partnerships with many community groups, NRM groups and individuals.

Opportunities — our department will continue to
provide opportunities to Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people to retain the tradition for caring for
agricultural and pastoral land

We continued our commitment to cadetships for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. We
previously recruited cadets in the veterinary, agriculture science and natural resource disciplines. We now
also employ cadets in business management, communications and economics to increase the potential
application pool.
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Government policy requirements
Occupational safety, health and injury management
Performance
Table 26 Occupational safety, health and injury management performance
Performance measure
Number of fatalities
Lost time injury/disease incidence rate
Lost time injury severity rate
Percentage of injured workers returned to
work within 26 weeks
Percentage of injured workers returned to
work within 13 weeks
Percentage of managers trained in OSH and
injury management

2010/11
0
0.82

2011/12
0
1.43

2012/13
0
1.38

10
94

6.6
88

0
100

94

82

100

95*

94

97

2013/14 Government target
0
0 or 10% improvement on the
previous three years
As above
Greater than or equal to 80%
return to work within 26 weeks
Actual percentage

Target achieved
Yes
No

80% or greater

2013/14 Result
0
1.07

Yes
Yes

0
100%

Yes

78%

Yes

98%

* Figures relate to all permanent staff

Key achievements and initiatives in
2013/14

•

The work of our OSH Unit included:

implementing further changes to aerial
work processes arising from coronial
recommendations

•

commencing a review of the use of
a new communication safety device,
which enables two-way communication
or tracking in remote locations

•

continuing a program to upgrade silos
to current safety standards for height
access

•

continuing a review of guarding on
threshing machines

•

providing a skin cancer screening
program that was used by more than
500 staff

•

completing injury rate benchmarking

•

implementing audiometric test data
analysis to assist in determining early
signs of hearing loss
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•

introducing risk rating in incident,
hazard and inspection reporting
systems.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Our commitment to OSH and injury
management

Consultation on OSH and injury
management

Our department has a general Occupational
Safety and Health (OSH) Policy, 29
other policies covering OSH systems
and hazards, and one policy on injury
management and workers’ compensation.
Most of these policies have been in
place for more than a decade and are
reviewed at least every three years. Any
initiatives required for new or reviewed
policies are determined by the OSH Policy
Committee and are included in our annual
OSH initiative strategy. OSH and injury
management targets are also included in
the strategy.

Our department has a two-tier system of
consultation. Our OSH Policy Committee
is responsible for policy, strategy and
monitoring performance. This committee
comprises managers and regional OSH
representatives. Local committees in larger
regional offices and staff meetings in smaller
offices form the second tier of consultation.
Quarterly committee and staff meetings
consider incident, hazard and inspection
reports and actions raised by the OSH Policy
Committee.

Changes to policy are communicated
to all OSH committee chairs, OSH
representatives and relevant managers
immediately after each policy committee
meeting. All policies are available on our
intranet site and all new staff members
are made aware of the location of policies
and other OSH information through the
induction process.

WorkSafe Commissioner Lex McCulloch
(right) presents Deputy Director General
Greg Paust with a WorkSafe gold certificate
of achievement

Executive commitment is demonstrated by:
•

having defined Executive Director OSH
roles and responsibilities

•

monitoring of quarterly and annual OSH
performance reports

•

prioritisation of funding for facilities,
machinery and equipment

•

support of, and participation in,
mandatory OSH training

•

support of annual OSH initiatives.
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There are elected OSH representatives in
each regional office. Staff members are
made aware of their local and regional OSH
representatives through local OSH induction
and OSH training courses.

Compliance with injury management
requirements of the Workers’
Compensation and Injury
Management Act 1981
Our department’s injury management
system and return-to-work program are
documented in our injury management policy
and supporting guidelines. We have an early
intervention injury management program,
which exceeds the requirements of the Act.

Department of Agriculture and Food | Annual report 2014

Disclosures and legal compliance

OSH and injury management systems
An accredited consultant carried out a
WorkSafe Plan assessment of our OSH
systems in February 2013 and provided
a rating of 77%. Our department was
subsequently awarded a WorkSafe
Plan Gold certificate by the WorkSafe
Commissioner in March 2014. The
implementation status of three WorkSafe
Plan recommendations is as shown below:
•

•

Review all activities with potential
fatality consequences using the
risk matrix and associated policies,
procedures and training requirements
to ensure appropriate controls are
in place. Four high fatality risk areas
have been identified. The review of
the first area — aerial work — has
commenced.
Review the risk assessment process
through the application of the hazard
and incident report forms and
inspection checklists and include the
use of the risk matrix to determine the
level of risk and the effectiveness of
any identified controls. A risk rating
system has been introduced and
promoted across our department.
The action on this recommendation is
completed.

•

Review all site asbestos registers to
comply with legislative and internal
policy requirements. The reviews
have been completed. On review by
WorkSafe no issues were found. The
action for this recommendation is
completed.

•

serving members of the agriculture
community regardless of age, race,
culture, disability or gender

•

seeking to meet the diverse needs of
our clients by continuous review and
development of service design and
delivery

OSH training

•

OSH awareness training is mandatory for
staff. Ninety-eight per cent of staff had
completed the training at 30 June 2014.

ensuring substantive equality principles
are incorporated into all plans,
procedures and practices

•

ensuring staff have the knowledge,
skills and abilities to support the policy

•

ensuring client services are developed
and delivered appropriately and
equitably.

We continue to provide two levels of driver
training and a range of skills-based training
related to the use of machinery, chemicals
and other processes.

Substantive equality
Substantive equality means providing
services in ways that consider people with
differing needs and that create equitable
outcomes for all Western Australians as far
as possible.
We are committed to substantive equality,
requiring all our programs to comply with
the provision of the Equal Opportunity Act
1984. We seek to ensure that our services
are designed and delivered in ways that
meet the needs of all our clients by applying
the following principles:
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Key achievements for 2013/14
The principles of substantive equality are
reflected in our Strategic plan 2014–17
within our commitment to providing our
services in ways that are accessible to all
Western Australians. The Executive Director
of Regional Operations and Development
has lead responsibility for substantive
equality at DAFWA and continues to
work closely with the Equal Opportunity
Commission.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Our commitment to implementing the
policy framework for substantive equality in
2013/14 is shown through:
•

•

•

•

a three-year project (commenced
in July 2013) to assist Vietnamesespeaking strawberry growers to
improve irrigation and nutrient
management through the translation
of information into Vietnamese
and the design of a best practice
demonstration site
the provision of a translator and
translated materials for Vietnamesespeaking horticulturalists attending
DAFWA’s Plan, Prepare and Prosper
workshops in Carnarvon
the preparation of a Needs and Impact
Assessment for Aboriginal landholders
in the Rangelands region

•

•

the inclusion of substantive equality
principles in DAFWA’s project
management training to ensure that the
needs of all stakeholders and clients
are considered throughout the project
life cycle
a coordinated approach to training staff
to ensure they are equipped with the
skills and knowledge to understand and
meet the needs of clients, including:
– mandatory training for all new
employees in EEO and Cultural
Awareness which include
components on substantive equality
– advanced training in Indigenous
Australian Cultural Awareness for
staff in the Rangelands region that
are in direct contact with Indigenous
clients.

Board and committee
remuneration
Our department supports six government
boards or committees. These provide
essential services and advice in regard
to the ethical use of animals in science,
biosecurity policy and the management of
Industry Funding Schemes (IFS).
All of these bodies are remunerated on a
per-meeting basis, with differing rates being
applied to full and half-day meetings.
Table 27 does not list ex-officio members
that are DAFWA employees. One of the
committees (IFS Appointments Committee)
had no business and did not meet during
2013/14.
Total remuneration across all boards for
2013/14 was $139 264.

the Indigenous Landholder Service
continuing to engage and deliver
services to Indigenous clients to build
landholder capacity for the sustainable
management of their properties
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Table 27 Board and committee remuneration
Position

Member

Appointment
From
To

Animal Ethics Committee
Member
H Rebhan
3/2013
Member
E Ball
12/2013
Member
S Vanstan
1/2012
Member
S Leitch
7/2013
Member
G O’Hara
11/2010
Member
A Coopes
12/2013
Biosecurity Council of Western Australia
Chair
A Robson
3/2012
Member
D Jarvie
3/2012
Member
K Goss
3/2012
Member
M Allen
3/2008
Member
T Thorne
1/2014
Member
S McKirdy
1/2014
Member
B Large
3/2012
Member
C Van Der Merwe
3/2008
Member
D Anderson
3/2008
Cattle IFS* Management Committee
Chair
D Jarvie
6/2010
Member
C Forsyth
5/2012
Member
J Fry
7/2013
Member
W Brockhurst
7/2013
Member
G Giumelli
6/2010
Member
G Nixon
7/2013
Member
T Hiscock
7/2013

3/2017
12/2015
4/2016
7/2017
11/2014
11/2015
2/2015
2/2015
2/2015
12/2016
12/2016
12/2016
2/2015
12/2013
12/2013
6/2016
4/2015
6/2016
6/2016
6/2016
6/2016
6/2016
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Appointment
From
To
Grains, Seed and Hay IFS Management Committee
Chair
B Large
6/2010
6/2016
Member
S Woods
7/2013
6/2016
Member
B Young
6/2010
6/2015
Member
D Leake
6/2010
6/2015
Member
R Creagh
7/2013
6/2016
Member
T Cattle
6/2010
6/2015
Member
A Gillam
6/2010
6/2015
Sheep and Goat IFS Management Committee
Chair
J Murray
6/2010
6/2016
Member
W Gray
7/2013
6/2016
Member
J Jensen
7/2013
6/2016
Member
S Meerwald
7/2013
6/2016
Member
E Gogister
7/2013
6/2016
Member
J Moyes
7/2013
6/2016
Member
D Slade
6/2010
6/2016

Paid in
2013/14
$12 285
$2 520
$2 520
$2 520
$2 170
$1 103
$1 453
$104 579
$27 300
$13 700
$13 700
$13 700
$5 725
$5 725
$13 700
$7 248
$3 781
$9 000
$1 960
$1 280
$1 280
$1 280
$1 280
$960
$960

Position

Member

*IFS = Industry Funding Scheme
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Paid in
2013/14
$8 260
$1 960
$1 280
$1 280
$1 180
$1 280
$640
$640
$5 140
$980
$320
$640
$640
$960
$960
$640

Appendix A
Appendix A: Statement from the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation

Statement from the Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation
A report on the Commissioner’s operations
for 2013/14 is submitted in accordance
with Section 25 F of the Soil and Land
Conservation Act 1945.

Delegations
The delegation of powers by the
Commissioner under Part II of the Act
remain in effect with a Regional Manager in
the Department of Water (DoW) to negotiate
and administer covenants under Part IV A.
An officer of DAFWA was delegated duty
under section 38 (2). The Commissioner
continues to have delegated authority from
the Minister for the Environment to issue
woodchip permits.

Land clearing assessments
Seventy-one clearing area and purpose
permit applications were assessed for land
degradation, with advice provided to the
Department of Environment Regulation
(DER) for agriculture purpose clearing
or other agencies for infrastructure
development.

Compliance

Soil conservation notices

The Commissioner registered 30 complaints
during the year comprising nine soil erosion,
four flooding, four clearing, four drainage,
four breaches of covenants (clearing), four
breaches of soil conservation notices (SCN)
and one of eutrophication. Three breaches
of SCN and two for covenants remain
under investigation and five complaints are
pending further investigation or monitoring
of compliance with directions given.

Two soil conservation notices were issued
during the year and three breaches
of soil conservation notices are under
investigation. One notice was the subject
of an appeal to the State Administrative
Tribunal that was subsequently dismissed.
The same notice is now a subject of review
by the Commissioner’s office.

Woodchip permits
No woodchip permits were issued.

Agreements to reserve and
conservation covenants

Land drainage
During 2013/14 only two landholders
submitted Notices of Intention to Drain
(NOI) and one landowner requested a
reassessment of an earlier NOI. Two letters
advising no objection to proposed works
were issued and one NOI remains pending.

The Commissioner registered four
irrevocable conservation covenants
protecting 74.2ha in perpetuity during the
year. A further 13 covenants protecting
about 508ha have been negotiated and
are pending finalisation. In total, 1801
instruments under the Soil and Land
Conservation Act 1945 are registered on
certificates of title protecting 152 658ha of
native and planted vegetation.
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Land conservation district
committees (LCDCs)
At the beginning of the financial year,
98 Land Conservation Districts (LCDs)
remained proclaimed under the Soil and
Land Conservation Act 1945. However,
by the year’s close 70 did not have a
committee appointed and gazetted. Of
these, 36 committees were pending
reappointment and 34 were in recess
and are in the process of being formally
wound up and abolished. All work in that
area ceased on 20 December 2013 when
the project officer’s position was made
redundant.

Condition of the resource base
During the year a Report card on
sustainable natural resource use in
agriculture was released and widely
publicised. The key findings are
summarised below.

Agricultural region
Agricultural activities are largely confined
to the South West Land Division in WA and
productivity is dependent upon the condition
of the soil resource. These soils are
susceptible to salinisation, acidification, soil
erosion water repellence and compaction.
Inland waterways and wetlands in much
of the wheatbelt are also susceptible to
acid groundwater discharge. Agriculture
affects wetlands, waterways and estuaries
by contributing to salinity, nutrient export
and sedimentation. The combination of soil
constraints, climate variability and increasing
production costs is having a significant
impact in the marginal districts.

Salinity
Dryland salinity was assessed as a
moderate risk and affects both private
and public land, water resources and
biodiversity; and damages infrastructure.
More than one million hectares are severely
salt affected in the South West Agricultural
Region and further deterioration is expected.
The economic impact was estimated to be
$344 million per annum. Although the extent
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of salinity has not been mapped since
the late 1990s, most saline groundwater
tables continue to rise in areas cleared and
developed for agriculture after 1960.

Soil erosion
Pre-harvest and pre-seeding roadside
surveys of more than 4000 sites assessed
factors that contribute to wind erosion risk
(soil type, ground cover and disturbance/
management). The risk is currently
assessed to be low and variable. However,
during the period 2009–12, more than half
of the agricultural land surveyed had an
unacceptable wind erosion hazard rating.
The Central Agricultural Region had a very
high hazard rating in each of the four years
surveyed due to stubble burning and tillage.
Although the extent of water erosion is not
known, it was assessed to be a low and
stable due to declining rainfall, widespread
adoption of reduced cultivation for cropping
and associated increased stubble retention.
Although not quantified, the risk of wind
erosion on sand plain soils is exacerbated
by the increasingly reported use of
mouldboard ploughs to manage water
repellent soils and herbicide resistant
weeds.

Appendix A

Soil acidity

Pastoral region

Soil acidity is a serious large-scale and
long-term land degradation threat to
the state’s crop and pasture production.
With the exception of the Mid West and
Esperance, most agricultural land is in
either poor or very poor condition. The
application of agricultural lime again
increased during the year to 1.6 million
tonnes. This is about 60% of the estimated
2.5 million tonnes required to be applied
annually over the next 10 years to raise soil
pH to desirable levels.

WA’s rangelands cover 87% of the
state, with pastoral leases covering 35%
(874 000km2) and Unallocated Crown
Lands (UCL) vested for conservation
and Indigenous purposes making up the
balance. There are currently 453 registered
pastoral stations on 508 pastoral leases.
The northern rangelands support 152
stations with 93 in the Kimberley and 59 in
the Pilbara, while 292 stations are located in
the southern rangelands. Nine stations are
located in the South West Land Division.

Rivers and wetlands

Rangeland resource condition

Diffuse nutrient pollution from agriculture is
a serious land degradation problem on the
Swan Coastal Plain and the Lake Warden
Catchment in Esperance. The resultant
algal blooms and eutrophic conditions in
waterways and wetlands have significant
impacts on the environment and local
communities. Farm soil test data indicate
that the majority of soil samples have
phosphorus levels in excess of production
requirements and will continue to be
problematic in the coming decades without
significant intervention.

The rangeland condition assessment in
the Kimberley and much of the Pilbara
is based on the frequency of perennial
grasses. The density of perennial shrubs is
used to determine condition in the southern
rangelands. The Western Australian
Rangeland Monitoring System (WARMS)
was established between 1993 and 1999
to monitor rangeland condition trend at a
regional scale.
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There are 1622 sites, with 633 grassland
sites and 989 shrubland sites. Grassland
sites are reassessed on a three-year cycle
while shrubland sites are reassessed on
a five-year cycle. The effect of rainfall and
seasonal conditions is considered for each
site and assessment period.
In 2013 a total of 441 WARMS sites were
assessed on 116 pastoral leases in the
Kimberley, Pilbara and southern shrublands.
Last year, all WARMS sites in the Kimberley
Region received average or above average
seasonal conditions. This continues a run
of 19 years of average or above average
rainfall.
For the third successive season, 97% of
Pilbara WARMS sites experienced average
or above average seasonal conditions
following the drought years leading up to
2010. The long-term average summer rainfall
received in the Pilbara is about one-third of
that received in the Kimberley.
Rainfall in the arid southern shrublands is
highly variable. In 2013 winter rainfall that
promotes establishment and growth of
shrubs was better than 2012 with 64% of
WARMS sites receiving average or above
average seasonal quality (compared with
23% in 2012).
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In the Gascoyne–Wooramel, Mt Magnet,
Shark Bay, Yalgoo and Yilgarn districts,
between 75 and 100% of WARMS sites
received below average winter rainfall in
2013.
Table A1 Seasonal quality by region for
WARMS sites in 2013/14

Region
Kimberley
Pilbara
Southern

Above
average
(%)
67
52
39

Average
(%)
33
45
25

Below
average
(%)
0
3
36

WARMS site and reported stock
data
Grass frequency remains high on Kimberley
WARMS sites. With the exception of
the North Kimberley, the frequency of
all perennial grasses (desirable and
undesirable) has increased since 2003.
Although desirable perennial grass data is
incomplete, positive trends were observed
in the Broome and Halls Creek East
Kimberley LCDs.
In line with the favourable seasonal
conditions, 2013 reported stock numbers
were again above assessed Present
Carrying Capacity on 87% of leases in
the Derby West Kimberley, 53% of Halls

Creek East Kimberley, 42% in the North
Kimberley and 33% of Broome leases.
Stock levels ranged from 170% of
Present Carrying Capacity in Derby West
Kimberley, 108% in Halls Creek East
Kimberley, 93% in Broome and 91% in the
North Kimberley LCDs.
The situation is variable in the five Pilbara
LCDs. While Roebourne LCD improved in
the current assessment cycle with 6.1%
increase in desirable grass frequency
on WARMS sites, the Ashburton and
De Grey LCDs declined 8.6% and 6.5%
respectively. The desirable grass frequency
in these two districts has continued to
decline since 2000 despite the generally
favourable seasonal conditions in recent
years. Lyndon and East Pilbara were
not assessed in the current year. While
grassland sites in Lyndon have shown
positive trends since 2004, the East Pilbara
has continually declined since 2000.
Although reported stock numbers were
stable in East Pilbara and increased
in the other four LCDs, the majority of
leases reported numbers in excess of the
estimated Present Carry Capacity (De Grey
LCD 86%, Roebourne 71%, East Pilbara
64%, Lyndon 52% and Ashburton 50%).
The continuing decline in desirable grass
species observed on Pilbara WARMS sites
indicates that the current levels of stocking
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is impacting on the productive perennial
grass species. While the current data raises
concerns about the risk of land degradation
occurring, a more definitive statement
cannot be made as lease-level range
condition data is no longer collected.
In the southern rangelands there has been
an overall decline in desirable shrub species
of 17% between assessment cycles. The
loss of shrubs species was greatest (25%)
in those districts receiving below average
seasonal quality, compared with 14% and
11% losses observed on WARMS sites
in districts receiving average and above
average seasonal conditions. The ongoing
negative trends indicate a steady decline in
the carrying capacity of these rangelands.
The year 2013 stocking levels in the
shrublands are quite variable, and when
aggregated at a district level, most are
reporting stock numbers well below the
calculated Present Carrying Capacity.
However, 33% of the 241 leases reporting
stock numbers were above the calculated
Present Carrying Capacity with 89% of
leases in the Upper Gascoyne and 62% in
the Gascoyne Ashburton Headwaters LCDs
above the Present Carrying Capacity.
The districts most at risk of land
degradation and loss of carrying capacity
are Gascoyne Ashburton Headwaters,
Upper Gascoyne, Lyndon, Wiluna and
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Gascoyne–Wooramel (note Lyndon has
both grass and shrubland WARMS sites).

Conclusions
As reported in previous years, monitoring
data point to a number of critical areas
where land degradation is undermining the
sustainability of our agricultural industries:
•

Salinity continues to expand in the
South West Agricultural Region, with
more than one million hectares of
farmland severely salt affected.

•

In 2013 the risk of accelerated soil
erosion through loss of groundcover
and tillage was assessed to be low and
variable. The risk was extreme where
tillage such as mouldboard ploughing
was carried out on sandplain soils to
manage water repellence and herbicide
resistant weeds.

•

With the exception of the Midwest and
Esperance, most agricultural land was
assessed to be in poor or very poor
condition for subsoil acidity. Therefore,
long-term security of access to coastal
lime resources remains a high priority
for agriculture.

•

On-farm nutrient mapping on the
Coastal Plain and South West
indicates that inappropriate fertiliser
management continues to limit

production and cause significant offsite
land degradation.
•

In the Pilbara and southern
rangelands districts, the declining
frequency of desirable perennial
species occurring on WARMS sites
reported in previous years suggests
ongoing declining resource condition.

Andrew Watson
Commissioner of Soil and Land
Conservation
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Copies of this document are available in alternative formats
upon request.
If you have a hearing or speech impairment, you can contact
the department through the National Relay Service:
TTY or computer with modem users, phone 133 677
Speak and listen users,
phone 1300 555 727
SMS relay, phone 0423 677 767
If you require the assistance of an interpreter, please contact
the department through TIS National on 131 450.

Compliments/complaints
We would like to receive any feedback you have on this report.
Compliments or complaints can be provided by completing
the feedback form on our website or by emailing us at
enquiries@agric.wa.gov.au.

